# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

### FORM 8-K

# CURRENT REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): February 2, 2017

### **VEECO INSTRUMENTS INC.**

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware

X

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation)

0-16244

(Commission File Number) 11-2989601 (IRS Employer Identification No.)

Terminal Drive, Plainview, New York 11803

(Address of principal executive offices)

(516) 677-0200

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

### Not applicable

(Former name or former address, if changed since last report)

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions (see General Instruction A.2. below):

Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)
Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))
Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))

Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230,425)

### Item 1.01 Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

### Merger Agreement

On February 2, 2017, Veeco Instruments Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), Ultratech, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Ultratech") and Ulysses Acquisition Subsidiary Corp., a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company ("Merger Subsidiary"), entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement"), pursuant to which, among other things, Merger Subsidiary will be merged with and into Ultratech (the "Merger"), with Ultratech surviving the Merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. At the time the Merger becomes effective (the "Effective Time"), each outstanding share of common stock, par value \$0.001 per share, of Ultratech ("Ultratech Stock") (other than shares of Ultratech Stock owned by the Company or Merger Subsidiary and shares of treasury stock held by Ultratech, which will be cancelled without consideration, and holders of Ultratech Stock, if any, who properly exercise their appraisal rights under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware) outstanding immediately prior to the Merger will be automatically cancelled and converted into the right to receive an amount equal to (a) \$21.75 in cash, without interest (the "Cash Consideration") and (b) 0.2675 of a share of the common stock of the Company ("Company Common Stock"), par value \$0.01 per share (the "Stock Consideration" and, together with the Cash Consideration, the "Merger Consideration").

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, as of the Effective Time, (a) each outstanding option to purchase shares of Ultratech Stock will fully vest and be canceled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash equal to the product of (i) the number of shares of Ultratech Stock subject to the option immediately prior to the Effective Time and (ii) the excess, if any, of the value of the Merger Consideration (expressed as a dollar amount) over the exercise price per share of the option (with any stock option with an exercise price per share that is greater than or equal to the value of the Merger Consideration being cancelled without payment); (b) each award of restricted stock units with respect to shares of Ultratech Stock ("RSUs") that is outstanding and vested immediately prior to the Effective Time (including those RSUs that become vested by their terms immediately prior to or as of the Effective Time) will be canceled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash equal to (i) the number of vested RSUs subject to the award multiplied by (ii) the dollar value of the Merger Consideration; and (c) each award of RSUs that is outstanding and unvested at the Effective Time will be assumed by the Company and converted into a number of restricted stock units with respect to the Company's common stock determined by multiplying the number of unvested RSUs by the ratio of the dollar value of the Merger Consideration per share of Ultratech Stock to the volume weighted average trading price of the Company's common stock over the period of five trading days ending on the day before the closing of the Merger.

The closing of the Merger is subject to the adoption of the Merger Agreement by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of Ultratech Stock (the "Ultratech Stockholder Approval"). The closing of the Merger is also subject to various customary conditions, including the expiration or termination of the applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended; the absence of any temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction or other judgment issued by any court of competent jurisdiction enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the consummation of the Merger; the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") having declared effective a Form S-4 with respect to, and the authorization on the Nasdaq Global Select Market of, the shares of Company Common Stock issuable in connection with the Merger; the accuracy of the representations and warranties contained in the Merger Agreement; compliance with the covenants and agreements in the Merger Agreement in all material respects; and no material adverse effect on either Ultratech or the Company. The closing of the Merger is not subject to a financing condition.

Ultratech has made customary representations and warranties in the Merger Agreement, including a representation regarding Ultratech's available cash, including, among others, covenants (a) to conduct its business in the ordinary course during the period between the execution of the Merger Agreement and the closing of the Merger, (b) not to engage in specified types of transactions during this period unless agreed to in writing by the Company, (c) to convene and hold a meeting of its stockholders for the purpose of obtaining Ultratech Stockholder Approval and (d) subject to certain exceptions, not to withdraw, withhold, modify or qualify in a manner adverse to the Company the recommendation of the board of directors of Ultratech (the "Board") that Ultratech's stockholders adopt the Merger

### Agreement.

The Merger Agreement contains certain termination rights, including the right of Ultratech to terminate the Merger Agreement under specified circumstances to accept an unsolicited superior proposal from a third party. The Merger Agreement provides that, upon termination of the Merger Agreement by Ultratech or the Company under specified circumstances (including termination by Ultratech to accept a superior proposal), a termination fee of \$26,500,000 will be payable by Ultratech to the Company. Ultratech termination fee is also payable under certain other specified circumstances set forth in the Merger Agreement. The Merger Agreement also provides that each party to the Merger Agreement may compel the other party or parties thereto to specifically perform its or their obligations under the Merger Agreement. Subject to certain exceptions and limitations, either party may terminate the Merger Agreement if the Merger is not consummated by October 30, 2017.

### Support Agreement

In connection with the Merger Agreement, certain stockholders of Ultratech (including certain members of Ultratech's management and all members of Board) who are beneficial owners of approximately 3.7% of the outstanding shares of Ultratech Stock entered into a Support Agreement, dated February 2, 2017, with the Company whereby such stockholders agreed, among other things, to vote the shares of Ultratech Stock owned and/or controlled by such stockholder in favor of approval of the Merger, adoption of the Merger Agreement and the consummation of the Merger, as well as such other matters set forth in the Support Agreements. Each Support Agreement also contains a "lock-up" provision that, subject to limited exceptions, prevents the stockholders party thereto from transferring their shares of Ultratech Stock. Each Support Agreement terminates upon the earliest of (i) the Effective Time, (ii) the termination of the Merger Agreement and (iii) the date on which the Board changes its recommendation that Ultratech's stockholders adopt the Merger Agreement

The foregoing description of the Merger Agreement and the Support Agreement do not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Merger Agreement and the form of Support Agreement, which are filed as Exhibits 2.1 and 10.1, respectively, to this Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference.

The Merger Agreement is attached as an exhibit to this Current Report on Form 8-K to provide investors with information regarding its terms. It is not intended to provide any other factual information about Ultratech. The representations, warranties and covenants contained in the Merger Agreement were made only for purposes of the Merger Agreement as of the specific dates therein, were solely for the benefit of the parties to the Merger Agreement, may be subject to limitations agreed upon by the contracting parties, including being qualified by confidential disclosures made for the purposes of allocating contractual risk among the parties to the Merger Agreement instead of establishing these matters as facts, and may be subject to standards of materiality applicable to the contracting parties that differ from those applicable to investors. Investors are not third-party beneficiaries under the Merger Agreement and should not rely on the representations, warranties and covenants or any descriptions thereof as characterizations of the actual state of facts or condition of the parties thereto or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates. Moreover, information concerning the subject matter of representations, warranties and covenants may change after the date of the Merger Agreement, which subsequent information may or may not be fully reflected in Ultratech's public disclosures.

### Item 7.01 Regulation FD Disclosure.

On February 2, 2017, the Company held a previously announced joint conference call (the "Conference Call") with Ultratech to discuss the proposed Merger and related transactions. Attached as Exhibit 99.1 is a transcript of the Conference Call. An archived webcast version of the Conference Call is also being made available on the Company's website at www.veeco.com. The transcript attached hereto as Exhibit 99.1 is incorporated by reference in this Item 7.01.

### Additional Information and Where to Find It

In connection with the proposed acquisition of Ultratech by the Company pursuant to the terms of an Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Ultratech, the Company and Ulysses Acquisition Subsidiary Corp., the Company will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") a Registration Statement on Form S-4 (the "Form S-4") that will contain a proxy statement of Ultratech and a prospectus of the Company, which proxy statement/prospectus will be mailed or otherwise disseminated to Ultratech's stockholders when it becomes available. Investors are urged to read the proxy statement/prospectus (including all amendments and supplements) because they will contain important information. Investors may obtain free copies of the proxy statement/prospectus when it becomes available, as well as other filings containing information about the Company and Ultratech, without charge, at the SEC's Internet site (http://www.sec.gov). Copies of these documents may also be obtained for free from the companies' web sites at www.Veeco.com or www.Ultratech.com.

### **Participants in Solicitation**

The Company, Ultratech and their respective officers and directors may be deemed to be participants in the solicitation of proxies from the stockholders of Ultratech in connection with the proposed transaction. Information about the Company's executive officers and directors is set forth in its Annual Report on Form 10-K, which was filed with the SEC on February 25, 2016 and its proxy statement for its 2016 annual meeting of stockholders, which was filed with the SEC on March 22, 2016. Information about Ultratech's executive officers and directors is set forth in its Annual Report on Form 10-K, which was filed with the SEC on February 26, 2016, Amendment No. 1 to its Annual Report on Form 10-K, which was filed with the SEC on April 22, 2016, and the proxy statements for its 2016 annual meeting of stockholders, which were filed with the SEC on June 10 and June 13, 2016. Investors may obtain more detailed information regarding the direct and indirect interests of the Company, Ultratech and their respective executive officers and directors in the acquisition by reading the preliminary and definitive proxy statement/prospectus regarding the transaction, which will be filed with the SEC.

### **Forward-Looking Statements**

This written communication contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties concerning the Company's proposed acquisition of Ultratech, Ultratech's and the Company's expected financial performance, as well as Ultratech's and the Company's strategic and operational plans. Actual events or results may differ materially from those described in this written communication due to a number of risks and uncertainties. The potential risks and uncertainties include, among others, the possibility that Ultratech may be unable to obtain required stockholder approval or that other conditions to closing the transaction may not be satisfied, such that the transaction will not close or that the closing may be delayed; the reaction of customers to the transaction; general economic conditions; the transaction may involve unexpected costs, liabilities or delays; risks that the transaction disrupts current plans and operations of the parties to the transaction; the ability to recognize the benefits of the transaction; the amount of the costs, fees, expenses and charges related to the transaction and the actual terms of any financings that will be obtained for the transaction; the outcome of any legal proceedings related to the transaction; the occurrence of any event, change or other circumstances that could give rise to the termination of the transaction agreement. In addition, please refer to the documents that the Company and Ultratech file with the SEC on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K. The filings by the Company and Ultratech identify and address other important factors that could cause its financial and operational results to differ materially from those contained in the forward-looking statements set forth in this written communication. All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this written communication nor, in the case of any document incorporated by reference, the date of that document. Neither the Company nor Ultratech is under any duty to update any of the forward-looking statements a

### Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(d)	Exhibits .	
Exhibit		Description
2.1*		Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of February 2, 2017 among Ultratech, Inc., Veeco
		4

Instruments Inc. and Ulysses Acquisition Subsidiary Corp.

10.1 Form of Support Agreement

99.1 Transcript of February 2, 2017 Joint Company/Ultratech Conference Call

The information in this report, including the exhibit, shall not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section, nor shall this information or this exhibit be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except as expressly set forth by specific reference in such a filing.

### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

February 3, 2017

### VEECO INSTRUMENTS INC.

By: /s/ Gregory A. Robbins

Name: Gregory A. Robbins

Title: Senior Vice President and General Counsel

### EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit	Description	
2.1*	Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of February 2, 2017 among Ultratech, Inc., Veeco Instruments Inc. and Ulysses Acquisition Subsidiary Corp.	
10.1	Form of Support Agreement	
99.1	Transcript of February 2, 2017 Joint Company/Ultratech Conference Call	
*	All schedules to the Merger Agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Company hereby agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule to the SEC upon request.	

<sup>\*</sup> All schedules to the Merger Agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Company hereby agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule to the SEC upon request.

**Execution Version** 

### AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

dated as of

February 2, 2017

among

### ULTRATECH, INC.,

### VEECO INSTRUMENTS INC.

and

### ULYSSES ACQUISITION SUBSIDIARY CORP.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

		PAGE
ARTICLE 1 DEFINIT	IONS	1
Section 1.01.	Definitions	1
Section 1.02.	Other Definitional and Interpretative Provisions	10
ARTICLE 2 THE ME	RGER	11
Section 2.01.	The Merger	11
Section 2.02.	Conversion of Shares	12
Section 2.03.	Surrender and Payment	12
Section 2.04.	Appraisal Shares	14
Section 2.05.	Company Equity Awards	15
Section 2.06.	Withholding Rights	16
Section 2.07.	Lost Certificates	16
Section 2.08.	Adjustments	16
Section 2.09.	No Fractional Share	16
ARTICLE 3 ORGANI	ZATIONAL DOCUMENTS OF THE SURVIVING CORPORATION	17
Section 3.01.	Surviving Corporation	17
Section 3.02.	Directors and Officers	17
ARTICLE 4 REPRESI	ENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY	17
Section 4.01.	Corporate Existence and Power	17
Section 4.02.	Corporate Authorization	18
Section 4.03.	Governmental Authorization	18
Section 4.04.	Non-contravention	19
Section 4.05.	Capitalization	19
Section 4.06.	Subsidiaries	20
Section 4.07.	SEC Filings and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act	21
Section 4.08.	Financial Statements	22
Section 4.09.	Disclosure Documents	23
Section 4.10.	Absence of Certain Changes	23
Section 4.11.	No Undisclosed Liabilities	23
Section 4.12.	Compliance with Laws and Court Orders; Permits	24
Section 4.13.	Litigation	24
Section 4.14.	Properties	24
Section 4.15.	Intellectual Property	25
Section 4.16.	Taxes	27
Section 4.17.	Employee Benefit Plans	28
Section 4.18.	Labor and Employment Matters	29
Section 4.19.	Insurance	30
Section 4.20.	Environmental Matters	30
Section 4.21.	Company Material Contracts	31
Section 4.22.	Customers and Suppliers	33
Section 4.23.	Compliance with Anti-Corruption and Export Control Laws	34
Section 4.24.	Finders' Fees	34
Section 4.25.	Opinion of Financial Advisor	35
	i	

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

		<b>PAGE</b>
Section 4.26.	Available Cash	35
Section 4.27.	Antitakeover Statutes	35
Section 4.28.	No Additional Representations	35
ARTICLE 5 REPRESE	ENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUBSIDIARY	35
Section 5.01.	Corporate Existence and Power	36
Section 5.02.	Corporate Authorization	36
Section 5.03.	Governmental Authorization	37
Section 5.04.	Non-contravention	37
Section 5.05.	Capitalization	37
Section 5.06.	Subsidiaries	38
Section 5.07.	SEC Filings and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act	39
Section 5.08.	Financial Statements	39
Section 5.09.	Information Supplied	39
Section 5.10.	Absence of Certain Changes	40
Section 5.11.	No Undisclosed Liabilities	40
Section 5.12.	Litigation	40
Section 5.13.	Compliance with Laws and Court Orders; Permits	41
Section 5.14.	Intellectual Property	41
Section 5.15.	Taxes	42
Section 5.16.	Employee Benefit Plans	42
Section 5.17.	Financing	42
Section 5.18.	Certain Arrangements	42
Section 5.19.	Ownership of Company Securities; DGCL Section 203	43
Section 5.20.	Finders' Fees	43
Section 5.21.	No Additional Representations	43
ARTICLE 6 COVENA	NTS OF THE COMPANY	44
Section 6.01.	Conduct of the Company	44
Section 6.02.	Company Stockholder Meeting	47
Section 6.03.	Company Acquisition Proposals	47
Section 6.04.	Access to Information	51
ARTICLE 7 COVENA	NTS OF PARENT AND MERGER SUBSIDIARY	51
Section 7.01.	Conduct of Parent	51
Section 7.02.	Obligations of Merger Subsidiary	53
Section 7.03.	Parent Owned Shares	53
Section 7.04.	Indemnification and Insurance	53
Section 7.05.	Employee Matters	54
Section 7.06.	No Impeding Actions	56
Section 7.07.	Filing of Form S-8	57
ARTICLE 8 COVENA	NTS OF PARENT, MERGER SUBSIDIARY AND THE COMPANY	57
Section 8.01.	Efforts	57
	ii	

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

		PAGE
Section 8.02.	Form S-4; Proxy Statement/Prospectus	60
Section 8.03.	Public Announcements	61
Section 8.04.	Further Assurances	61
Section 8.05.	Notices of Certain Events	61
Section 8.06.	Section 16 Matters	62
Section 8.07.	Stock Exchange Listing and De-listing; 1934 Act Deregistration	62
Section 8.08.	Transaction Litigation	62
Section 8.09.	No Control of Other Party's Business	63
ARTICLE 9 CONDITI	ONS TO THE MERGER	63
Section 9.01.	Conditions to the Obligations of Each Party	63
Section 9.02.	Conditions to the Obligations of Parent and Merger Subsidiary	63
Section 9.03.	Conditions to the Obligations of the Company	64
Section 9.04.	Frustration of Closing Conditions	65
ARTICLE 10 TERMIN	IATION	65
Section 10.01.	Termination	65
Section 10.02.	Effect of Termination	66
ARTICLE 11 MISCEL	LANEOUS	67
Section 11.01.	Notices	67
Section 11.02.	Non-Survival of Representations and Warranties	68
Section 11.03.	Amendments and Waivers	68
Section 11.04.	Expenses	68
Section 11.05.	Disclosure Letter References	69
Section 11.06.	Binding Effect; Benefit; Assignment	69
Section 11.07.	Governing Law	70
Section 11.08.	Consent to Jurisdiction	70
Section 11.09.	WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL	71
Section 11.10.	Counterparts; Effectiveness	71
Section 11.11.	Entire Agreement; No Other Representations and Warranties	71
Section 11.12.	Severability	72
Section 11.13.	Specific Performance	72
Exhibit A	Form of Support Agreement	
	iii	

### AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this "Agreement") dated as of February 2, 2017 among Ultratech, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), Veeco Instruments Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Parent"), and Ulysses Acquisition Subsidiary Corp., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent ("Merger Subsidiary").

### WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS the parties hereto intend to effect a merger in which Merger Subsidiary will be merged with and into the Company (the "Merger"), in accordance with the applicable provisions of Delaware Law, with the Company surviving the Merger, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein;

WHEREAS, the respective Boards of Directors of the Company and Merger Subsidiary have adopted a resolution approving, and declaring it advisable that the respective stockholders of the Company and Merger Subsidiary approve, this Agreement (including the Merger on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement);

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of Parent has adopted a resolution approving and declaring advisable this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby (including the issuance of the shares of Parent Common Stock in connection with the transactions completed hereby);

WHEREAS, Parent, as the sole stockholder of Merger Subsidiary, has adopted a resolution approving and declaring advisable this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby (including the Merger); and

WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement and as a material inducement to the willingness of Parent to enter into this Agreement, certain stockholders of the Company are entering into a support agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as <a href="Exhibit A">Exhibit A</a> (the "Support Agreement").

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements contained herein, the parties hereto agree as follows:

## ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01. Definitions.

- (a) As used herein, the following terms have the following meanings:
- "1933 Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
- "1934 Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

- "Acquisition Proposal" means, other than the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, any offer or proposal of any Third Party relating to (i) any acquisition or purchase, direct or indirect, of assets (including Company Subsidiary Securities) equal to 20% or more of the consolidated assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries or to which 20% or more of the consolidated revenues or earnings of the Company are attributable or 20% or more of any class of equity or voting securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) any tender offer or exchange offer that, if consummated, would result in such Third Party beneficially owning 20% or more of any class of equity or voting securities of the Company, or (iii) a merger, consolidation, statutory share exchange, business combination, sale of all or substantially all of the assets, liquidation, dissolution or other similar extraordinary transaction involving the Company or any of its Subsidiaries whose assets, individually or in the aggregate, constitute 20% or more of the consolidated assets of the Company or to which 20% or more of the consolidated revenues or earnings of the Company and its Subsidiaries are attributable.
- "Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with such Person. The term "control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise, and the terms "controlled" and "controlling" have meanings correlative thereto.
- "Applicable Law" means, with respect to any Person, any federal, state or local statute, law (including common law), ordinance, code, rule, regulation, order, injunction, judgment, decree, ruling or other similar requirement enacted, adopted, promulgated or applied by a Governmental Authority that is legally binding upon and applicable to such Person.
- "Business" means the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted, including the design, development, manufacturing, reproduction, branding, marketing, advertising, promotion, licensing, sale, offer for sale, importation, distribution and/or provision of any and all Company Products.
- "Business Day" means a day, other than Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in the states of California or New York are authorized or required by Applicable Law to close.
  - "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
- "Company Balance Sheet" means the consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2015 and the notes thereto set forth in the Company's Form 10-K filed with the SEC for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015.
  - "Company Balance Sheet Date" means December 31, 2015.
- "Company Disclosure Letter" means the disclosure letter dated the date hereof regarding this Agreement that has been provided by the Company to Parent and Merger Subsidiary.

- "Company Material Adverse Effect" means any fact, change, circumstance, event, occurrence, condition, development or combination of the foregoing which has a materially adverse effect on the financial condition, business, assets or results of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, excluding any fact, change, circumstance, event, occurrence, condition, development or combination of the foregoing resulting from (A) changes after the date of this Agreement in the financial, securities, credit or other capital markets or general economic or regulatory, legislative or political conditions, (B) changes after the date of this Agreement generally affecting the industry in which the Company and its Subsidiaries operate or to the industries to which the Company and its Subsidiaries sell their products, solutions and services, including changes in interest and exchange rates, in the United States or any other jurisdiction in which the Company or its Subsidiaries operate, (C) changes after the date of this Agreement as to geopolitical conditions, any outbreak or escalation of hostilities, acts of war (whether or not declared), acts of armed hostility, sabotage, terrorism or national or international calamity, (D) any hurricane, tornado, tsunami, flood, volcanic eruption, earthquake, nuclear incident, pandemic, quarantine restrictions, weather conditions or other natural or man-made disaster or other force majeure event, (E) changes in Applicable Law or GAAP, (F) the failure, in and of itself, of the Company to meet any internal or published projections, forecasts, guidance, estimates or predictions in respect of revenues, earnings or other financial or operating metrics or other matters before, on or after the date hereof, or changes or prospective changes in the market price or trading volume of the securities of the Company or the credit rating of Company (it being understood that the underlying facts giving rise or contributing to such failure or change may be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Company Material Adverse Effect if such facts are not otherwise excluded under this definition), (G) the negotiation, announcement, pendency or consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the initiation of litigation by any Person with respect to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, and including any negative impact on relationships with customers due to the announcement, pendency or consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the identity of Parent as the acquirer of the Company, and (H) any action taken or not taken by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries at the written request, or with the written consent, of Parent or Merger Subsidiary; except, in the case of clauses (A) through (E), to the extent having a disproportionate effect on the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to other participants in the industry in which the Company and its Subsidiaries operate (in which case the incremental materially disproportionate impact or impacts may be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Company Material Adverse Effect).
- "Company Owned IP" means any and all Intellectual Property that is owned by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (including any and all Company Registered IP).
- "Company Products" means all products or services produced, marketed, licensed, sold, distributed, performed or otherwise made available to third parties by or on behalf of the Company or any Subsidiary.
- "Company Registered IP" means all of the Registered IP owned by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, excluding any Registered IP that is abandoned, refused, cancelled, expired or withdrawn.

- "Company Stock" means the shares of common stock, par value \$0.001 per share, of the Company.
- "Company Stock Plans" means each plan or non-plan award agreement pursuant to which stock options or other equity awards have been granted to employees or other service providers of the Company or its Subsidiaries.
  - "Confidentiality Agreement" means the letter agreement between Parent and the Company dated October 9, 2016.
- "Contract" means any legally binding contract, agreement, note, bond, indenture, lease, license, or other written agreement that is in force and effect as of the date of this Agreement.
  - " Delaware Law" means the DGCL.
  - " **DGCL**" means the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.
- "Environmental Laws" means any Applicable Laws relating to the protection of the environment or, solely as it relates to exposure to hazardous or toxic substances, human health.
- "Environmental Permits" means all Permits required by Environmental Laws for the operation of the business of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as currently conducted.
- "Equity Award Merger Consideration" means the sum of (a) the Cash Consideration, plus (b) the product of (i) the Stock Consideration multiplied by (ii) the Parent Measurement Price.
- "Equity Conversion Ratio" means the quotient obtained by dividing: (i) the sum of (a) the Stock Consideration multiplied by the Parent Measurement Price, plus (b) the Cash Consideration; by (ii) the Parent Measurement Price.
  - "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.
- "ERISA Affiliate" of any entity means any other entity that, together with such entity, would be treated as a "single employer" within the meaning of Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code.
  - "GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.
- "Governmental Authority" means any transnational, domestic or foreign, federal, state or local governmental, regulatory or administrative authority, department, court, agency or official, including any political subdivision thereof.
  - "HSR Act" means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976.
- "Hazardous Substance" means any toxic, radioactive or otherwise hazardous substance, waste or material that in relevant form and concentration is regulated under any Environmental Law.

- "Intellectual Property" means any or all of the following and all rights in: (i) all United States, international and foreign patents and applications therefor and all reissues, divisions, divisionals, renewals, extensions, provisionals, continuations and continuations-in-part thereof; (ii) all inventions (whether or not patentable), trade secrets, know how, databases, business methods, technical data and customer lists and other proprietary information; (iii) all copyrights and copyright registrations, including in software, throughout the world, mask works and mask work registrations; (iv) all industrial designs and any registrations and applications therefor throughout the world; and (v) all trade names, logos, common law trademarks and service marks, domain names, URLs, and trademark and service mark registrations and applications therefor throughout the world.
- "International Plan" means any Company Employee Plan that is maintained by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries primarily for the benefit of current or former employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries residing outside of the United States.
- "knowledge" of any Person that is not an individual means the actual knowledge of such Person's executive officers; provided, however, that "knowledge" of the Company means the actual knowledge of the individuals listed in Section 1.01(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter after reasonable inquiry of such individual's direct reports.
- "Lien" means, with respect to any property or asset, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, security interest, encumbrance or other adverse claim of any kind in respect of such property or asset, other than a Permitted Lien.
- "Nasdaq" means the Nasdaq Global Select Market, but if the Nasdaq Global Select Market is not then the principal U.S. trading market for the Company Stock or Parent Common Stock, as applicable, then "Nasdaq" shall be deemed to mean the principal U.S. national securities exchange registered under the 1934 Act on which the Company Stock or Parent Common Stock, as applicable, is then traded.
  - "OFAC" means the U.S. Department of Treasury, Office of Foreign Assets Control.
- "Open Source Materials" means any software or other material that is distributed as "open source software" or under similar licensing or distribution terms (including but not limited to the GNU General Public License (GPL), GNU Lesser General Public License (LGPL), Mozilla Public License (MPL), BSD licenses, the Artistic License, the Netscape Public License, the Sun Community Source License (SCSL), the Sun Industry Standards License (SISL), the Apache License and any license identified as an open source license by the Open Source Initiative (http://www.opensource.org)).
  - "Orders" means any judgment, order or decree of a Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction.
  - "Parent Common Stock" means the common stock of Parent, par value \$0.01 per share.
- "Parent Disclosure Letter" means the disclosure letter dated the date hereof regarding this Agreement that has been provided by Parent and Merger Subsidiary to the Company.

"Parent Material Adverse Effect" (i) any fact, change, circumstance, event, occurrence, condition, development or combination of the foregoing which has a materially adverse effect on the financial condition, business, assets or results of operations of Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, excluding any fact, change, circumstance, event, occurrence, condition, development or combination of the foregoing resulting from (A) changes after the date of this Agreement in the financial, securities, credit or other capital markets or general economic or regulatory, legislative or political conditions, (B) changes after the date of this Agreement generally affecting the industry in which Parent and its Subsidiaries operate or to the industries to which Parent and its Subsidiaries sell their products, solutions and services, including changes in interest and exchange rates, in the United States or any other jurisdiction in which the Company or its Subsidiaries operate, (C) changes after the date of this Agreement as to geopolitical conditions, any outbreak or escalation of hostilities, acts of war (whether or not declared), acts of armed hostility, sabotage, terrorism or national or international calamity, (D) any hurricane, tornado, tsunami, flood, volcanic eruption, earthquake, nuclear incident, pandemic, quarantine restrictions, weather conditions or other natural or man-made disaster or other force majeure event, (E) changes in Applicable Law or GAAP, (F) the failure of Parent or its Subsidiaries to meet any internal or published projections, forecasts, guidance, estimates or predictions in respect of revenues, earnings or other financial or operating metrics or other matters before, on or after the date hereof, or changes or prospective changes in the market price or trading volume of the securities of Parent or the credit rating of Parent (it being understood that the underlying facts giving rise or contributing to such failure or change may be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Company Material Adverse Effect if such facts are not otherwise excluded under this definition), (G) the negotiation, announcement, pendency or consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the initiation of litigation by any Person with respect to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, and including any negative impact on relationships with customers due to the announcement, pendency or consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the identity of the Company as the target of Parent, and (H) any action taken by the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries at the written request, or with the written consent, of the Company; except, in the case of clauses (A) through (E), to the extent having a disproportionate effect on Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, relative to other participants in the industry in which Parent and its Subsidiaries operate (in which case the incremental materially disproportionate impact or impacts may be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Company Material Adverse Effect) or (ii) any change, effect, event or occurrence that prevents or materially impedes, materially interferes with, materially hinders or materially delays or would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially impede, materially interfere with, materially hinder or materially delay (A) the consummation by Parent or Merger Subsidiary of the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement or (B) the material compliance by Parent or Merger Subsidiary with its obligations under this Agreement.

"Parent Measurement Price" means the volume weighted average trading price of Parent Common Stock on the Parent Stock Exchange for the five (5) consecutive trading days ending on the trading day immediately preceding the Closing Date.

"Parent Owned IP" means any and all Intellectual Property that is owned by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (including any and all Parent Registered IP).

- "Parent Registered IP" means all of the Registered IP owned by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries.
- "Parent Stock Exchange" means the Nasdaq Global Select Market, but if the Nasdaq Global Select Market is not then the principal U.S. trading market for Parent Common Stock, then "Parent Stock Exchange" shall be deemed to mean the principal U.S. national securities exchange registered under the 1934 Act on which Parent Common Stock is then traded.
  - "Permits" means all approvals, authorizations, registrations, licenses, exemptions, permits and consents of Governmental Authorities.
- "Permitted Liens" means (i) Liens for Taxes that are not due and payable, or that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, in each case for which adequate reserves have been established on the Company financial statements in accordance with GAAP, (ii) mechanics', carriers', workmen's, warehousemen's, repairmen's or other like Liens arising or incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (iii) Liens incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice in connection with workers' compensation, unemployment insurance and other types of social security or to secure the performance of tenders, statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds, bids, leases, government Contracts, performance and return of money bonds and similar obligations, (iv) zoning, building and other similar codes and regulations, (v) Liens the existence of which are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements of the Company included in the Company SEC Documents,(vi) any conditions that would be disclosed by a current, accurate survey or physical inspection, (vii) Liens, easements, rights-of-way, covenants and other similar restrictions that have been placed by any developer, landlord or other Person on property over which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has easement rights or on any property leased by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and subordination or similar agreements relating thereto, (viii) non-exclusive licenses granted under Intellectual Property and (ix) Liens (other than Liens securing indebtedness for borrowed money), defects or irregularities in title, easements, rights-of-way, covenants, restrictions and other similar matters that would not reasonably be expected to, individually or in the aggregate, materially impair the continued use and operation of the assets to which they relate in the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, as currently conducted.
- "Person" means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, association, trust or other entity or organization, including a government or political subdivision or an agency or instrumentality thereof.
  - "Registered IP" means all registered Intellectual Property and applications therefor.
  - "Release" means any release, spill, emission, leaking, dumping, injection, pouring, disposal or discharge into or through the environment.
- "Representative" means, with respect to any Person, such Person's directors, officers, employees, Affiliates, investment bankers, attorneys, accountants and other advisors or representatives.
  - "Sarbanes-Oxley Act" means the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

- "SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
- "Specified Company SEC Documents" means (i) the Company's Annual Reports on Form 10-K, (ii) the Company's Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, (iii) the Company's Proxy Statements on Form DEF-14A and (iv) the Company's Current Reports on Form 8-K, in each case filed since January 1, 2015 and before the date of this Agreement, in each case together with any exhibits and schedules thereto and other information incorporated by reference therein.
- "Specified Parent SEC Documents" means (i) Parent's Annual Reports on Form 10-K, (ii) Parent's Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, (iii) Parent's Proxy Statements on Form DEF-14A and (iv) Parent's Current Reports on Form 8-K, in each case filed since January 1, 2015 and before the date of this Agreement, in each case together with any exhibits and schedules thereto and other information incorporated by reference therein.
- "Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person, any entity of which securities or other ownership interests having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors or other Persons performing similar functions are at any time directly or indirectly owned by such Person.
- "Tax" means any tax or other governmental assessment or charge of a similar character payable to a Governmental Authority (including tax withholding or collection on amounts paid or received any Person), together with any additions to tax, and any interest or penalty in respect of the foregoing.
- "Tax Return" means any Tax return, statement, report, election, declaration, disclosure, schedule or form (including any estimated Tax or information return or report) filed or required to be filed with any Taxing Authority.
- "Taxing Authority" means any Governmental Authority (domestic or foreign) responsible for the administration, determination or collection of any Tax.
  - "Third Party" means any Person, including as defined in Section 13(d) of the 1934 Act, other than Parent or any of its Affiliates.
  - " US Plan" means any Company Employee Plan that is not an International Plan.
  - (b) Each of the following terms is defined in the Section set forth opposite such term:

Term	Section
401(k) Plans	Section 7.05(e)
Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement	Section 6.03(h)(i)
Adverse Recommendation Change	Section 6.03(a)
Agreement	Preamble
Anti-Corruption Laws	Section 4.23(a)
Antitrust Laws	Section 8.01(b)
Appraisal Shares	Section 2.04

Term	Section
Available Cash	Section 4.26
Cash Consideration	Section 2.02(a)
Certificates	Section 2.03(a)
Claim	Section 7.04(b)
Closing	Section 2.01(b)
Closing Date	Section 2.01(b)
Company	Preamble
Company Acquisition Agreement	Section 6.03(f)
Company Board Recommendation	Section 4.02(b)
Company Material Contract	Section 4.21(b)
Company Employee Plan	Section 4.17(a)
Company Employees	Section 7.05(a)
Company Preferred Stock	Section 4.05(a)
Company Representatives	Section 6.03(a)
Company RSU	Section 2.05(b)
Company SEC Documents	Section 4.07(a)
Company Securities	Section 4.05(b)
Company Stock Option	Section 2.05(a)
Company Stockholder Approval	Section 4.02(a)
Company Stockholder Meeting	Section 6.02
Company Subsidiary Securities	Section 4.06(c)
Company Termination Fee	Section 11.04(b)(i)
Company Unvested RSU	Section 2.05(c)
Company Vested RSU	Section 2.05(b)
Company Vested RSU Merger Consideration	Section 2.05(c)
Converted RSUs	Section 2.05(c)
Detriment	Section 8.01(c)
Divestiture Action	Section 8.01(c)
Effective Time	Section 2.01(c)
End Date	Section 10.01(b)(i)
Exchange Agent	Section 2.03(a)
Export Approvals	Section 4.23(c)
Foreign Antitrust Laws	Section 4.03
Form S-4	Section 4.09(a)
Indemnified Person	Section 7.04(a)
Internal Controls	Section 4.07(e)
Lease	Section 4.14(b)
Major Customer	Section 4.22
Major Supplier	Section 4.22
Maximum Tail Premium	Section 7.04(c)

Term	Section
Merger	Recitals
Merger Consideration	Section 2.02(a)
Merger Subsidiary	Preamble
Multiemployer Plan	Section 4.17(c)
Parent	Preamble
Parent Employee Plan	Section 5.16(a)
Parent Preferred Stock	Section 5.05(a)
Parent RSUs	Section 5.05(a)
Parent SEC Documents	Section 5.07(a)
Parent Securities	Section 5.05(b)
Parent Stock Plans	Section 5.05(a)
Parent Stock Options	Section 5.05(a)
Payment Fund	Section 2.03(b)
Proxy Statement/Prospectus	Section 4.09(a)
Reference Time	Section 4.05(a)
Restraints	Section 9.01(b)
Stock Consideration	Section 2.02(a)
Superior Proposal	Section 6.03(h)(ii)
Support Agreement	Recitals
Surviving Corporation	Section 2.01(a)
Uncertificated Shares	Section 2.03(a)

Section 1.02. Other Definitional and Interpretative Provisions. The words "hereof", "herein" and "hereunder" and words of like import used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement. The table of contents, and the article and section and other titles, headings and captions herein, are included for convenience of reference only and shall be ignored in the construction or interpretation hereof. References to Articles, Sections, Annexes, Exhibits and Schedules are to Articles, Sections, Annexes, Exhibits and Schedules are to Articles, Sections, Annexes, Exhibits and Schedules annexed hereto or referred to herein are hereby incorporated in and made a part of this Agreement as if set forth in full herein. Any terms used in any Annex, Exhibit or Schedule or in any certificate or other document made or delivered pursuant hereto but not otherwise defined therein shall have the meaning as defined in this Agreement. The definition of terms herein shall apply equally to the singular and the plural. Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms. The word "will" shall be construed to have the same meaning as the word "shall". Whenever the words "includes" or "including" are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation", whether or not they are in fact followed by those words or words of like import. The word "extent" in the phrase "to the extent" shall mean the degree to which a subject or thing extends, and such shall not mean simply "if". The word "or" shall not be exclusive. "Writing", "written" and comparable terms refer to printing, typing and other means of reproducing words (including electronic media) in a visible form. Unless

otherwise specified, references to any statute shall be deemed to refer to such statute as amended from time to time and to any rules or regulations promulgated thereunder. References to any agreement or Contract are to that agreement or Contract as amended, modified or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof. References to any Person include the successors and permitted assigns of that Person. This Agreement shall be construed without regard to any presumption or rule requiring construction or interpretation against the party drafting or causing any instrument to be drafted. The phrase "date hereof" or "date of this Agreement" shall be deemed to refer to the date set forth in the preamble of this Agreement. References from or through any date mean, unless otherwise specified, from and including or through and including, respectively. The measure of a period of one month or year for purposes of this Agreement will be the date of the following month or year corresponding to the starting date; and, if no corresponding date exists, then the end date of such period being measured will be the next actual date of the following month or year (for example, one month following February 18 is March 18 and one month following March 31 is May 1). Except as otherwise specifically indicated, for purposes of measuring the beginning and ending of time periods in this Agreement (including for purposes of "Business Day" and for hours in a day or Business Day), the time at which a thing, occurrence or event shall begin or end shall be deemed to occur in the time zone in which San Jose, California is located. References to "law", "laws" or to a particular statute or law shall be deemed also to include any Applicable Law. Any references in this Agreement to "dollars" or "\$" shall be to U.S. dollars.

### ARTICLE 2 THE MERGER

Section 2.01. The Merger.

- (a) On the terms and subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with Delaware Law, Merger Subsidiary shall be merged with and into the Company in the Merger, whereupon, the separate existence of Merger Subsidiary shall cease and the Company shall be the surviving corporation (the "Surviving Corporation") and shall continue its corporate existence under the laws of the State of Delaware as a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent.
- Subject to the provisions of Article 9, the closing of the Merger (the "Closing") shall take place at the offices of O'Melveny & Myers LLP, 2765 Sand Hill Road, Menlo Park, California 94025 at 6:00 a.m. Menlo Park, California time, as soon as possible, but in any event no later than one Business Day after the date the conditions set forth in Article 9 (other than conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or, to the extent permissible, waiver of those conditions at the Closing) have been satisfied or, to the extent permissible, waived by the party or parties entitled to the benefit of such conditions, or at such other place, at such other time or on such other date as Parent and the Company may mutually agree consistent with Delaware Law (the date on which the Closing occurs, the "Closing Date").
- (c) At the Closing, the Company and Merger Subsidiary shall file a certificate of merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and make all other filings or recordings required by Delaware Law in connection with the Merger. The Merger shall become

effective at such time (the "Effective Time") as the certificate of merger is duly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (or at such later time as may be specified in the certificate of merger).

- (d) From and after the Effective Time, the Merger shall have the effects set forth in Section 259 of the DGCL.
  - Section 2.02. Conversion of Shares. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of the holders thereof:
- (a) except as otherwise provided in Section 2.02(b), Section 2.02(c) or Section 2.04, each share of Company Stock outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be cancelled and converted into the right to receive (x) \$21.75 in cash, without interest (the "Cash Consideration") and (y) 0.2675 of a share of Parent Common Stock (the "Stock Consideration" and, together with the Cash Consideration the "Merger Consideration"). As of the Effective Time, all such shares of Company Stock shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and each share shall thereafter represent only the right to receive the Merger Consideration to be paid in accordance with Section 2.03, without interest.
- (b) each share of Company Stock held by the Company as treasury stock or owned by Parent or Merger Subsidiary immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be canceled, and no payment shall be made with respect thereto;
- (c) each share of Company Stock held by any Subsidiary of either the Company or Parent (other than Merger Subsidiary) immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into such number of shares of common stock, par value \$0.001 per share, of the Surviving Corporation such that each such Subsidiary owns the same percentage of the Surviving Corporation immediately following the Effective Time as such Subsidiary owned of the Company immediately prior to the Effective Time; and
- (d) each share of common stock of Merger Subsidiary outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into and become one share of common stock, par value \$0.001 per share, of the Surviving Corporation with the same rights, powers and privileges as the shares so converted and, together with the shares described in Section 2.02(c), shall constitute the only outstanding shares of capital stock of the Surviving Corporation.

Section 2.03. Surrender and Payment.

(a) Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall appoint an agent reasonably acceptable to the Company (the "Exchange Agent") for the purpose of exchanging for the Merger Consideration (A) certificates representing shares of Company Stock (the "Certificates") or (B) uncertificated shares of Company Stock (the "Uncertificated Shares"). Promptly after the Effective Time (but in no event later than two Business Days after the Effective Time), Parent shall send, or shall cause the Exchange Agent to send, to each holder of shares of Company Stock at the Effective Time a letter of transmittal (in a form that was reasonably acceptable to the Company prior to the Effective Time) and instructions (which shall specify that the delivery shall

be effected, and risk of loss and title shall pass, only upon proper delivery of the Certificates or transfer of the Uncertificated Shares to the Exchange Agent) for use in such exchange.

- Each holder of shares of Company Stock that have been converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration shall be entitled to receive, upon (i) surrender to the Exchange Agent of a Certificate, together with a properly completed letter of transmittal, or (ii) receipt of an "agent's message" by the Exchange Agent (or such other evidence, if any, of transfer as the Exchange Agent may reasonably request) in the case of a book-entry transfer of Uncertificated Shares, the Merger Consideration in respect of the Company Stock represented by a Certificate or Uncertificated Share. Until so surrendered or transferred, as the case may be, each such Certificate or Uncertificated Share shall represent after the Effective Time for all purposes only the right to receive such Merger Consideration. On the Closing Date, at or promptly following the Effective Time or in the case of payments pursuant to Section 2.04, when ascertained, Parent shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, with the Exchange Agent, for the benefit of the holders of Company Stock, cash and shares of Parent Common Stock in an amount sufficient to pay the Merger Consideration (such cash being hereinafter referred to as the "Payment Fund"). The cash in the Payment Fund shall, pending its disbursement to the holders of Company Stock, be invested by the Exchange Agent as directed by Parent or, after the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation in (i) short-term direct obligations of the United States of America, (ii) short-term obligations for which the full faith and credit of the United States of America is pledged to provide for the payment of principal and interest, (iii) short-term commercial paper rated the highest quality by either Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or Standard and Poor's Ratings Services, or (iv) certificates of deposit, bank repurchase agreements or banker's acceptances of commercial banks reasonably acceptable to the Company; provided that no such investment or losses shall affect the amounts payable to such holders of Company Stock and Parent shall promptly replace or cause to be replaced any funds deposited with the Exchange Agent that are lost through any investment so as to ensure that the Payment Fund is at all times maintained at a level sufficient for the Exchange Agent to pay the Merger Consideration. Earnings from investments, subject to the immediately preceding proviso, shall be paid to and shall be the sole and exclusive property of Parent and the Surviving Corporation. Except as contemplated by Section 2.03(e) hereof, the Payment Fund shall not be used for any other purpose.
- (c) If any portion of the Merger Consideration is to be paid to a Person other than the Person in whose name the surrendered Certificate or the transferred Uncertificated Share is registered, it shall be a condition to such payment that (i) either such Certificate shall be properly endorsed or shall otherwise be in proper form for transfer or such Uncertificated Share shall be properly transferred and (ii) the Person requesting such payment shall pay to the Exchange Agent any transfer or other Taxes required as a result of such payment to a Person other than the registered holder of such Certificate or Uncertificated Share or establish to the satisfaction of the Exchange Agent that such Tax has been paid or is not payable.
- (d) After the Effective Time, there shall be no further registration of transfers of Shares of Company Stock. If, after the Effective Time, Certificates or Uncertificated Shares are presented to the Surviving Corporation or the Exchange Agent, they shall be canceled and exchanged for the Merger Consideration provided for, and in accordance with the procedures set forth, in this Article 2.

- (e) Any portion of the Merger Consideration made available to the Exchange Agent pursuant to Section 2.03(a) that remains unclaimed by the holders of shares of Company Stock two years after the Effective Time shall be returned to Parent, upon demand, and any such holder who has not exchanged shares of Company Stock for the Merger Consideration in accordance with this Section 2.03 prior to that time shall thereafter look only to Parent for payment of the Merger Consideration, in respect of such shares without any interest thereon. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Parent shall not be liable to any holder of shares of Company Stock for any amounts paid to a public official pursuant to applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar laws. Any amounts remaining unclaimed by holders of shares of Company Stock immediately prior to such time when such amounts would otherwise escheat to or become property of any Governmental Authority shall become, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, the property of Parent free and clear of any claims or interest of any Person previously entitled thereto.
- (f) Any portion of the Merger Consideration made available to the Exchange Agent pursuant to Section 2.04 in respect of any Appraisal Shares shall be returned to Parent, upon demand.
- (g) The shares of Parent Common Stock constituting part of the Merger Consideration shall be in uncertificated book-entry form, unless a physical certificate is otherwise required under Applicable Law. No interest shall be paid or accrued on the Merger Consideration.
- (h) No dividends or other distributions with respect to Parent Common Stock with a record date after the Effective Time shall be paid to the holder of any unsurrendered share of Company Stock with respect to shares of Parent Common Stock that such holder would be entitled to receive upon surrender of such share of Company Stock until such holder shall surrender such share of Company Stock in accordance with this Article 2. After the surrender of any such share of Company Stock in accordance with this Article 2, such holder thereof entitled to receive shares of Parent Common Stock shall be entitled to receive any such dividends or other distributions, without interest thereon, with a record date after the Effective Time and which theretofore had become payable with respect to whole shares of Parent Common Stock issuable to such holder in respect of such share of Company Stock.

Section 2.04. *Appraisal Shares* . Notwithstanding Section 2.02, shares of Company Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than shares of Company Stock canceled in accordance with Section 2.02(b)) and held by a holder who has not voted in favor of adoption of this Agreement or consented thereto in writing and who has properly exercised appraisal rights in respect of such shares in accordance with the DGCL (such shares being referred to collectively as the "Appraisal Shares" until such time as such holder fails to perfect, withdraws or otherwise loses such holder's appraisal rights under the DGCL with respect to such shares) shall not be converted into a right to receive the Merger Consideration but instead the holders thereof shall be entitled to payment of the appraised value of such shares in accordance with the DGCL; provided that if, after the Effective Time, such holder fails to perfect, withdraws or otherwise loses such holder's right to appraisal pursuant to the DGCL, such shares of Company Stock shall be treated as if they had been converted as of the Effective Time into the right to receive the Merger Consideration in accordance with Section 2.02(a), without interest thereon, upon surrender of such Certificate formerly representing such share or

transfer of such Uncertificated Share, as the case may be. The Company shall provide Parent prompt written notice of any demands received by the Company for appraisal of shares of Company Stock, any withdrawal of any such demand and any other demand, notice or instrument delivered to the Company prior to the Effective Time pursuant to the DGCL that relates to such demand, and Parent shall have the opportunity and right to participate in all negotiations and proceedings with respect to such demands under the DGCL consistent with the obligations of the Company thereunder. Except with the prior written consent of Parent, the Company shall not voluntarily make any payment with respect to, or voluntarily offer to settle or settle, any such demands.

### Section 2.05. Company Equity Awards.

- (a) At or immediately prior to the Effective Time, each option to purchase shares of Company Stock outstanding under any Company Stock Plan (a "Company Stock Option") shall be fully vested and, at the Effective Time, canceled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash equal to the product of (i) the number of shares of Company Stock subject to such Company Stock Option immediately prior to the Effective Time and (ii) the excess, if any, of (A) the Equity Award Merger Consideration, over (B) the exercise price per Share subject to such cancelled Company Stock Option, without interest (such amounts payable hereunder, the "Option Payments"). Any such Company Stock Option with respect to which the exercise price per Share subject thereto is greater than the Equity Award Merger Consideration shall be cancelled in exchange for no consideration. Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to pay the Option Payments to the holder of the applicable Company Stock Option at or reasonably promptly after the Effective Time (but in no event later than three Business Days after the Effective Time).
- (b) At or immediately prior to the Effective Time, each award of restricted stock units with respect to shares of Company Stock granted under a Company Stock Plan (each, a "Company RSU") that is outstanding and vested immediately prior to the Effective Time (including those Company RSUs that become vested by their terms immediately prior to or as of the Effective Time) (each, a "Company Vested RSU") shall be canceled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash equal to (i) the number of shares of Company Stock subject to such Company Vested RSU immediately prior to the Effective Time multiplied by (ii) the Equity Award Merger Consideration (such amount, the "Company Vested RSU Merger Consideration"). Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to pay the Company Vested RSU Merger Consideration to the holder of the applicable Company Vested RSU at or reasonably promptly after the Effective Time (but in no event later than three Business Days after the Effective Time).
- (c) Effective as of the Effective Time, each Company RSU that is not a Company Vested RSU (each, a "Company Unvested RSU") shall be assumed by Parent and converted into that number of restricted stock units of Parent Common Stock, rounded down to the nearest whole share ("Converted RSUs"), equal to the product of (x) the number of shares of Company Stock subject to such Company Unvested RSU and (y) the Equity Conversion Ratio. Any Converted RSUs issued pursuant to this Section 2.05(c) shall otherwise be subject to the same terms and conditions (modified as appropriate to reflect the assumption) as were applicable

under such Company Unvested RSU; provided, that all references to the "Company" in the applicable Company Stock Plans and award agreements will be references to Parent.

- (d) Prior to the Effective Time, the Board of Directors of the Company (or, if appropriate, any committee thereof administering any Company Stock Plan) shall adopt such resolutions or take action by written consent in lieu of a meeting, providing for the transactions contemplated by this Section 2.05. The Company shall provide that, following the Effective Time, no holder of any Company Stock Option or Company RSU shall have the right to acquire any equity interest in the Company or the Surviving Corporation in respect thereof.
- (e) As soon as practicable after the Effective Time, Parent shall deliver to the holder of each Converted RSU appropriate notices setting forth the number of shares of Parent Common Stock subject to such award then held by each such holder, as adjusted pursuant to this Section 2.05.
- Section 2.06. *Withholding Rights*. Each of the Exchange Agent, Merger Subsidiary, the Surviving Corporation and Parent shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the consideration otherwise payable to any Person pursuant to this Article 2 such amounts as it is required to deduct and withhold with respect to the making of such payment under any provision of federal, state, local or foreign Tax law. If the Exchange Agent, Merger Subsidiary, the Surviving Corporation or Parent, as the case may be, withholds any such amounts and properly pays such amounts over to the appropriate Taxing Authority, such amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to Person in respect of which such withholding was made.
- Section 2.07. Lost Certificates . If any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the Person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, if required by the Surviving Corporation, the posting by such Person of a bond, in such reasonable amount as the Surviving Corporation may direct, as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with respect to such Certificate, the Exchange Agent will issue, in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate, the Merger Consideration to be paid in respect of the shares of Company Stock represented by such Certificate, as contemplated by this Article 2.
- Section 2.08. *Adjustments*. If, during the period between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, any change in the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company shall occur, including by reason of any reclassification, recapitalization, stock split or combination, exchange or readjustment of shares, or any stock dividend thereon with a record date during such period, but excluding any change that results from any exercise of options or the vesting of restricted share units outstanding as of the date hereof to purchase shares of Company Stock granted under the Company's stock option or compensation plans or arrangements, the Merger Consideration and any other amounts payable pursuant to this Agreement shall be appropriately adjusted. If, between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, the outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock shall have been changed into a different number of shares or a different class as a result of a reclassification, recapitalization, stock split or combination, exchange or readjustment, or stock dividend or other similar change

in capitalization, an appropriate and proportionate adjustment shall be made to the Stock Consideration to be delivered pursuant to Section 2.02.

Section 2.09. No Fractional Share. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, neither certificates nor scrip for a fractional share of Parent Common Stock shall be issued in the Merger or pursuant to Section 2.05. Each holder of shares of Company Stock who otherwise would have been entitled to a fraction of a share of Parent Common Stock (after taking into account all shares of Company Stock owned by such holder at the Effective Time to be converted into Parent Common Stock pursuant to this Article 2) shall be entitled to receive, from the Exchange Agent in accordance with the provisions of this Section 2.09, in lieu of such fractional share, an amount of cash (rounded to the nearest whole cent), without interest, equal to the product of: (i) such fraction, multiplied by (ii) the Parent Measurement Price. The parties acknowledge that payment of cash in lieu of issuing certificates or scrip for a fractional share was not separately bargained-for consideration but merely represents a mechanical rounding off for purposes of avoiding the expense and inconvenience to Parent that otherwise would be caused by the issuance of a fractional share. No such holder shall be entitled to dividends, voting rights or any other rights in respect of any fractional share.

### ARTICLE 3 ORGANIZATIONAL DOCUMENTS OF THE SURVIVING CORPORATION

Section 3.01. *Surviving Corporation*.

- (a) Unless otherwise determined by Parent prior to the Effective Time, the certificate of incorporation of Merger Subsidiary as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the applicable provisions of Delaware Law.
- (b) Unless otherwise determined by Parent prior to the Effective Time, the bylaws of Merger Subsidiary as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the bylaws of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the applicable provisions of Delaware Law.
- Section 3.02. *Directors and Officers*. From and after the Effective Time, until successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified in accordance with Delaware Law, (i) the directors of Merger Subsidiary at the Effective Time shall be the directors of the Surviving Corporation and (ii) the officers of the Merger Subsidiary at the Effective Time shall be the officers of the Surviving Corporation.

### ARTICLE 4 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

Subject to Section 11.05, except as disclosed in the Specified Company SEC Documents (excluding any disclosures set forth in any "risk factor" or "forward-looking statements" sections) or as set forth in the Company Disclosure Letter, the Company represents and warrants to Parent and the Merger Subsidiary that:

Section 4.01. Corporate Existence and Power.

- (a) The Company is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware.
- (b) The Company has (i) all corporate powers and (ii) all governmental licenses, authorizations, Permits, consents and approvals required to carry on its business as currently conducted, except in the case of clause (ii) where failure to have those licenses, authorizations, Permits, consents and approvals, individually and in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect. The Company is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation and (where applicable and recognized) is in good standing in each jurisdiction where such qualification is necessary, except for those jurisdictions where failure to be so qualified would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (c) Complete and correct copies of the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Company, each as amended to the date of this Agreement, have been made available through filings with the SEC. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is in violation of any of the provisions of its certificate of incorporation or bylaws or equivalent organizational or governing documents in any material respect.

### Section 4.02. Corporate Authorization.

- (a) The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby are within the Company's corporate powers and, except for the required approval of the Company's stockholders in connection with the consummation of the Merger, have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company. The affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Company Stock is the only vote of the holders of any of the Company's capital stock necessary in connection with the consummation of the Merger (the "Company Stockholder Approval"). Assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by Parent and Merger Subsidiary, this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding agreement of the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms (subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium and other laws affecting creditors' rights generally and general principles of equity).
- (b) At a meeting duly called and held, the Company's full Board of Directors has unanimously (i) determined that this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby are fair to and in the best interests of the Company's stockholders, (ii) approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby and (iii) resolved, subject to Section 6.03, to recommend adoption of this Agreement by its stockholders (such recommendation in the preceding clause (iii), the "Company Board Recommendation").
- Section 4.03. *Governmental Authorization.* The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby require no action by or in respect of, or filing with, any Governmental Authority, other than (a) the filing of a certificate of merger with respect to the Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and appropriate documents with the relevant authorities of other states in which the Company is qualified to do business, (b)

compliance with any applicable requirements of the HSR Act and competition, merger control, antitrust or similar Applicable Law of any jurisdiction outside of the United States ("Foreign Antitrust Laws"), (c) compliance with any applicable requirements of the 1933 Act, 1934 Act and any other applicable state or federal securities laws, (d) compliance with any applicable rules of Nasdaq and (e) any actions or filings the absence of which would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.04. *Non-contravention*. The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not (a) contravene, conflict with, or result in any violation or breach of any provision of the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of the Company, (b) assuming compliance with the matters referred to in Section 4.03, contravene, conflict with or result in a violation or breach of any provision of any Applicable Law, (c) assuming compliance with the matters referred to in Section 4.03, require any consent or other action by any Person under, constitute a default, or an event that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default, under, or cause or permit the termination, cancellation, acceleration or other change of any right or obligation or the loss of any benefit to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is entitled under any provision of any agreement or other instrument binding upon the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (d) result in the creation or imposition of any Lien (other than Permitted Liens) on any asset of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, with only such exceptions, (i) in the case of clause (b), as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, and (ii) in the case of each of clauses (c) and (d), as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.

### Section 4.05. Capitalization.

- (a) The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 80,000,000 shares of Company Stock and 2,000,000 shares of preferred stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of the Company ("Company Preferred Stock"). As of 5:00 p.m., California time, on February 1, 2017 (the "Reference Time"), there were (i) 27,022,411 shares of Company Stock outstanding, (ii) an aggregate of 2,232,502 shares of Company Stock subject to outstanding Company Stock Options, (iii) an aggregate of 1,053,740 shares of Company Stock subject to outstanding Company RSUs, (iv) no shares of Company Stock subject to vesting or other lapse restrictions, and (v) no shares of Company Preferred Stock outstanding. All outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company have been, and all shares that may be issued pursuant to any Company Stock Plan or other Company Employee Plan will be, when issued in accordance with the respective terms thereof, duly authorized, validly issued and fully paid. Except as set forth in this Section 4.05 and for changes since the Reference Time resulting from the exercise of Company Stock Options, settlement of Company RSUs outstanding on such date or the grant of stock- based compensation to directors or employees, as of the date hereof, there are no Company Securities outstanding.
- (b) Except as set forth in this Section 4.05 and for changes since the Reference Time resulting from the exercise of Company Stock Options or settlement of Company RSUs outstanding on such date or grants of Company Stock, Company Stock Options or Company RSUs under the Company Stock Plans, as of the date hereof there are no issued, reserved for

issuance or outstanding: (i) shares of capital stock or other voting securities of or ownership interests in the Company, (ii) securities of the Company convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock or other voting securities of or ownership interests in the Company, (iii) warrants, calls, options or other rights to acquire from the Company, or other obligation of the Company to issue, any capital stock, voting securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable for capital stock or voting securities of the Company or (iv) restricted shares, stock appreciation rights, performance units, contingent value rights, "phantom" stock or similar securities or rights that are derivative of, or provide economic benefits based, directly or indirectly, on the value or price of, any capital stock of or voting securities of the Company (the items in clauses (i) through (iv) being referred to collectively as the "Company Securities").

- (c) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any voting agreement with respect to the voting of any Company Securities.
- (d) Except as set forth in this Section 4.05, no (i) shares of capital stock of the Company or (ii) Company Securities are owned by any Subsidiary of the Company.
- (e) There are no voting trusts or other agreements or arrangements to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party (i) with respect to the voting or registration of the capital stock or other equity interest of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (ii) that restrict any person from purchasing, selling, pledging or otherwise disposing of any shares of Company Stock, except as required pursuant to Applicable Law.

Section 4.06. Subsidiaries.

- (a) Section 4.06(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete and correct list, as of the date of this Agreement, of each Subsidiary of the Company and its place and form of organization.
- (b) Each Subsidiary of the Company has been duly organized, is validly existing and (where applicable) in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization and has all organizational powers and all governmental licenses, authorizations, Permits, consents and approvals required to carry on its business as currently conducted, except for those powers, licenses, authorizations, Permits, consents and approvals the absence of which would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect. Each such Subsidiary of the Company is duly qualified to do business as a foreign entity and (where applicable) is in good standing in each jurisdiction where such qualification is necessary, except for those jurisdictions where failure to be so qualified would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (c) All of the outstanding capital stock of or other voting securities of, or ownership interests in, each Subsidiary of the Company, is owned by the Company, directly or indirectly, free and clear of any Lien (other than Permitted Liens) and free of any transfer restriction (other than transfer restrictions of general applicability as may be provided under the 1933 Act or other applicable securities laws), including any restriction on the right to vote, sell or otherwise dispose of such capital stock or other voting securities or ownership interests. As of the date hereof, there are no issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding (i) securities of the Company or

any of its Subsidiaries convertible into, or exchangeable for, shares of capital stock or other voting securities of, or ownership interests in, any Subsidiary of the Company, (ii) warrants, calls, options or other rights to acquire from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or other obligations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to issue, any capital stock or other voting securities of, or ownership interests in, or any securities convertible into, or exchangeable for, any capital stock or other voting securities of, or ownership interests in, any Subsidiary of the Company or (iii) restricted shares, stock appreciation rights, performance units, contingent value rights, "phantom" stock or similar securities or rights that are derivative of, or provide economic benefits based, directly or indirectly, on the value or price of, any capital stock or other voting securities of, or ownership interests in, any Subsidiary of the Company (the items in clauses (i) through (iii) being referred to collectively as the "Company Subsidiary Securities"). There are no outstanding obligations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any of the Company Subsidiary Securities.

### Section 4.07. SEC Filings and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

- (a) The Company has on a timely basis filed with or furnished to the SEC all reports, schedules, forms, statements, prospectuses, registration statements and other documents required to be filed with or furnished to the SEC by the Company since January 1, 2014 (collectively, together with any exhibits and schedules thereto and other information incorporated therein, the "Company SEC Documents").
- (b) No Subsidiary of the Company is required to file or furnish any report, statement, schedule, form or other document with, or make any other filing with, or furnish any other material to, the SEC or make any similar securities law filing with any other Governmental Authority.
- (c) As of its filing date (or, if amended or superseded by a filing prior to the date hereof, on the date of such filing), each Company SEC Document filed pursuant to the 1934 Act complied in all material respects with the requirements of the 1934 Act and did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
- (d) Each Company SEC Document that is a registration statement, as amended or supplemented, if applicable, filed pursuant to the 1933 Act, as of the date such registration statement or amendment became effective, complied in all material respects with the requirements of the 1933 Act and did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.
- (e) The Company and each of its officers is in compliance in all material respects with the applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The management of the Company has, in material compliance with Rule 13a-15 under the 1934 Act, designed disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated Subsidiaries, is made known to the management of the Company by others within those entities, and disclosed, based on its most recent evaluation prior to the date hereof, to the

Company's auditors and the audit committee of the Company's Board of Directors (A) any significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting ("Internal Controls") which would adversely affect the Company's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the Company's auditors any material weaknesses in Internal Controls and (B) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company's Internal Controls.

- (f) Since January 1, 2014, the Company and its Subsidiaries have established and maintained a system of Internal Controls over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15 under the 1934 Act) sufficient to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the Company's financial reporting and the preparation of Company financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. The Company has disclosed, based on its most recent evaluation of Internal Controls over financial reporting prior to the date hereof, to the Company's auditors and audit committee (i) any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of Internal Controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information and (ii) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in Internal Controls over financial reporting.
- (g) Since January 1, 2013, the Company has complied in all material respects with the applicable listing and corporate governance rules and regulations of Nasdaq.

Section 4.08. Financial Statements. The audited consolidated financial statements and unaudited consolidated quarterly financial statements (in each case, including the related notes) of the Company included or incorporated by reference in the Company SEC Documents in all material respects (i) have been prepared in conformity with GAAP applied on a consistent basis for the periods then ended (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto), (ii) fairly present the consolidated financial position of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of the dates thereof and their consolidated results of operations and cash flows for the periods then ended, (iii) have been prepared from, and are in accordance with, the books and records of the Company and its Subsidiaries in all material respects and (iv) complied, as of their respective dates of filing with the SEC, in all material respects with the applicable accounting requirements and with the rules and regulations of the SEC, the 1933 Act and 1934 Act, except, in the case of any unaudited quarterly financial statements with respect to clause (i) or (ii), as permitted by Form 10-Q of the SEC or other rules and regulations of the SEC and subject to normal year-end audit adjustments. As of the date of this Agreement, Ernst & Young LLP has not resigned (or informed the Company that it intends to resign) or been dismissed as independent public accountants of the Company as a result of or in connection with any disagreements with the Company on a matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedure. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to, nor does it have any commitment to become a party to, any off-balance sheet joint venture, off-balance sheet partnership or any other "off-balance sheet arrangements" (as defined in Item 303(a) of Regulation S-K of the SEC). Since the Company Balance Sheet Date, there has been no material change in the Company's accounting policies or the methods of maki

reserves reflected in Company's financial statements included in the Company SEC Documents are in accordance with GAAP and have been calculated in a consistent manner.

### Section 4.09. Disclosure Documents.

- (a) The information with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries that the Company supplies for inclusion in the proxy statement in definitive form relating to the meeting of the stockholders of the Company to be held to vote on the adoption of this Agreement, and any amendments or supplements thereto (the "Proxy Statement/Prospectus"), and the registration statement on Form S-4, and any amendments or supplements thereto (the "Form S-4"), in which the Proxy Statement/Prospectus will be included as a prospectus, in connection with the registration under the 1933 Act of Parent Common Stock to be issued in the Merger, at the time of filing of such documents or any amendments or supplements thereto and at the time of any distribution or dissemination thereof (and, in the case of the Proxy Statement/Prospectus, at the time of the Company Stockholder Approval), will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading.
- (b) The representations and warranties contained in this Section 4.09 will not apply to statements or omissions included or incorporated by reference in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus based upon information supplied by Parent and Merger Subsidiary or any of their Representatives or Affiliates specifically for use or incorporation by reference therein.

### Section 4.10. Absence of Certain Changes.

- (a) From the Company Balance Sheet Date until the date hereof, (i) the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries has been conducted in all material respects in the ordinary course consistent with past practice and (ii) there has not been any event, occurrence, development of a state of circumstances or facts that has had and continues to have or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) From the Company Balance Sheet Date until the date hereof, there has not been any action taken by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that, if taken during the period from the date of this Agreement through the Effective Time without Parent's consent, would constitute a breach of Section 6.01(a), Section 6.01(b), Section 6.01(c)(ii), Section 6.01(e), Section 6.01(f), Section 6.01(h), Section 6.01(i), Section 6.01(k) or, to the extent applicable to such sections, Section 6.01(o).
- Section 4.11. *No Undisclosed Liabilities*. There are no liabilities or obligations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any kind whatsoever, whether accrued, contingent, absolute, determined, determinable or otherwise and whether due or to become due, other than: (i) liabilities or obligations disclosed, reflected or reserved against in the Company Balance Sheet; (ii) liabilities or obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice since the Company Balance Sheet Date; (iii) liabilities or obligations incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby; (iv) liabilities or obligations that would

not be required to be reflected or reserved against in the Company Balance Sheet under GAAP and (v) liabilities or obligations that would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.

### Section 4.12. Compliance with Laws and Court Orders; Permits.

- (a) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries are and, since January 1, 2014, have been in compliance with Applicable Law, except for failures to comply that would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received written notice of any investigation by any Governmental Authority, and, to the knowledge of the Company, are not under investigation by any Governmental Authority with respect to, Applicable Law. The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has in effect all Permits which are material to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and necessary for it conduct its business as presently conducted. The Company is not an "investment company" under the Investment Company Act of 1940.
- (b) As of the date hereof, there is no judgment, decree, injunction, rule or order of any arbitrator or Governmental Authority outstanding against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that are material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

### Section 4.13. *Litigation*.

- (a) As of the date hereof, there is no action, suit, investigation or proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any present or former officer, director or employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in their capacity as such for whom the Company or any of its Subsidiaries may be liable before (or, in the case of threatened actions, suits, investigations or proceedings, that would be before) or by any Governmental Authority or arbitrator that are material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.
- (b) To the knowledge of the Company, no employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has provided or is providing information to any law enforcement agency regarding the commission or possible commission of any crime or the violation or possible violation of any Applicable Law of the type described in Section 806 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any director, officer, auditor, accountant, consultant or authorized representative of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has been discharged, demoted, suspended, threatened, harassed or in any other manner discriminated against an employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in the terms and conditions of employment because of any lawful act of such employee described in Section 806 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

### Section 4.14. Properties.

(a) The Company or its Subsidiaries have good title to, or valid leasehold interests in, all material property and material assets reflected on the Company Balance Sheet or acquired after the Company Balance Sheet Date, free and clear of all Liens except Permitted Liens, except

as have been disposed of since the Company Balance Sheet Date in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary owns any real property.

(b) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect, (i) each lease or sublease (each, a "Lease") under which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries leases or subleases any real property is valid and in full force and effect, (ii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries, nor, to the Company's knowledge, any other party to a Lease, has violated any provision of, or taken or failed to take any act which, with or without notice, lapse of time, or both, would constitute a default under the provisions of such Lease, (iii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any notice in writing that it has breached, violated or defaulted under any Lease, (iv) the Company's or its Subsidiaries' possession and quiet enjoyment of the leased real property under each Lease has not been disturbed, and, to the knowledge of the Company, there are no material disputes with respect to such Lease; and (v) there are no Liens on the estate created by any Lease other than Permitted Liens. The Company has delivered to Parent a true and complete copy of each Lease.

### Section 4.15. Intellectual Property.

- (a) The Company and/or its Subsidiaries have valid title and sole and exclusive ownership interest in the Company Owned IP, free and clear of any Liens (other than Permitted Liens).
- (b) The Company and its Subsidiaries own, license or otherwise have the right to use all Intellectual Property used in the operation of their businesses as currently conducted, except as would not reasonably be expected to result in a material liability for or restriction on the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.
- (c) As of the date of this Agreement, there are no legal disputes or claims pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened alleging infringement, misappropriation or any other violation of any Intellectual Property of any Third Party by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that would reasonably be expected to result in, a material liability for or restriction on the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.
- (d) To the knowledge of the Company, none of the Company or its Subsidiaries has infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated any Intellectual Property of any Person, except for such infringements, misappropriations or violations that would not reasonably be expected to result in, a material liability for the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.
- (e) To the knowledge of the Company, no Company Owned IP has been infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated by any Third Party, except for such infringements, misappropriations or violations that would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (f) Section 4.15(f) of the Company Disclosure Letter contains a complete and correct list, as of the date of this Agreement, of all Company Registered IP. Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, (i) the Company and its

Subsidiaries have paid all maintenance fees and filed all statements of use reasonably necessary to maintain the Company Registered IP, and (ii) to the knowledge of the Company, none of the issued Company Registered IP has been adjudged invalid or unenforceable in whole or in part.

- (g) Section 4.15(g) of the Company Disclosure Letter contains a complete and accurate list as of the date of this Agreement of all material support, funding, resources or assistance from any Governmental Authority funding source that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries have received in connection with the development, design, testing, modification, manufacture, use, sale, reproduction, marketing, distribution, support or maintenance of any Company Products offered or under development by the Company or any Subsidiary, other than customer agreements entered in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice. Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect, the Company and its Subsidiaries have complied in all material respects with all of the applicable terms of any such support, funding, resources or assistance.
  - (h) None of the Company or its Subsidiaries is in breach of any of the material terms or conditions of any license to any Open Source Materials.
- (i) To the knowledge of the Company, there has been no unauthorized access, disclosure or use of any trade secrets, know-how or confidential or other proprietary information that is material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. The Company and its Subsidiaries have taken reasonable and appropriate steps to protect the trade secrets in the Company Owned IP and to protect any confidential information provided to them by any other Person under obligation of confidentiality.
- (j) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, there has been no material failure, breakdown, loss or impairment of, or, to the knowledge of the Company, any unauthorized access to or unauthorized use of, any information technology systems of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that has resulted in a disruption or interruption in the operation of the business of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or that has resulted in unauthorized disclosure of any confidential information of the Company or any Subsidiary, or personally identifiable information, to any unauthorized person. The Company and its Subsidiaries have in place commercially reasonable disaster recovery and business continuity plans and procedures.
- (k) Except as would not reasonably be expected to result in a material liability for the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (i) the Company and each Subsidiary have complied in all material respects with all Applicable Laws and applicable contractual and legal requirements pertaining to information privacy and security, (ii) since January 1, 2013, to the knowledge of the Company, there has been no material release of personally identifiable information by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company in breach of either (x) a Contract to which the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company is bound or (y) Applicable Law, and (iii) none of the Company or any Subsidiary has been notified that they are the subject of any regulatory investigation, enforcement action or similar action or proceeding alleging breach of data security or privacy obligations.

(I) The Company and its Subsidiaries have obtained from all parties (including employees and current or former consultants and subcontractors) who have created any material portion of, or otherwise who would have any material rights in or to, any material Company Owned IP, written assignments thereof. None of the Company or any Subsidiary has received in writing any claim from any employee or individual independent contractor challenging or disputing the Company's or its Subsidiaries' ownership of the Company Owned IP (including any Intellectual Property purported to be owned by the Company or any Subsidiary), or challenging or disputing any agreement with the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company relating to ownership of any Intellectual Property.

### Section 4.16. Taxes.

- (a) All material Tax Returns required by Applicable Law to have been filed with any Taxing Authority by, or on behalf of, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries have been filed in accordance with all Applicable Law, and all such material Tax Returns were, at the time of filing, true and complete in all material respects.
- (b) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has paid (or has had paid on its behalf) or has withheld and remitted to the appropriate Taxing Authority all material Taxes required to have been paid, other than such Taxes that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, for which adequate reserves have been established on the Company financial statements, in accordance with GAAP.
- (c) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has granted any extension or waiver of the statute of limitations period on assessment of any income or franchise Tax, which period (after giving effect to such extension or waiver) has not yet expired.
- (d) There is no claim, audit, action, suit, proceeding or investigation now pending or, to the Company's knowledge, threatened against or with respect to the Company or its Subsidiaries in respect of any Tax Return, Tax liability or Tax asset attribute that may be relevant to the determination of any future Tax liability of the Company or its Subsidiaries.
- (e) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is or will be liable for Taxes of any other Person (i) by reason of having been a member of a consolidated, combined, unitary or other similar group for Tax purposes, (ii) by reason of any contract or other arrangement, other than a commercial contract or arrangement not primarily relating to Taxes, or (iii) as successor or transferee.
  - (f) No Subsidiary of the Company owns any shares of Company Stock.
- (g) The Company has properly and timely documented its transfer pricing methodology in compliance with Sections 482 and 6662 of the Code and any similar provision of Applicable Law.
- (h) During the two-year period ending on the date hereof, neither the Company nor any Company Subsidiary was a distributing corporation or a controlled corporation in a transaction intended to be governed by Section 355 of the Code.

#### Section 4.17. Employee Benefit Plans.

- (a) Section 4.17(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter contains a complete and correct list, as of the date of this Agreement, of each Company Employee Plan. "Company Employee Plan" means each "employee benefit plan," as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA and each other material employment, severance or similar Contract, plan, practice, arrangement or policy providing for compensation, bonuses, profit-sharing, stock option or other stock-related rights or other forms of incentive or deferred compensation, vacation benefits, insurance (including any self-insured arrangements), health or medical benefits, employee assistance program, disability or sick leave benefits, and post-employment or retirement benefits (including compensation, pension, health, medical or life insurance benefits) which is maintained, administered or contributed to by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and with respect to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has any liability, other than (i) any Multiemployer Plan and (ii) any plan, policy, program, arrangement or understanding mandated by Applicable Law. Copies of the material Company Employee Plans (and, if applicable, related administrative service agreements and insurance policies) and all material amendments thereto have been made available to Parent together with, if any, the most recent annual report (Form 5500 including, if applicable, Schedule B thereto) prepared in connection with any such plan.
- (b) Neither the Company nor any of its ERISA Affiliates sponsors, maintains or contributes to, or has in the past six years sponsored, maintained or contributed to, any Company Employee Plan subject to Title IV of ERISA.
- (c) Neither the Company nor any of its ERISA Affiliates contributes to, or has in the past six years contributed to, any multiemployer plan, as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA (a "Multiemployer Plan").
- (d) Each US Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination letter, or has pending or has time remaining in which to file an application for such determination from the Internal Revenue Service, and, to the knowledge of the Company, no revocation of any such determination letter has been threatened by any Governmental Authority. The Company has made available to Parent copies of the most recent Internal Revenue Service determination letter with respect to each such US Plan.
- (e) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect, each US Plan has been maintained in compliance with its terms and with the requirements prescribed by any and all statutes, Orders, rules and regulations including ERISA and the Code, which are applicable to such US Plan.
- (f) Except as required by Applicable Law, expressly provided in this Agreement or any collective bargaining agreement, works council or other Contract with a labor union or employee organization, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not (either alone or together with a termination of employment, to the extent such termination of employment alone would not trigger such benefit) (i) entitle any employee or independent contractor of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to severance pay, or (ii) accelerate the time of payment or vesting or trigger any payment of funding (through a grantor trust or otherwise) of compensation or benefits under, or increase the amount payable or trigger

any other material obligation pursuant to, any Company Employee Plan. No person is entitled to receive any additional payment (including any Tax gross-up or other payment) from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as a result of the imposition of the Taxes required by Section 4999 of the Code.

- (g) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any liability in respect of post-retirement health, medical or life insurance benefits for retired, former or current employees of the Company or its Subsidiaries except (i) benefits in the nature of severance pay with respect to one or more of the employment agreements identified on Section 4.17(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter, (ii) coverage or benefits as required under Section 4980B of the Code or any other Applicable Law or any collective bargaining agreement, works council or other Contract with a labor union or employee organization or (iii) as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (h) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect, there is no action, suit, investigation, audit or proceeding pending against or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened against, any Company Employee Plan before any Governmental Authority, other than routine claims for benefits.
- (i) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect, (i) each International Plan has been maintained in compliance respects with its terms and with the requirements prescribed by any and all applicable statutes, Orders, rules and regulations (including any special provisions relating to qualified plans in a jurisdiction where such plan was intended so to qualify) and in good standing with applicable regulatory authorities and (ii) each International Plan intended to be funded or book reserved is fully funded or book reserved, as appropriate, based on reasonable actuarial assumptions.
- (j) The Company has made available to Parent a complete and correct list as of the Reference Time of each outstanding Company Stock Option and Company RSU, including, with respect to each such award, (i) the grant date, (ii) the name of the holder thereof, (iii) the number of shares of Company Stock subject to such award, (iv) the exercise price or purchase price per share, if any, (v) the number of vested and unvested shares of Company Stock subject to such award, (vi) a description of any applicable vesting terms, (vii) the expiration date, if any, and (viii) with respect to Company Stock Options, whether the option is intended to constitute an incentive stock option under Section 422 of the Code or a nonqualified stock option.

### Section 4.18. Labor and Employment Matters.

- (a) As of the date of this Agreement, no current director or officer (or person performing similar management functions), key employee or group of employees of the Company has provided written notice that, he, she or they intend to terminate his, her or their employment or director relationship.
- (b) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any collective bargaining agreement or similar agreement with a labor union or works council with respect to

its employees. Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect, there is no (i) unfair labor practice, labor dispute (other than routine individual grievances) or labor arbitration proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries relating to their businesses, (ii) activity or proceeding by a labor union or representative thereof to the knowledge of the Company to organize any employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (iii) lockouts, strikes, slowdowns, work stoppages or, to the knowledge of the Company, threats thereof by or with respect to such employees, and, for the past two years, there has not been any such action.

- (c) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect, the Company is in compliance in all material respects with all Applicable Laws respecting employment, discrimination in employment, terms and conditions of employment, worker classification (including the proper classification of employees as exempt or non-exempt and of workers as independent contractors and consultants), wages (including the payment of overtime), hours and occupational safety and health and employment practices, including the Immigration Reform and Control Act.
- (d) There are no complaints, charges or claims against the Company pending or to the knowledge of the Company, threatened with any Governmental Authority arising out of, in connection with or otherwise relating to the employment or termination of employment, classification of any individual as exempt or non-exempt, classification of any individual as an employee or non-employee, or failure to employ by any Company Entity, of any individual, except as would not reasonably be expected to result in a material liability for the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. There has been no "mass layoff" or "plant closing" (as defined by WARN) with respect to the Company or its Subsidiaries within the six (6) months prior to the Closing.
- Section 4.19. *Insurance*. Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect, (i) the Company and its Subsidiaries maintain insurance in such amounts and against such risks as the Company reasonably has determined to be prudent, taking into account the industries in which the Company and its Subsidiaries operate, and is sufficient to comply with Applicable Law, (ii) all insurance policies of the Company and its Subsidiaries are in full force and effect, except for any expiration thereof in accordance with the terms thereof, (iii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is in breach of, or default under, any such insurance policy and (iv) no written notice of cancelation or termination has been received with respect to any such insurance policy, other than in connection with ordinary renewals.

Section 4.20. *Environmental Matters*. Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect:

(a) as of the date hereof, (x) no action, claim, suit or proceeding is pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened by any Governmental Authority or other Person, in each case that alleges that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has violated or has any liability under any Environmental Law, and (y) there is no judgment, decree, injunction or order of any

Governmental Authority issued under any Environmental Law outstanding against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

- (b) the Company and its Subsidiaries are and, since January 1, 2014, have been in compliance with all Environmental Laws and all Environmental Permits; and
- (c) there has been no Release of any Hazardous Substance by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that has resulted in any obligation to conduct any remedial action of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under or pursuant to any Environmental Law; and
- (d) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any material indemnity obligation or other Contract with any person relating to obligations or liabilities under Environmental Laws or with respect to Hazardous Substances.

#### Section 4.21. Company Material Contracts.

- (a) Except for this Agreement and any Company Employee Plans, Section 4.21(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter contains a complete and correct list, as of the date of this Agreement, of each of the following Contracts (other than Contracts described only in paragraph (xii) below) entered into during the three-year period prior to the date hereof to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or which bind their respective properties or assets, and except as provided in this Section 4.21(a), to the extent that any such Contract is to be performed in whole or in part or is a Contract under which the Company or its Subsidiaries has any material obligations after the date hereof:
  - (i) each Contract that involves performance of services or delivery of goods, products or developmental, consulting or other services commitments by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and that either (A) provided for payments to the Company of \$500,000 or more in the Company's fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 or (B) provides for aggregate payments to the Company after the date hereof of \$2,000,000 or more, other than Contracts terminable by the Company or one of its Subsidiaries on no more than 120 days' notice or in connection with an annual renewal without liability or financial obligation to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;
  - (ii) each Contract that involves performance of services or delivery of goods, materials, supplies or equipment or developmental, consulting or other services commitments to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or the payment therefor by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and that either (A) provided for payments by the Company of \$500,000 or more in the Company's fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 or (B) provides for aggregate payments by the Company after the date hereof of \$2,000,000 or more, other than Contracts terminable by the Company or one of its Subsidiaries on no more than 120 days' notice or in connection with an annual renewal without liability or financial obligation to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;
  - (iii) each Contract that contains any provisions restricting the Company or any of its Subsidiaries from (A) competing or engaging in any activity or line of business or with any Person or in any area or pursuant to which any benefit or right is required to be given or lost as a result of so competing or engaging or which, pursuant to its terms,

could have such effect after the Closing solely as a result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or (B) hiring or soliciting for hire the employees or contractors of any Third Party (other than non-hire and non-solicitation provisions contained in confidentiality agreements), except in the case of each of clauses (A) and (B) for such restrictions that are not material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole;

- (iv) each Contract that (A) grants any exclusive rights to any Third Party, including any exclusive license or supply or distribution agreement or other exclusive rights or which, pursuant to its terms, could have such effect after the Closing solely as a result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, (B) grants any rights of first refusal or rights of first negotiation with respect to any product, service or Company Owned IP, (C) contains any provision that requires the purchase of all or any portion of the Company's or any of its Subsidiaries' requirements from any Third Party or (D) grants "most favored nation" rights, except in the case of each of clauses (A), (B), (C) and (D) for such rights and provisions that are not material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole;
- (v) each Contract pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is granting or is granted any license to Intellectual Property (other than nonexclusive licenses granted in the ordinary course of business of the Company and its Subsidiaries) consistent with past practice, except for (a) Contracts with current and former employees, contractors, or consultants of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (b) nondisclosure agreements, (c) licenses for Open Source Materials, (d) Contracts for "shrink wrap" and other widely available commercial software or services and (e) any other agreements that are not material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole;
- (vi) each Contract relating to indebtedness for borrowed money (whether incurred, assumed, guaranteed or secured by any asset), except any such agreement (A) with an aggregate outstanding principal amount not exceeding \$500,000 or (B) between or among any of the Company and its Subsidiaries:
- (vii) each Contract pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party that creates or grants a material Lien on properties or other assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, other than any Permitted Liens;
- (viii) each Contract under which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has, directly or indirectly, made any loan, capital contribution to, or other investment in, any Person (except for the Company or any of its Subsidiaries), other than (A) extensions of credit in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and (B) investments in marketable securities in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (ix) each Contract under which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has any obligations (including indemnification obligations) which have not been satisfied or performed (other than confidentiality obligations) relating to the acquisition or disposition of all or any portion of any business (whether by merger, sale of shares, sale of assets or otherwise) for consideration in excess of \$500,000, except for acquisitions or

dispositions of inventory, properties and other assets in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

- (x) each partnership, joint venture or other similar Contract or arrangement that is material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole;
- (xi) each Contract entered into since January 1, 2016 in connection with the settlement or other resolution of any action or proceeding under which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries have any continuing obligations, liabilities or restrictions that are material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or that involved payment by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of more than \$500,000; and
- (xii) each Contract required to be filed by the Company pursuant to Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K under the 1933 Act that is not otherwise required to be disclosed pursuant to paragraphs (i) through (xi) above.
- (b) Except as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect, each Contract disclosed in Section 4.21(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter or required to be disclosed pursuant to Section 4.21(a) (each, a "Company Material Contract") (unless it has terminated or expired (in each case according to its terms)) is in full force and effect and is a legal, valid and binding agreement of the Company or its Subsidiary, as the case may be, and, to the knowledge of the Company, of each other party thereto, enforceable against the Company or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, and, to the knowledge of the Company, against the other party or parties thereto, in each case, in accordance with its terms except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium and other similar Applicable Law affecting creditors' rights generally and by general principles of equity. To the knowledge of the Company, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received, as of the date of this Agreement, any notice in writing to terminate or not renew, in whole or in part, any Company Material Contract. Except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, none of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or, to the knowledge of the Company, any other party thereto is in default or breach under the terms of any Company Material Contract and, to the knowledge of the Company, no event or circumstance has occurred that, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute any event of default thereunder.
  - (c) Copies of each Company Material Contract have been filed with the SEC or made available by the Company to Parent.

Section 4.22. *Customers and Suppliers* . Section 4.22(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter lists the ten largest customers of the Company and its Subsidiaries (determined on the basis of aggregate revenues recognized by the Company and its Subsidiaries over the four consecutive fiscal quarter period ended September 30, 2016) (each, a " Major Customer"). Section 4.22(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter lists the ten largest suppliers of the Company and its Subsidiaries (determined on the basis of aggregate purchases made by the Company and its Subsidiaries over the four consecutive fiscal quarter period ended September 30, 2016) (each, a " Major Supplier"). The Company has not received, as of the date of this Agreement, any

notice in writing from any Major Customer or Major Supplier that it intends to terminate, or not renew, its relationship with the Company or its Subsidiaries.

Section 4.23. Compliance with Anti-Corruption and Export Control Laws.

- (a) Since January 1, 2013, none of the Company or its Subsidiaries, or to the knowledge of the Company, any director, officer, employee, agent or other person acting on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has, violated, or is aware of any action taken that would result in a violation of, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, the UK Bribery Act of 2010, or any applicable anti-corruption law (collectively, the "Anti-Corruption Laws"), nor (i) used any funds of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries for unlawful contributions, unlawful gifts, unlawful entertainment or other unlawful expenses relating to political activity; (ii) made any unlawful payment to foreign or domestic governmental officials or employees, or to foreign or domestic political parties or campaigns from funds of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; (iii) made any fraudulent entry on the books or records of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; or (iv) made any unlawful bribe, unlawful rebate, unlawful payoff, unlawful influence payment, unlawful kickback or other unlawful payment to any person, private or public, regardless of form, whether in money, property or services, to obtain favorable treatment in securing business to obtain special concessions for the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or to influence any act or decision of a foreign government official or other person on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. No proceeding by or before any Governmental Authority involving the Company, any Subsidiary of the Company or any Affiliate of the Company, or any of their directors, officers, employees, agents or other persons acting on their behalf, with respect to any Anti-Corruption Law is pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened, nor have any disclosures been submitted to any Governmental Authority with respect to violations of any Anti-Corruption Law by any such person since January 1, 2013.
- (b) Since January 1, 2013, the Company and each of its Subsidiaries has conducted its import and export transactions in accordance in all material respects with all applicable U.S. import, export and re-export laws and all other applicable import, export and re-export laws in other countries in which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries conduct business, including the Arms Export Control Act, the International Traffic in Arms Regulations, the Export Administration Regulations and executive orders and laws implemented by OFAC.
- (c) Since January 1, 2013, the Company and its Subsidiaries have obtained all material consents, orders and declarations from, provided all material notices to, and made all material filings with, all Governmental Authorities required for (i) the export, import and re-export of its products, services, software and technologies, and (ii) releases of technologies and software to foreign nationals located in the U.S. and abroad (the "Export Approvals"), and each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is and, since January 1, 2013, has been in compliance in all material respects with the terms of all Export Approvals. There are no pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened, claims against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to such Export Approvals.

Section 4.24. Finders' Fees. Except for Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, there is no investment banker, broker, finder or other intermediary that has been

retained by or is authorized to act on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries who is entitled to any fee or commission from the Company or any of its Affiliates in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

- Section 4.25. *Opinion of Financial Advisor.* The Company has received the opinion of Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, financial advisor to the Company, to the effect that, as of the date of this Agreement, the Merger Consideration to be received in the Merger by holders of shares of Company Stock (other than Parent, Merger Subsidiary and holders of Appraisal Shares) is fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders. A signed copy of such opinion will be made available to Parent for information purposes only promptly following the date of this Agreement.
- Section 4.26. Available Cash. The Company and its Subsidiaries have, on a consolidated basis, at least \$180,000,000 of cash on hand held in the United States (the "Available Cash"). None of the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is party to any Contract that would materially restrict, impair or impose any material delay, cost, liability or obligation with respect to the contribution of such Available Cash to the Payment Fund.
- Section 4.27. *Antitakeover Statutes*. Assuming the representations and warranties in Section 5.19 are true and correct, the Company has taken all action necessary to exempt this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby from any anti-takeover provision set forth in Delaware Law.
- Section 4.28. *No Additional Representations*. Except for the representations and warranties made by the Company in this Article 4, neither the Company nor any other Person makes any other express or implied representation or warranty with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or their respective business, operations, assets, liabilities, condition (financial or otherwise) or prospects or any information provided to Parent or Merger Subsidiary or any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives, notwithstanding the delivery or disclosure to Parent or any of its Affiliates or Representatives of any documentation, forecasts or other information in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, and each of Parent and Merger Subsidiary acknowledge the foregoing. Neither the Company nor any other Person will have or be subject to any liability to Parent and Merger Subsidiary, or any other Person resulting from the distribution to the Parent or any of its Affiliates or Representatives, or the Parent's (or any of or any of its Affiliates' or Representatives') use of, any such information, including any information, documents, projections, forecasts, management presentations in expectation of the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereunder or other material made available to them by the Company or its Representatives, unless any such information is expressly included in a representation or warranty contained in this Article 4.

## ARTICLE 5 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUBSIDIARY

Subject to Section 11.05, except as disclosed in the Specified Parent SEC Documents (excluding any disclosures set forth in any "risk factor" or "forward-looking statements" sections) or as set forth in the Parent Disclosure Letter, Parent and Merger Subsidiary jointly and severally represent and warrant to the Company that:

#### Section 5.01. *Corporate Existence and Power.*

- (a) Each of Parent and Merger Subsidiary is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation.
- (b) Each of Parent and Merger Subsidiary has all corporate powers and all governmental licenses, authorizations, Permits, consents and approvals required to carry on its business as currently conducted, except for those powers, licenses, authorizations, Permits, consents and approvals the absence of which would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect. Parent is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation and (where applicable and recognized) is in good standing in each jurisdiction where such qualification is necessary, except for those jurisdictions where failure to be so qualified would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect. Since the date of its incorporation, Merger Subsidiary has not engaged in any activities other than in connection with or as contemplated by this Agreement. Parent owns beneficially and of record all of the outstanding capital stock of Merger Subsidiary.
- (c) Parent has heretofore made available to the Company complete and correct copies of the certificates of incorporation and bylaws of Parent and Merger Subsidiary as currently in effect.

### Section 5.02. Corporate Authorization .

- (a) The execution, delivery and performance by Parent and Merger Subsidiary of this Agreement and the consummation by Parent and Merger Subsidiary of the transactions contemplated hereby are within the corporate powers of Parent and Merger Subsidiary and have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action. Parent, as sole stockholder of Merger Subsidiary, has approved and adopted this Agreement. Assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the Company, this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding agreement of each of Parent and Merger Subsidiary, enforceable against each of Parent and Merger Subsidiary in accordance with its terms (subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium and other laws affecting creditors' rights generally and general principles of equity).
- (b) Parent's Board of Directors has (i) determined that this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby (including the issuance of Parent Common Stock to the holders of Company Stock and Company RSUs in connection with Merger) are fair to and in the best interests of the Parent's stockholders and (ii) approved the issuance of Parent Common Stock to the holders of Company Stock and Company RSUs in connection with Merger. The board of directors of Merger Subsidiary has adopted a resolution approving, and declaring it advisable that the stockholders of Subsidiary approve, this Agreement (including the Merger on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement). The stockholder of Merger Subsidiary has adopted a resolution approving and declaring advisable this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby (including the Merger on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement).

- (c) No approval, consent or vote of the stockholders of Parent or any of its affiliates or the holders of any other securities of Parent or any of its affiliates (equity or otherwise), is required by any applicable Law, the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of Parent or any of its affiliates or the applicable rules of the any exchange on which securities of Parent or any of its affiliates are traded, in order for Parent or any of its affiliates to consummate or effect the transactions contemplated by this Agreement including the Merger, the issuance of the shares of Parent Common Stock in connection with the Merger.
- Section 5.03. Governmental Authorization. The execution, delivery and performance by Parent and Merger Subsidiary of this Agreement and the consummation by Parent and Merger Subsidiary of the transactions contemplated hereby require no action by or in respect of, or filing with, any Governmental Authority, other than (a) the filing of a certificate of merger with respect to the Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and appropriate documents with the relevant authorities of other states in which Parent is qualified to do business, (b) compliance with any applicable requirements of the HSR Act and Foreign Antitrust Laws, (c) compliance with any applicable requirements of the 1933 Act, the 1934 Act and any other state or federal securities laws (including, without limitation, the filing with the SEC of the Proxy Statement/Prospectus and the filing and declaration of effectiveness of the Form S-4 in which the Proxy Statement/Prospectus shall be included), (d) compliance with any applicable rules of Nasdaq and (e) any actions or filings the absence of which would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- Section 5.04. *Non-contravention.* The execution, delivery and performance by Parent and Merger Subsidiary of this Agreement, as applicable, and the consummation by Parent and Merger Subsidiary of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not (a) contravene, conflict with, or result in any violation or breach of any provision of the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of Parent or Merger Subsidiary, (b) assuming compliance with the matters referred to in Section 5.03, contravene, conflict with or result in a violation or breach of any provision of any Applicable Law, (c) assuming compliance with the matters referred to in Section 5.03, require any consent or other action by any Person under, constitute a default, or an event that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default, under, or cause or permit the termination, cancellation, acceleration or other change of any right or obligation or the loss of any benefit to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is entitled under any provision of any agreement or other instrument binding upon Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or any license, franchise, permit, certificate, approval or other similar authorization by which any asset of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is bound or (d) result in the creation or imposition of any Lien (other than Permitted Liens) on any asset of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, except, in the case of each of clauses (b) through (d), as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.05. Capitalization.

(a) The authorized capital stock of Parent consists of 120,000,000 shares of Parent Common Stock and 500,000 shares of preferred stock, \$0.01 par value per share (the "**Parent Preferred Stock**"). As of 5:00 p.m., California time, on January 31, 2017, there were (i) 40,564,112 shares of Parent Common Stock outstanding, (ii) no shares of Parent Preferred Stock

outstanding, (iii) an aggregate of 1,574,050 shares of Parent Common Stock subject to outstanding employee stock options (the "Parent Stock Options"), (iv) an aggregate of 643,143 shares of Parent Common Stock subject to outstanding restricted stock units (the "Parent RSUs"), (v) 6,298,871 shares of Parent Common Stock were reserved for issuance under Parent's 2010 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended) and 2013 Inducement Stock Incentive Plan (as amended) (such plans, the "Parent Stock Plans") (including upon exercise of the Parent Stock Options and Parent RSUs), (vi) 666,564 shares were reserved for issuance under Parent's Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended, (vii) 113,300 shares were held by Parent in its treasury and (viii) based upon the initial conversion ratio for such notes, 8,618,100 shares of Parent Common Stock issuable upon the conversion of all outstanding convertible notes of Parent, including the 2.70% Convertible Senior Notes due 2023 of Parent. Except as set forth in this Section 5.05(a) and for changes since 5:00 p.m., California time, on January 31, 2017 resulting from the exercise of Parent Stock Options, settlement of Parent RSUs outstanding on such date or the grant of stock-based compensation to directors or employees, as of the date hereof, there are no Parent Securities outstanding. All outstanding shares of capital stock of Parent have been duly authorized and validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and free of preemptive rights. The authorized capital stock of Merger Subsidiary consists of 100 shares of common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, all of which are validly issued and outstanding. All of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Merger Subsidiary is, and at the Effective Time will be, owned by Parent or a direct or indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Parent. Merger Subsidiary has outstanding no option, warrant, right, or any other agreement pursuant to which any person other than Parent may acquire any equity security of Merger Subsidiary.

- (b) Except as set forth in this Section 5.05 and for changes since 5:00 p.m., California time, on January 31, 2017 resulting from the exercise of Parent Stock Options, settlement of Parent RSUs outstanding on such date or the grant of stock-based compensation to directors or employees, there are no (i) outstanding shares of capital stock or other voting securities of or ownership interests in the Parent, (ii) securities of Parent convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock or other voting securities of Parent, (iii) warrants, calls, options or other rights to acquire from Parent or other obligation of Parent to issue, any capital stock, voting securities or securities convertible into or exchangeable for capital stock or voting securities of Parent or (iv) restricted shares, stock appreciation rights, performance units, contingent value rights, "phantom" stock or similar securities or rights that are derivative of, or provide economic benefits based, directly or indirectly, on the value or price of, any capital stock of or voting securities of Parent (the items in clauses (i) through (iv) being referred to collectively as the "Parent Securities"). There are no outstanding obligations of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any of the Parent Securities.
- (c) The shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued as part of the Merger Consideration have been duly authorized and, when issued and delivered in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, will have been validly issued and will be fully paid and nonassessable and the issuance thereof is not subject to any preemptive or other similar right.

Section 5.06. *Subsidiaries*. Each Subsidiary of Parent has been duly organized, is validly existing and (where applicable) in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization and has all organizational powers and all governmental licenses, authorizations, Permits, consents and approvals required to carry on its business as currently conducted, except

for those powers, licenses, authorizations, Permits, consents and approvals the absence of which would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect. Each such Subsidiary of Parent is duly qualified to do business as a foreign entity and (where applicable) is in good standing in each jurisdiction where such qualification is necessary, except for those jurisdictions where failure to be so qualified would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.07. SEC Filings and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

- (a) Parent has on a timely basis filed with or furnished to the SEC all reports, schedules, forms, statements, prospectuses, registration statements and other documents required to be filed with or furnished to the SEC by Parent since January 1, 2014 (collectively, together with any exhibits and schedules thereto and other information incorporated therein, the "Parent SEC Documents").
- (b) No Subsidiary of Parent is required to file or furnish any report, statement, schedule, form or other document with, or make any other filing with, or furnish any other material to, the SEC or make any similar securities law filing with any other Governmental Authority.
- (c) As of its filing date (or, if amended or superseded by a filing prior to the date hereof, on the date of such filing), each Parent SEC Document filed pursuant to the 1934 Act, complied in all material respects with the requirements of the 1934 Act and did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
- (d) Each Parent SEC Document that is a registration statement, as amended or supplemented, if applicable, filed pursuant to the 1933 Act, as of the date such registration statement or amendment became effective, complied in all material respects with the requirements of the 1933 Act and did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.
- Section 5.08. Financial Statements. The audited consolidated financial statements and unaudited consolidated quarterly financial statements (in each case, including the related notes) of Parent included or incorporated by reference in the Parent SEC Documents in all material respects (i) have been prepared in conformity with GAAP applied on a consistent basis for the periods then ended (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto) and (ii) fairly present the consolidated financial position of Parent and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of the dates thereof and their consolidated results of operations and cash flows for the periods then ended (except, in the case of any unaudited quarterly financial statements with respect to clause (i) or (ii), as permitted by Form 10-Q of the SEC or other rules and regulations of the SEC and subject to normal year-end audit adjustments).

Section 5.09. *Information Supplied*. The information supplied or to be supplied by Parent in writing for inclusion in the Form S-4 (including the Proxy Statement/Prospectus)

will not, at the time the Form S-4 (and any amendment or supplement thereto) is declared effective, on the date that the Proxy Statement/Prospectus is first mailed to the stockholders of the Company, or on the date of the Company Stockholder Meeting, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading, except that no representation or warranty is made by Parent with respect to statements made therein based upon information supplied by the Company or any of its Representatives or advisors specifically for use or incorporation by reference therein.

#### Section 5.10. Absence of Certain Changes.

- (a) From the Company Balance Sheet Date until the date hereof, (i) the business of Parent and its Subsidiaries has been conducted in all material respects in the ordinary course consistent with past practice and (ii) there has not been any event, occurrence, development of a state of circumstances or facts that has had and continues to have or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) From the Company Balance Sheet Date until the date hereof, there has not been any action taken by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries that, if taken during the period from the date of this Agreement through the Effective Time without the Company's consent, would constitute a breach of Section 7.01(a), Section 7.01(b) (ii), Section 7.01(d), Section 7.01(e), Section 7.01(f) or, to the extent applicable to such sections, Section 7.01(h).
- Section 5.11. *No Undisclosed Liabilities*. There are no liabilities or obligations of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries of any kind whatsoever, whether accrued, contingent, absolute, determined, determinable or otherwise and whether due or to become due, other than: (i) liabilities or obligations disclosed, reflected or reserved against in the Parent Balance Sheet; (ii) liabilities or obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice since the Parent Balance Sheet Date; (iii) liabilities or obligations incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby; (iv) liabilities or obligations that would not be required to be reflected or reserved against in the Company Balance Sheet under GAAP and (v) liabilities or obligations that would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

### Section 5.12. Litigation.

- (a) As of the date hereof, there is no action, suit, investigation or proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of Parent, threatened against Parent, any of its Subsidiaries or any present or former officer, director or employee of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries in their capacity as such for whom Parent or any of its Subsidiaries may be liable before (or, in the case of threatened actions, suits, investigations or proceedings, that would be before) or by any Governmental Authority or arbitrator that are material to Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.
- (b) To the knowledge of the Parent, no employee of the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries has provided or is providing information to any law enforcement agency regarding the commission or possible commission of any crime or the violation or possible violation of any

applicable Law of the type described in Section 806 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act by the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, except as would not reasonably be expected to be material to Parent and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole. Neither the Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries nor, to the knowledge of the Parent, any director, officer, auditor, accountant, consultant or authorized representative of the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries has discharged, demoted, suspended, threatened, harassed or in any other manner discriminated against an employee of the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries in the terms and conditions of employment because of any lawful act of such employee described in Section 806 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Section 5.13. Compliance with Laws and Court Orders; Permits. Parent and each of its Subsidiaries are and, since January 1, 2014, have been in compliance with, and to the knowledge of Parent are not under investigation by any Governmental Authority with respect to, Applicable Law, except for failures to comply or violations that would not reasonably be expected to be material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. Parent and each of its Subsidiaries has in effect all Permits which are material to Parent and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, and necessary for it conduct its business as presently conducted, except for such Permits the absence of which have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect. Parent is not an "investment company" under the Investment Company Act of 1940.

#### Section 5.14. Intellectual Property.

- (a) Parent and/or its Subsidiaries have valid title and ownership interest in the material Parent Owned IP, free and clear of any Liens (other than Permitted Liens).
- (b) To the knowledge of Parent, Parent and its Subsidiaries own, license or otherwise have the right to use all Intellectual Property used in the operation of their businesses as currently conducted, except as would not reasonably be excepted to result in, a material liability for or restriction on the Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.
- (c) As of the date of this Agreement, there are no legal disputes or claims pending or, to the knowledge of Parent, threatened alleging infringement, misappropriation or any other violation of any Intellectual Property of any Third Party by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries that would reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (d) To the knowledge of Parent, none of Parent or its Subsidiaries has infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated any Intellectual Property of any Person, except for such infringements, misappropriations or violations that would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (e) To the knowledge of Parent, no Parent Owned IP has been infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated by any Third Party, except for such infringements, misappropriations or violations that would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

#### Section 5.15. Taxes.

- (a) All material Tax Returns required by Applicable Law to have been filed with any Taxing Authority by, or on behalf of, Parent or any of its Subsidiaries have been filed in accordance with all Applicable Law, and all such material Tax Returns were, at the time of filing, true and complete in all material respects.
- (b) Parent and each of its Subsidiaries has paid (or has had paid on its behalf) or has withheld and remitted to the appropriate Taxing Authority all material Taxes required to have been paid, other than such Taxes that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, for which adequate reserves have been established on the Parent financial statements in accordance with GAAP.
- (c) There is no claim, audit, action, suit, proceeding or investigation now pending or, to Parent's knowledge, threatened in writing against or with respect to Parent or its Subsidiaries in respect of any material amount of Tax or material Tax asset.

#### Section 5.16. Employee Benefit Plans.

- (a) "Parent Employee Plan" means each "employee benefit plan," as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA and each other material employment, severance or similar Contract, plan, practice, arrangement or policy providing for compensation, bonuses, profit-sharing, stock option or other stock-related rights or other forms of incentive or deferred compensation, vacation benefits, insurance (including any self-insured arrangements), health or medical benefits, employee assistance program, disability or sick leave benefits, and post-employment or retirement benefits (including compensation, pension, health, medical or life insurance benefits) which is maintained, administered or contributed to by the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries and with respect to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries has any liability, other than (i) any Multiemployer Plan and (ii) any plan, policy, program, arrangement or understanding mandated by Applicable Law.
- (b) Neither Parent nor any of its ERISA Affiliates sponsors, maintains or contributes to, or has in the past six years sponsored, maintained or contributed to, any Parent Employee Plan subject to Title IV of ERISA.
  - (c) Neither Parent nor any of its ERISA Affiliates contributes to, or has in the past six years contributed to, any Multiemployer Plan.
- Section 5.17. *Financing*. Assuming the accuracy of the representations and warranties of the Company in Section 4.26, Parent has as of the date hereof and will have at or promptly after the Effective Time cash or other sources of immediately available funds in an amount, together with the Available Cash, sufficient to enable Parent to satisfy all of Parent's and Merger Subsidiary's obligations under this Agreement (including the consummation of the Merger pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and the payment of the Merger Consideration for all of the shares of Company Stock, the payment of all consideration payable pursuant to Section 2.06, repayments of indebtedness and the payment of all related fees and expenses of Parent, Merger Subsidiary and their respective Representatives pursuant to this Agreement).
- Section 5.18. *Certain Arrangements* . Other than the Support Agreement and to the knowledge of Parent, there are no Contracts or commitments to enter into Contracts (a)

between Parent, Merger Subsidiary or any of their Affiliates, on the one hand, and any director, officer or employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, on the other hand, or (b) pursuant to which any stockholder of the Company would be entitled to receive consideration of a different amount or nature than the Merger Consideration or pursuant to which any stockholder of the Company agrees to vote or approve this Agreement or the Merger or agrees to vote against any Superior Proposal.

Section 5.19. Ownership of Company Securities; DGCL Section 203. Parent and its subsidiaries do not "own" (as defined in Section 203 of the DGCL), or "beneficially own" (within the meaning of Regulation 13D promulgated under the 1934 Act), any shares of Company Stock, Company Securities or other securities of the Company or any options, warrants or other rights to acquire Company Stock, Company Securities or other securities of, or any other economic interest (through derivative securities or otherwise) in, the Company. Neither Parent nor any of its "affiliates" or "associates" (each as defined in Section 203 of the DGCL) is, or has been at any time with the last three years, an "interested stockholder" as defined in Section 203 of the DGCL. Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has taken, or authorized or permitted any its Representatives to take, any action that would cause Parent or any of its "affiliates" or "associates" (each as defined in Section 203 of the DGCL or otherwise render Section 251 of the DGCL inapplicable to the Merger.

Section 5.20. *Finders' Fees.* Except for Barclays Capital Inc., there is no investment banker, broker, finder or other intermediary that has been retained by or is authorized to act on behalf of Parent, Merger Subsidiary or any of their respective Subsidiaries who is entitled to any fee or commission from Parent, Merger Subsidiary or any of their respective Affiliates in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 5.21. *No Additional Representations*. Except for the representations and warranties made by the Parent in this Article 5, neither the Parent nor any other Person makes any other express or implied representation or warranty with respect to the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or their respective business, operations, assets, liabilities, condition (financial or otherwise) or prospects or any information provided to the Company or any of its respective Affiliates or Representatives, notwithstanding the delivery or disclosure to the Company or any of its Affiliates or Representatives of any documentation, forecasts or other information in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, and the Company acknowledges the foregoing. Neither the Parent nor any other Person will have or be subject to any liability to the Company, or any other Person resulting from the distribution to the Company or any of its Affiliates or Representatives, or the Company's (or any of or any of its Affiliates' or Representatives') use of, any such information, including any information, documents, projections, forecasts, management presentations in expectation of the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereunder or other material made available to them by the Parent or its Representatives, unless any such information is expressly included in a representation or warranty contained in this Article 5.

## ARTICLE 6 COVENANTS OF THE COMPANY

Section 6.01. Conduct of the Company. Except for matters set forth in Section 6.01 of the Company Disclosure Letter, as contemplated by this Agreement, as required by Applicable Law or with the prior written consent of Parent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), from and after the date hereof and prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, conduct its business in the ordinary course consistent with past practice and use its reasonable best efforts to (i) preserve intact its present business organization, (ii) keep available the services of its directors, officers and key employees and (iii) maintain satisfactory relationships with its customers, lenders, suppliers and others having material business relationships with it. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, except for matters set forth in Section 6.01 of the Company Disclosure Letter, as contemplated by this Agreement, as required by Applicable Law or with the prior written consent of Parent between the date hereof and the Effective Time, as applicable, the Company shall not, nor shall it permit any of its Subsidiaries to:

- (a) (i) amend the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of the Company or (ii) amend in any material respect the comparable organizational documents of any Subsidiary of the Company;
- (b) (i) split, combine or reclassify any shares of its capital stock or propose the issuance of any other securities in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for shares of its capital stock, (ii) declare, set aside or pay any dividends on, or make any other distributions (whether in cash, stock, property or otherwise) in respect of, or enter into any agreement with respect to the voting of, any capital stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, other than dividends and distributions by a direct or indirect wholly owned Subsidiary of the Company to its parent or (iii) redeem, repurchase or otherwise acquire any Company Securities or any Company Subsidiary Securities, other than (A) the acquisition by the Company of shares of Company Stock in connection with the surrender of shares of Company Stock by holders of Company Stock Options in order to pay the exercise price thereof, (B) the withholding of shares of Company Stock to satisfy Tax obligations with respect to Company Equity Awards granted pursuant to the Company Stock Plans and (C) to the extent permitted by Section 6.01(c), as required by any Company Employee Plan as in effect on the date of this Agreement;
- (c) (i) issue, deliver, sell, grant, pledge, transfer, subject to any Lien (other than Permitted Liens) or otherwise encumber or dispose of, or authorize the issuance, deliverance, sale, grant, pledge, transfer, subjection to any Lien (other than Permitted Liens), encumbrance or disposition of, any Company Securities or Company Subsidiary Securities, or grant any Company Equity Awards (or other equity or equity-linked incentive awards), other than the issuance of (A) any shares of Company Stock upon the exercise of Company Stock Options or settlement of Company RSUs that are outstanding on the date of this Agreement, in each case in accordance with their terms on the date of this Agreement, (B) the issuance of shares of Company Stock as required by any Company Employee Plan as in effect on the date of this Agreement, and (C) any Company Subsidiary Securities to the Company or any other Subsidiary

of the Company, or (ii) amend any term of any Company Security or any Company Subsidiary Security;

- (d) incur any capital expenditures or any obligations or liabilities in respect thereof, except for (i) those contemplated by the capital expenditure budget as set forth in Section 6.01(d) of the Company Disclosure Letter and (ii) any unbudgeted capital expenditures not to exceed \$500,000 in the aggregate, in each case, for each fiscal quarterly period;
- (e) adopt a plan or agreement of, or resolutions providing for or authorizing, complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization, each with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;
- (f) acquire (by merger, consolidation, acquisition of stock or assets or otherwise) or lease, directly or indirectly, any properties, interests or businesses, or any assets or securities in connection with the acquisition of properties, interests or businesses, if the aggregate amount of consideration paid or transferred by the Company and its Subsidiaries would exceed \$1,000,000;
- (g) (i) sell, lease, exclusively license, exchange, swap or otherwise transfer or dispose of, or create or incur any Lien (other than Permitted Liens) on, any of the Company's or its Subsidiaries' assets, properties, interests or businesses if the aggregate amount of consideration paid or transferred to the Company and its Subsidiaries would exceed \$1,000,000 for each fiscal quarterly period, or (ii) sell or exclusively license any of the material Company Owned IP, other than, in each of clauses (i) and (ii), (x) pursuant to existing Contracts or commitments that have been disclosed to Parent prior to the date of this Agreement, or (y) sales of Company products and services, inventory or used equipment in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (h) (i) repurchase, prepay, assume, guarantee, incur or otherwise become liable for any indebtedness for borrowed money, including by way of a guarantee or an issuance or sale of debt securities, or issue or sell options, warrants, calls or other rights to acquire any debt securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, enter into any "keep well" or other Contract to maintain any financial statement or similar condition of another Person, or enter into any arrangement having the economic effect of any of the foregoing (other than accounts payable in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice), or (ii) make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any other Person (other than (A) to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business and advances of expenses to employees in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice);
- (i) enter into any Contract that contains any provisions restricting the Company or any of its Affiliates from competing or engaging in any material respect in any activity or line of business or with any Person or in any area or pursuant to which any material benefit or right is required to be given or lost as a result of so competing or engaging, or which, pursuant to its terms, would reasonably be expected to have such effect after the Closing solely as a result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or enter into, modify, or amend any Contract so as to require disclosure of such Contract pursuant to Section 4.21(a)(vi);

(j) except (w) as required by the terms of any Company Employee Plan as in effect on the date of this Agreement, (x) as required by Applicable
Law, (y) as disclosed on Section 6.01(j) of the Company Disclosure Letter: (i) hire any new employee to whom a written offer of employment has not previously
been made and accepted prior to the date of this Agreement other than the hiring of any non-officer employees in the ordinary course of business with total
compensation not exceeding \$125,000 individually, (ii) grant to any current or former director, officer, employee or consultant of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries any increase in compensation, bonus or benefits (including severance benefits) except as may be required pursuant to Contracts in effect on the date
hereof, (iii) make any Person a participant in or party to any severance plan or arrangement or grant any increase in any severance, retention or change in control
benefits, or (iv) establish, adopt, enter into or amend any Company Employee Plan (other than entering into offer letters that contemplate "at will" employment and
that do not provide for retention, change in control, severance or termination benefits) or collective bargaining agreement;

- (k) make any change in any financial accounting principles, methods or practices, in each case except for any such change required by GAAP or Applicable Law, including Regulation S-X under the 1934 Act;
- (l) (i) institute, pay, discharge, compromise, settle or satisfy (or agree to do any of the preceding with respect to) any actions, suits, investigations or proceedings before (or, in the case of threatened actions, suits, investigations or proceedings, that would be before) any Governmental Authority, in excess of \$250,000 in any individual case, other than as required by their terms as in effect on the date of this Agreement and other than with respect to any such actions, suits, investigations or proceedings reserved against on the Company Balance Sheet (for amounts not in excess of such reserves); provided that the payment of money) to be performed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries following the Closing, or (ii) waive, relinquish, release, grant, transfer or assign any right in connection with any such actions, suits, investigations or proceedings with a value of more than \$500,000 in any individual case; or
- (m) make or change any material Tax election, file any amended Tax Return affecting any material Tax liability or attribute, settle or compromise any Tax audit or other proceeding for an amount materially in excess of the amount accrued or reserved therefor in the Company's financial statements included in the Company SEC Documents, compromise or surrender any material Tax refund or credit, change any method of Tax accounting, in each case other than as required by Law;
- (n) (i) modify, amend, terminate or waive any material rights under any Company Material Contract, other than in the ordinary course consistent with past practice, or (ii) enter into any contract that, if in effect on the date hereof, would have constituted a Company Material Contract, other than in the ordinary course consistent with past practice; or
  - (o) agree, authorize or commit to do any of the foregoing;

provided, however, that Parent may not unreasonably withhold, condition or delay its consent to any of the actions described in Sections 6.01(d), 6.01(g), 6.01(h), 6.01(l), 6.01(m) or 6.01(n). Nothing contained in this Agreement shall give the Parent, directly or indirectly, rights to control or direct the Company's operations prior to the Effective Time. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall exercise, consistent with the terms of this Agreement, complete control and supervision of its and its Subsidiaries' operations.

Section 6.02. Company Stockholder Meeting. The Company shall cause a meeting of its stockholders (the "Company Stockholder Meeting") to be duly called and held as soon as reasonably practicable following clearance of the Proxy Statement/Prospectus by the SEC for the purpose of voting on the approval and adoption of this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby. Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, the Company may adjourn or postpone the Company Stockholder Meeting (i) after consultation with Parent, to the extent necessary to ensure that any required supplement or amendment to the Proxy Statement/Prospectus is provided to the Company's stockholders within a reasonable amount of time in advance of the Company Stockholder Meeting, (ii) as otherwise required by Applicable Law or (iii) if as of the time for which the Company Stockholder Meeting is scheduled as set forth in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus, there are insufficient shares of Company Stock represented (in person or by proxy) to constitute a quorum necessary to conduct the business of the Company Stockholder Meeting. Subject to Section 6.03, the Board of Directors of the Company shall (A) recommend approval and adoption of this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby by the Company's stockholders, (B) use its reasonable best efforts to obtain the Company Stockholder Approval and (C) otherwise comply with all legal requirements applicable to such meeting.

Section 6.03. *Company Acquisition Proposals*.

Subject to Section 6.03(b), Section 6.03(c) Section 6.03(d) and Section 6.03(f), (i) the Company shall not, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries and its and their respective officers, directors, employees, investment bankers, attorneys, accountants or other advisors retained by the Company or its Subsidiaries (collectively, "Company Representatives") not to, directly or indirectly, (A) solicit, initiate or knowingly facilitate or encourage the submission of any Acquisition Proposal, (B) enter into or participate in any discussions or negotiations with, or furnish any non-public information or access relating to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to, any Third Party with respect to an Acquisition Proposal or any inquiry or proposal that could reasonably be expected to lead to an Acquisition Proposal or (C) enter into any agreement in principle, letter of intent, memorandum of understanding, merger agreement, acquisition agreement or other similar agreement relating to an Acquisition Proposal and (ii) except as otherwise provided in this Section 6.03, the Board of Directors of the Company shall not fail to make and shall not withdraw, withhold, qualify or modify, or resolve to or publicly propose to withdraw, withhold, qualify or modify in a manner adverse to Parent, the Company Board Recommendation, or approve, endorse or recommend or publicly propose to approve, endorse or recommend, an Acquisition Proposal (any of the foregoing in this clause (ii), an "Adverse Recommendation Change"; provided, that, for the avoidance of doubt, none of (1) actions contemplated by Section 6.03(a) or 6.03(b), (2) the determination by the Board of Directors in accordance with this Section 6.03 that an Acquisition Proposal constitutes a Superior Proposal or (3) the delivery by the Company of the notices to Parent required by this Section 6.03 shall, in

and of itself, constitute an Adverse Recommendation Change). The Company will be liable for any breach of this Section 6.03 by any Company Representatives as if such breach had been committed by the Company. The Company shall immediately cease any discussions or negotiations with any person with respect to an Acquisition Proposal or any inquiry or proposal that could reasonably be expected to lead to an Acquisition Proposal and promptly after the date hereof terminate access to any Third Party or its Representatives to any electronic data room maintained by the Company or its Subsidiaries with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and request that any such person promptly return or destroy all confidential information concerning the Company and its Subsidiaries to the extent permitted pursuant to a confidentiality agreement with such person. The Company and its Subsidiaries shall not release any Third Party from, or waive, amend or modify any provision of, or grant permission under, (x) any standstill provision in any agreement to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party except, with respect to clause (x), (A) to the extent that prior to the receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval the Board of Directors of the Company concludes in good faith, after consultation with its financial advisors and outside legal counsel, the failure to take such action would be reasonably likely to result in a breach of its fiduciary duties under Applicable Law or (B) to the extent that any standstill provision in any agreement to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party includes a "fallaway" or other similar provision that causes such standstill provision to be released, waived, modified or amended as a result of the Company entering into this Agreement in and of itself.

- (b) Notwithstanding Section 6.03(a), if at any time prior to obtaining the Company Stockholder Approval, the Company or any of the Company Representatives has received an unsolicited written, bona fide Acquisition Proposal from any Third Party that did not result from a breach of this Section 6.03 and that the Board of Directors of the Company determines in good faith, after consultation with its financial advisor and outside legal counsel, would reasonably be expected to result in a Superior Proposal, then the Company, directly or indirectly through the Company Representatives, may, on the terms provided in this Section 6.03, (i) engage in negotiations or discussions with such Third Party and its Representatives related to such written Acquisition Proposal, and (ii) furnish to such Third Party or its Representatives non-public information and access relating to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries pursuant to an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement; provided, that, prior to or concurrently with the time it is made available to such Third Party, the Company shall make available to Parent (including by notifying Parent that such information has been posted to an electronic data room to which Parent and its Representatives have access) any information relating to the Company or its Subsidiaries that is made available to such Third Party.
- (c) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, at any time prior to receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval, if the Company and the Company Representatives are in material compliance with Section 6.03, and if the Board of Directors of the Company determines in good faith, after consultation with outside legal counsel and taking into account the discussions with Parent outlined below, that the failure to take such action would be reasonably likely to result in a breach of its fiduciary duties under Applicable Law, the Board of Directors of the Company may, at any time prior to the receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval, make an Adverse Recommendation Change in response to any fact, event, change, development or set of circumstances that materially affects the business, financial

condition or results of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole that (A) does not involve or relate to an Acquisition Proposal or to Parent or any of its Affiliates or its or their respective Representatives and (B) (i) is not known and was not reasonably discoverable or foreseeable to the Board of Directors of the Company as of the date hereof or (ii) the consequences of which were not reasonably discoverable or foreseeable to the Board of Directors of the Company as of the date hereof (an "Intervening Event"); provided that in each case: (x) the Company provides Parent three (3) Business Days' prior written notice of its intention to take such action, which notice shall include reasonable detail with respect to any such facts, events, changes, developments or set of circumstances underlying such action; (y) during such three (3) Business Day period described in clause (x), the Company considers in good faith and discusses with Parent and its Representatives (if Parent desires to discuss) any adjustments or modifications to the terms of this Agreement; and (z) at the end of the three (3) Business Day period described in clause (x), the Board of Directors of the Company determines in good faith after consultation with its financial advisor and outside legal counsel (after taking into account any adjustments or modifications to the terms of this Agreement proposed in writing by Parent during the period described in clause (x)) that the failure to take such action would be reasonably likely to result in a breach of its fiduciary duties under Applicable Law, provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, any determination by the Company Board of Directors after the date of this Agreement that the per share Merger Consideration payable in the Merger is not sufficient shall not in and of itself constitute an Intervening Event and in no event shall such Intervening Event result from a change in the trading price of the Parent Common Stock or Company Common Stock (it being understood that the unde

- (d) In addition, nothing contained herein shall prevent the Board of Directors of the Company from (i) complying with Rule 14e-2(a), Rule 14d-9 or Item 1012(a) of Regulation M-A promulgated under the 1934 Act with regard to an Acquisition Proposal; or (ii) making any disclosure to the stockholders of the Company if the Board of Directors of the Company determines in good faith, after consultation with outside legal counsel, that the failure to take such action would be reasonably likely to result in a breach of its fiduciary duties under Applicable Law; provided, that in the case of the foregoing clauses (i) or (ii), any such action taken or statement made that contains an Adverse Recommendation Change shall be subject to the provisions of this Section 6.03.
- (e) The Company shall (i) notify Parent orally and in writing promptly (but in no event later than forty-eight (48) hours) after receipt by the Company of any Acquisition Proposal, which notice shall identify the Third Party making, and the material terms and conditions of, any such Acquisition Proposal and (ii) keep Parent reasonably informed promptly (but in no event later than forty-eight (48) hours) after any material developments, discussions or negotiations regarding any Acquisition Proposal and shall provide to Parent promptly (but in no event later than forty-eight (48) hours) after receipt thereof of copies of all proposed transaction agreements or proposal letters or similar materials (and any attachments, annexes, exhibits, schedules and other similar materials in connection therewith) sent or provided to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that describe any material terms or conditions of any Acquisition Proposal.

- (f) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, at any time prior to receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval, if the Board of Directors of the Company determines in good faith, after consultation with outside legal counsel and in response to an unsolicited, written, bona fide Acquisition Proposal that did not result from a breach of Section 6.03, that (i) such Acquisition Proposal constitutes a Superior Proposal and (ii) the failure to take such action would be reasonably likely to result in a breach of its fiduciary duties under Applicable Law, then the Board of Directors of the Company may make an Adverse Recommendation Change or cause the Company to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 10.01(d)(i) (provided that, substantially concurrently with such termination the Company enters into a definitive agreement with respect to such Superior Proposal (a "Company Acquisition Agreement")); provided, that, prior to taking any such action the Company has complied in all material respects with this Section 6.03(f). Further, the Board of Directors of the Company shall not make an Adverse Recommendation Change (or terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 10.01(d)(i)) pursuant to this Section 6.03(f) in response to an Acquisition Proposal, unless (i) the Company promptly notifies Parent in writing, at least three Business Days before taking such action, of the determination of the Board of Directors of the Company that such Acquisition Proposal constitutes a Superior Proposal and of its intention to take such action, attaching the most current version of the proposed agreement under which such Superior Proposal is proposed to be consummated and the identity of the Third Party making such Superior Proposal (it being understood that each time any material revision or material amendment to the terms of the Acquisition Proposal determined to be a Superior Proposal is made, the initial three (3) Business Day period shall be extended for an additional two (2) Business Days after notification of such material revision or material amendment in accordance with Section 6.03(e) and this Section 6.03(f) to Parent) and (ii) the Board of Directors of the Company (A) shall have considered in good faith and discussed with Parent (if Parent desires to discuss) any adjustments or modifications to this Agreement proposed by Parent and (B) shall have determined in good faith, at the end of the period set forth in clause (i) and after consultation with its outside legal counsel and financial advisor, that such Acquisition Proposal would continue to constitute a Superior Proposal if any adjustments or modifications to the terms of this Agreement proposed in writing by Parent were to be given effect. For the avoidance of doubt, any change to the financial or other material terms of a Superior Proposal shall require a new notice to Parent and a new two (2) Business Day period and discussions process under this Section 6.03(f).
- (g) The Board of Directors of the Company shall reaffirm publicly the Company Board Recommendation to the Company's stockholders within ten (10) Business Days of Parent's written request to do so, made at any time that an Acquisition Proposal has been made to the Company, has been publicly announced and is pending; provided that Parent shall be entitled to make such a written request for reaffirmation, and the Board of Directors of the Company shall only be required to make such reaffirmation, on only one occasion with respect to any one Acquisition Proposal (with each material revision or material amendment to the price or terms of such Acquisition Proposal triggering one additional Parent right to request reaffirmation).
  - (h) As used in this Agreement:
  - (i) "Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement" means a confidentiality agreement that contains provisions that are no less favorable in the aggregate to the

Company than those contained in the Confidentiality Agreement; *provided* that such confidentiality agreement may contain a less restrictive or no standstill restriction, in which case the Confidentiality Agreement shall be deemed to be amended to contain only such less restrictive provision, or to omit such provision, as applicable.

(ii) "Superior Proposal" means a bona fide, written Acquisition Proposal for at least a majority of the outstanding shares of Company Stock or at least a majority of the consolidated assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries and that the Board of Directors of the Company has determined in good faith, after consultation with its financial advisor and outside legal counsel, and taking into account all relevant terms and conditions of such Acquisition Proposal (including the timing and likelihood of consummation of such proposal, taking into account all legal, regulatory and other aspects of the proposal), would be reasonably likely to be consummated in accordance with its terms and that, if consummated, would result in a transaction more favorable to the Company's stockholders (solely in their capacity as such) from a financial point of view than the Merger (taking into account any irrevocable written proposal by Parent to amend the terms of this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.03(f)).

Section 6.04. Access to Information. From the date hereof until the Effective Time and subject to Applicable Law and the Confidentiality Agreement, the Company shall during normal business hours (a) give to Parent, its counsel, financial advisors, auditors and other authorized Representatives reasonable access during normal business hours to the offices, properties, books and records of such party and (b) instruct its employees, counsel, financial advisors, auditors and other authorized Representatives to reasonably cooperate with Parent in such access; provided, however, that Parent will not be permitted to conduct any environmental sampling or analysis without the Company's prior written consent. Any access pursuant to this Section 6.04 shall be conducted under supervision of appropriate personnel of the Company and in such manner as not to unreasonably interfere with the conduct of the business of the Company.

## ARTICLE 7 COVENANTS OF PARENT AND MERGER SUBSIDIARY

Section 7.01. Conduct of Parent . Parent shall not, and shall cause its Subsidiaries not to, from the date of this Agreement to the Effective Time, take any action or fail to take any action that is intended to, or would reasonably be expected to, individually or in the aggregate, prevent, materially delay or materially impede the ability of Parent and Merger Subsidiary to consummate the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Except for matters set forth in Section 7.01 of Parent Disclosure Letter, as contemplated by this Agreement, as required by Applicable Law or with the prior written consent of the Company (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), from and after the date hereof and prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, conduct its business in the ordinary course consistent with past practice and use its reasonable best efforts to (i) preserve intact its present business organization, (ii) keep available the services of its directors, officers and key employees and (iii) maintain satisfactory relationships with its customers, lenders, suppliers and others having material business relationships with it. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, except for matters set forth in Section 7.01 of Parent

Disclosure Letter, as contemplated by this Agreement, as required by Applicable Law or with the prior written consent of the Company (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), between the date hereof and the Effective Time, as applicable, Parent shall not, nor shall it permit any of its Subsidiaries to:

- (a) (i) amend in any material respect the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of Parent or (ii) amend in any material respect the comparable organizational documents of any Subsidiary of Parent;
- (b) (i) split, combine or reclassify any shares of its capital stock or (ii) declare, set aside or pay any dividends on, or make any other distributions (whether in cash, stock, property or otherwise) in respect of, or enter into any agreement with respect to the voting of, any capital stock of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, other than dividends and distributions by a direct or indirect wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent to its parent;
- (c) issue, deliver, grant or sell, or authorize the issuance, deliverance, grant or sale of, any Parent Securities other than the issuance of (i) any Parent Securities pursuant to any Parent Stock Plans, (ii) any shares of Parent Common Stock upon the exercise, settlement or conversion of any outstanding Parent Securities, (iii) the issuance of shares of Parent Stock as required or permitted by any Parent Employee Plan or (iv) any Parent Subsidiary Securities to Parent or any other Subsidiary of Parent;
- (d) adopt a plan or agreement of, or resolutions providing for or authorizing, complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization, each with respect to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (other than the dissolution of any inactive Subsidiary of Parent and reorganizations solely among Subsidiaries of Parent);
- (e) make any change in any financial accounting principles, methods or practices, in each case except for any such change required by GAAP or Applicable Law, including Regulation S-X under the 1934 Act;
- (f) merge or consolidate with any other Person or acquire a material amount of the stock or assets of any other Person or effect any business combination, recapitalization, stock issuance, reorganization or other similar transaction (other than the Merger) if such action would reasonably be expected to (i) materially delay, interfere with or prevent the Closing or (ii) materially change or materially alter the nature of the business of Parent conducted as of the date hereof;
- (g) engage in any action or activity that would require Parent to obtain the approval of its stockholders in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement prior to the Closing; or
  - (h) agree, authorize or commit to do any of the foregoing.

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall give the Company, directly or indirectly, rights to control or direct the Parent's operations prior to the Effective Time. Prior to the Effective Time, the Parent shall exercise, consistent with the terms of this Agreement, complete control and supervision of its and its Subsidiaries' operations.

Section 7.02. *Obligations of Merger Subsidiary*. Parent shall take all action necessary to cause Merger Subsidiary to perform its obligations under this Agreement and consummate the Merger on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement. Immediately after the execution and delivery of this Agreement, Parent, as the sole stockholder of Merger Subsidiary, shall approve and adopt this Agreement (including the Merger) in such capacity.

Section 7.03. *Parent Owned Shares.* Parent shall vote or cause to be voted all shares of Company Stock beneficially owned by it or any of its Affiliates in favor of approval of this Agreement at the Company Stockholder Meeting.

Section 7.04. *Indemnification and Insurance*. Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation, and the Surviving Corporation hereby agrees, as follows:

- (a) All rights to indemnification and exculpation from liabilities for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the Effective Time, and rights to advancement of expenses relating thereto now existing in favor of any Person who is or prior to the Effective Time becomes, or has been at any time prior to the date of this Agreement, a present or former director, officer, employee or agent (including as a fiduciary with respect to an employee benefit plan) of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective predecessors (each, an "Indemnified Person") as provided in the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, the Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, the organizational documents of any Subsidiary of the Company or any indemnification agreement, or other written agreement between the Company and an Indemnified Person containing any express indemnification provisions, between such Indemnified Person and the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall survive the Merger and, for a period of six (6) years, shall not be amended, repealed or otherwise modified in any manner that would adversely affect any right thereunder of any such Indemnified Person.
- (b) For six years after the Effective Time, Parent and the Surviving Corporation (jointly and severally) shall indemnify and hold harmless all Indemnified Persons to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware Law and any other Applicable Law in the event of any threatened or actual claim, suit, action, proceeding or investigation (a "Claim"), whether civil, criminal or administrative, based in whole or in part on, or arising in whole or in part out of, or pertaining to (i) the fact that the Indemnified Person is or was a director (including in a capacity as a member of any board committee), officer, employee or agent of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective predecessors or (ii) this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby, whether in any case asserted or arising before, on or after the Effective Time, against any losses, claims, damages, liabilities, costs, expenses (including reasonable attorney's fees and expenses in advance of the final disposition of any claim, suit, proceeding or investigation to each Indemnified Person to the fullest extent permitted by Law upon receipt of any undertaking required by Applicable Law), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement of or in connection with any such threatened or actual Claim. Neither Parent nor the Surviving Corporation shall settle, compromise or consent to the entry of any judgment in any threatened or actual Claim for which indemnification could be sought by an Indemnified Person hereunder, unless such settlement, compromise or consent includes an unconditional release of such Indemnified Person from all liability arising out of such Claim or such Indemnified Person otherwise consents in writing to such settlement, compromise or consent. Parent and the

Surviving Corporation shall cooperate with an Indemnified Person in the defense of any matter for which such Indemnified Person could seek indemnification hereunder.

- Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall, or if the Company is unable to, Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation as of the Effective Time to, obtain and fully pay the premium for the non-cancellable extension of the directors' and officers' liability coverage of the Company's existing directors' and officers' insurance policies and the Company's existing fiduciary liability insurance policies, in each case for a claims reporting or discovery period of at least six years from and after the Effective Time with respect to any claim related to any period of time at or prior to the Effective Time (including claims with respect to the adoption of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby) with terms, conditions, retentions and limits of liability that are no less favorable than the coverage provided under the Company's existing policies; provided that the Company shall give Parent a reasonable opportunity to participate in the selection of such "tail" insurance policy and the Company shall give good faith consideration to any comments made by Parent with respect thereto; and provided that the premium per annum payable for such "tail" insurance policy shall not exceed 300% of the amount per annum the Company paid in its last full fiscal year (such maximum amount, the "Maximum Tail Premium") and if the cost for such "tail" insurance policy exceeds the Maximum Tail Premium.
- (d) If Parent or the Surviving Corporation (i) consolidates with or merges into any other Person and shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger, or (ii) transfers or conveys of all or substantially all of its property and assets to any Person, then, and in each such case, proper provision shall be made so that the applicable successor, assign or transferee shall assume the obligations set forth in this Section 7.04 (including this Section 7.04(d)).
- (e) The rights of each Indemnified Person under this Section 7.04 shall be in addition to any rights such Person may have under the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, under Delaware Law or any other Applicable Law, under any agreement of any Indemnified Person with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or otherwise. These rights shall survive consummation of the Merger and are intended to benefit, and shall be enforceable by, each Indemnified Person. The obligations of Parent and the Surviving Corporation under this Section 7.04 shall not be terminated or modified in such a manner as to adversely affect the rights of any Indemnified Person without the consent of such Indemnified Person.
- (f) Parent shall pay all reasonable expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, that may be incurred by any Indemnified Person in enforcing the indemnity and other obligations provided in this Section 7.04.

Section 7.05. Employee Matters.

(a) With respect to employees of the Company or its Subsidiaries immediately before the Effective Time who continue in employment with Parent or one of its Subsidiaries (including, following the Closing, the Surviving Corporation) ("Company Employees"), Parent

shall, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation to (i) for a period of twelve (12) months following the Closing (or, if earlier, the termination of the applicable Company Employee's employment with Parent, the Surviving Corporation and their Affiliates), provide base salaries or base wage levels at least equal to what the Company Employees were receiving from the Company or its Subsidiaries immediately before the Closing, and (ii) for a period from and after the Effective Time until December 31, 2017 (or, if earlier, the termination of the applicable Company Employee's employment with Parent, the Surviving Corporation and their Affiliates), provide health and welfare benefits that, taken as a whole, are substantially comparable in the aggregate to the health and welfare benefits provided by the Company or its Subsidiaries to the Company Employee immediately prior to the Effective Time (or, if more favorable to the Company Employee, substantially comparable in the aggregate to the health and welfare benefits provided to similarly situated employees of Parent and its Affiliates).

- (b) Without limiting the generality of Section 7.05(a), from and after the Effective Time, Parent shall, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation to, assume, honor and continue until December 31, 2017, or, if sooner, until all obligations thereunder have been satisfied, all of the Company's employment, severance, bonus, incentive compensation, commission, change in control, retention and termination plans and agreements, in each case, as in effect at the Effective Time, including with respect to any payments, benefits or rights arising as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (either alone or in combination with any other event), without any amendment or modification, other than any amendment or modification required to comply with Applicable Law or with the consent of the applicable Company Employee.
- (c) With respect to any employee benefit plan maintained by Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any of their Affiliates with respect to any Company Employee (including any vacation, paid time-off and severance plans), for purposes of determining eligibility to participate, level of benefits, vesting and benefit accruals, such Company Employee's service with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries prior to the Effective Time (as well as service with any predecessor employer of the Company or any such Subsidiary, to the extent service with the predecessor employer is recognized by the Company or such Subsidiary under the companable Company Employee Plans) shall be treated as service with Parent, the Surviving Corporation or their Affiliates to the extent such service was recognized under the corresponding Company Employee Plan in which such Company Employee participated prior to the Closing; provided, however, that such service need not be recognized to the extent that such recognition would result in any duplication of benefits or for purposes of benefit accrual under any defined benefit pension plan (whether or not tax-qualified), supplemental retirement plan or similar plan or arrangement.
- (d) Parent shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to waive, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation or any of its Affiliates to waive, any preexisting condition limitations, exclusions, actively-at-work requirements and waiting periods under any welfare benefit plan maintained by the Parent, the
  Surviving Corporation or any of their Affiliates in which any Company Employee (or the dependents of any eligible employee) will be eligible to participate from
  and after the Effective Time. Parent shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to recognize, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation or any of its Affiliates to
  recognize, the dollar amount of all payments incurred by each Company Employee (and his or her eligible

dependents) under any applicable Company Employee Plan during the calendar year in which the Effective Time occurs for purposes of satisfying such year's deductible, co-payment limitations and out-of-pocket maximums under the relevant welfare benefit plans in which such Company Employee will be eligible to participate from and after the Effective Time.

- The Company shall take (or cause to be taken) all actions necessary and appropriate to terminate: (a) all Company Employee Plans that contain a cash or deferred arrangement intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code (the "401(k) Plans"), with such termination of the 401(k) Plans to be effective no later than the day immediately preceding the Closing Date; (b) all Company Employee Plans set forth on Schedule 7.05(d); provided, however, that Parent may, in its sole and absolute discretion, make an election to sponsor and maintain any 401(k) Plan by providing the Company with written notice of such election at least three Business Days before the Effective Time. With respect to each Company Employee Plan to be terminated as described in this Section 7.05(e), the Company shall deliver to Parent, no later than the day immediately preceding the Closing Date, evidence that the Company's board of directors has validly adopted resolutions to terminate such Company Employee Plan (the form and substance of which shall be subject to review and approval of Parent). If the distributions of assets from the trust of a 401(k) Plan that is terminated are reasonably anticipated to trigger liquidation charges, surrender charges or other fees to be imposed upon the account of any participant or beneficiary of such terminated plan or upon the Company or plan sponsor, then the Company shall take such actions as are necessary to reasonably estimate the amount of such charges and fees and provide such estimate in writing to Parent at least three Business Days prior to the Effective Time.
- (f) Nothing in this Section 7.05 shall, or shall be construed so as to, (i) create any right in any Person, including any employees, former employees, any participant in any Company Employee Plan or any dependent or beneficiary thereof, (ii) create any right to continued employment or other service with Parent, Company, the Surviving Corporation or any of their Affiliates, (iii) modify or amend the provisions of a Company Employee Plan or require Parent or any of its Affiliates to adopt or maintain, or restrict Parent or any of its Affiliates from terminating, employee benefit plan or arrangement of Parent or any of its Affiliates, (iv) prevent or restrict in any way the right of Parent to terminate, reassign, promote or demote any employee or other service provider of the Company or any Subsidiary thereof at any time following the Closing, or (v) create any third party rights in any such current or former service provider of the Company or any Subsidiary thereof (or any beneficiary or dependent thereof). For purposes of clarity, however, nothing in this section is intended to adversely affect any independent contractual right of a Company Employee without his/her consent thereto.

Section 7.06. *No Impeding Actions* Each of Parent and Merger Subsidiary agrees that, from the date hereof to the Effective Time, it shall not, and it shall cause its Subsidiaries not to: (a) take any action that is intended to or would reasonably be likely to result in any of the conditions to consummating the Merger becoming incapable of being satisfied or (b) take any action or fail to take any action which would, or would be reasonably likely to, individually or in the aggregate, prevent, materially delay or materially impede the ability of Parent or Merger

Subsidiary to consummate the Merger or the other transactions contemplated under this Agreement.

Section 7.07. Filing of Form S-8. Parent agrees to file no later than ten (10) Business Days after the Effective Time a registration statement on Form S-8 (or any successor form) with respect to the shares of Parent Common Stock issuable with respect to Converted RSUs and shall use all reasonable efforts to maintain the effectiveness of such registration statement or registration statements (and maintain the current status of the prospectus or prospectuses contained therein) for so long as the Converted RSUs assumed or granted in accordance with this Agreement remain outstanding. Parent shall at times ensure that there will remain a sufficient number of unissued shares of Parent Common Stock to meet its share issuance obligations in connection with the Company Unvested RSUs. Parent shall also use its reasonable best efforts to take any action required to be taken by it under any applicable state securities laws in connection with the conversion of the Company Unvested RSUs, and the Company shall furnish to Parent any information concerning the Company and holders of the Company RSUs as may be reasonably requested by Parent in connection with any such action. Parent shall take all action necessary to cause the shares of Parent Common Stock to be issuable upon the vesting of the Company Unvested RSUs, to be approved for listing on Nasdaq at or prior to the Effective Time.

# ARTICLE 8 COVENANTS OF PARENT, MERGER SUBSIDIARY AND THE COMPANY

Section 8.01. Efforts.

- Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Company and Parent shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to, cooperate with each other and use their reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under Applicable Law to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement as promptly as practicable, including (i) obtaining all necessary consents, approvals or waivers from Third Parties, (ii) preparing and filing as promptly as practicable after the date hereof with any Governmental Authority all documentation to effect all necessary filings, notices, petitions, statements, registrations, submissions of information, financial statements, records, applications and other documents, in each case, to the extent applicable, (iii) obtaining and maintaining all approvals, consents, registrations, Permits, authorizations, licenses, waivers and other confirmations required to be obtained from any Governmental Authority that are necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (iv) defending or contesting any action, suit or proceeding challenging this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby and (v) executing and delivering any additional instruments necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.
- (b) In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, each of Parent and the Company shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to, make (i) an appropriate filing of a Notification and Report Form pursuant to the HSR Act as promptly as practicable (and in any event within 5 Business Days after the date hereof), (ii) each other appropriate filing required pursuant to any Foreign Antitrust Law (collectively with the HSR Act, the "Antitrust Laws") as

promptly as practicable (and in any event within 15 Business Days after the date hereof), (iii) comply at the earliest practicable date with any request under any of the Antitrust Laws for additional information, documents, or other materials received by each of them or any of their respective Subsidiaries or Affiliates from any Governmental Authority in respect of such filings or such transactions and (iv) cooperate with each other in connection with any such filing (including, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, providing copies of all such documents to the non-filing parties prior to filing and considering all reasonable additions, deletions or changes suggested in connection therewith), and in connection with resolving any investigation or other inquiry of any Governmental Authority under any of the Antitrust Laws with respect to any such filing or any such transaction. Each such party shall use its reasonable best efforts to furnish to each other all information required for any application or other filing to be made pursuant to any Applicable Law in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Each such party shall as promptly as practicable inform the other parties hereto of any oral communication with, and provide copies of written communications with, any Governmental Authority regarding any such filings or any such transaction. No party hereto shall independently participate in any formal meeting with any Governmental Authority in respect of any such filings, investigation, or other inquiry without giving the other parties hereto prior notice of the meeting and, to the extent permitted by such Governmental Authority, the opportunity to attend and/or participate. Subject to Applicable Law, the parties hereto will consult and cooperate with one another in connection with any analyses, appearances, presentations, memoranda, briefs, arguments, opinions and proposals made or submitted by or on behalf of any party hereto relating to proceedings under any of the Antitrust Laws. Any party may, as it deems advisable and necessary, reasonably designate any competitively sensitive material provided to the other parties under this Section 8.01 as "outside counsel only". Such materials and the information contained therein shall be given only to the outside legal counsel of the recipient and will not be disclosed by such outside counsel to employees, officers, or directors of the recipient, unless express written permission is obtained in advance from the source of the materials. The parties shall take reasonable efforts to share information protected from disclosure under the attorney-client privilege, work product doctrine, joint defense privilege or any other privilege pursuant to this section so as to preserve any applicable privilege.

The Company and Parent shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to, cooperate with each other and use their reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and use reasonable best efforts to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under Applicable Law to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement as promptly as practicable, including (subject to the last sentence of this paragraph): (i) selling or otherwise disposing of, or holding separate and agreeing to sell or otherwise dispose of, assets, categories of assets or businesses of the Company or Parent or their respective Subsidiaries; (ii) terminating existing relationships, contractual rights or obligations of the Company or Parent or their respective Subsidiaries or (v) effectuating any other change or restructuring of the Company or Parent or their respective Subsidiaries (and, in each case, to enter into agreements or stipulate to the entry of an order or decree or file appropriate applications with the Federal Trade Commission, the Department of Justice, or any attorney general of any state of the United States in connection with any of the foregoing) (each a "Divestiture Action"). In the event Parent agrees to effect a Divestiture Action, the Company

and its Subsidiaries shall, upon request by Parent, consent and/or agree as needed in order to effectuate a Divestiture Action to the extent such action relates to the Company or its Subsidiaries or its or their businesses or assets. Further Parent and the Company shall not take, and shall not permit their respective Affiliates to take any action (including the acquisition by it or its Affiliates of any interest in any Person that derives revenues from products, services or lines of business similar to the Company's products, services or lines of business) if such action would make it materially more likely that there would arise any impediments under any Antitrust Law that may be asserted by any Governmental Authority to the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby as promptly as practicable. In the event that any action is threatened or instituted challenging the Merger as violative of any Antitrust Law, Parent shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, defend and contest or otherwise resolve the action (with the Company's cooperation). In the event that any permanent or preliminary injunction or other order is entered or becomes reasonably foreseeable to be entered in any proceeding that would make consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby in accordance with the terms of this Agreement unlawful or that would restrain, enjoin or otherwise prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, Parent shall use its reasonable best efforts to vacate, modify or suspend such injunction or order so as to permit such consummation prior to the End Date. The Company shall cooperate with Parent and shall use its reasonable best efforts to assist Parent in resisting and reducing any Divestiture Action. Parent shall, in a manner consistent with the terms and the objective of this Agreement, control and lead all actions, strategy and communications, and make all determinations as to the appropriate course of action and the timing of all actions and communications, with respect to Antitrust Laws, Governmental Authorities and all other related matters, including dealings with Governmental Authorities and any Divestiture Actions or litigation under Antitrust Laws; provided, however, that Parent shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law and Governmental Authority, (i) without causing undue delay or materially impeding Parent's ability to satisfy its obligations in this Section 8.01(c), consult with the Company in advance of any meeting, teleconference or other communication with such Governmental Authority and provide the Company with an opportunity to attend or participate in such meeting, teleconference or other communication. (ii) afford the Company an opportunity to review any written advocacy materials to be submitted to such Governmental Authority in advance of the submission thereof, and (iii) furnish the Company with copies of all written materials received by or on behalf of such party from such Governmental Authority, in each case to the extent permitted by Applicable Law. The Company shall not, without Parent's prior written consent or request, communicate, offer, negotiate, or agree or bind itself or Parent, with any Governmental Authority or other third party regarding any Divestiture Action. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, however, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries shall propose, consent to, or take any Divestiture Action without prior written consent of Parent, and neither Parent, nor the Company, nor any of their respective Affiliates shall be obligated to consent or commit to any Divestiture Action unless (A) the parties are informed by the Federal Trade Commission, the Department of Justice, or any attorney general of any state of the United States that such actions are demanded and required as a condition to providing approval or resolving proceedings under any Antitrust Law and (B) such actions, considered individually or in the aggregate, would not result in a Detriment. For the purposes of this Section 8.01(c), an action so demanded and required by a Governmental Authority would be deemed to result in a " Detriment " if such action, considered individually or

in the aggregate with all other actions so demanded and required by a Governmental Authority would have an adverse impact that is material to (a) the reasonably anticipated benefits to Parent of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (b) the business of the Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (c) the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, provided, further that in no event shall Parent be required to license any of the Intellectual Property of Parent, the Company or any of their Subsidiaries.

### Section 8.02. Form S-4; Proxy Statement/Prospectus.

- As promptly as practicable after the execution of this Agreement, (i) Parent shall prepare and cause to be filed with the SEC, the Form S-4 with (a) respect to the shares of Parent Common Stock issuable in the Merger and (ii) Parent and the Company shall cooperate in preparing and cause to be filed with the SEC the Proxy Statement/Prospectus. Each of Parent and the Company shall use reasonable best efforts to (A) have the Form S-4 declared effective under the 1933 Act as promptly as practicable after such filing and (B) to keep the Form S-4 effective as long as is necessary to consummate the Merger and other transactions contemplated hereby. Each of Parent and the Company shall furnish all information concerning itself, its Affiliates and the holders of its shares to the other and provide such other assistance as may be reasonably requested by the other in connection with any such action and the preparation, filing and distribution of the Form S-4 and the Proxy Statement/Prospectus. Each of the Company and Parent shall promptly notify the other upon the receipt of any comments from the SEC or any request from the SEC for amendments or supplements to the Form S-4 or Proxy Statement/Prospectus, and shall, as promptly as practicable after receipt thereof, provide the other with copies of all correspondence between it and its Representatives, on one hand, and the SEC, on the other hand, and all written comments with respect to the Proxy Statement/Prospectus or the Form S-4 received from the SEC and advise the other party on any oral comments with respect to the Proxy Statement/Prospectus or the Form S-4 received from the SEC. Each of the Company and Parent shall use its reasonable best efforts to respond as promptly as practicable to any comments from the SEC with respect to the Proxy Statement/Prospectus. Parent shall use its reasonable best efforts to respond as promptly as practicable to any comment from the SEC with respect to the Form S-4. Prior to filing the Form S-4 (or any amendment or supplement thereto) or mailing the Proxy Statement/Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto) or responding to any comments of the SEC with respect thereto, each of the Company and Parent shall cooperate and provide the other a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on such documents or response in advance (including the proposed final version of such document or response). If required by Applicable Law, the Company shall disseminate to its stockholders, as promptly as reasonably practicable, any amendment of or supplement to the Proxy Statement/Prospectus required as a result of such comments.
- (b) If, at any time prior to the receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval, any information relating to the Company or Parent, or any of their respective Affiliates, should be discovered by the Company or Parent which, in the reasonable judgment of the Company or Parent, should be set forth in an amendment of, or a supplement to, any of the Form S-4 or the Proxy Statement/Prospectus, so that any of such documents would not include any misstatement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, the party which

discovers such information shall promptly notify the other parties, and the Company and Parent shall cooperate in the prompt filing with the SEC of any necessary amendment of, or supplement to, the Proxy Statement/Prospectus or the Form S-4 and, to the extent required by Law, in disseminating the information contained in such amendment or supplement to stockholders of the Company.

- (c) The Company shall take, in accordance with applicable Law and the Company Organizational Documents, all action necessary to mail the Proxy Statement/Prospectus to the Company's stockholders as promptly as reasonably practicable after the Form S-4 is declared effective by the SEC and to convene the Company Stockholder Meeting as promptly as reasonably practicable after the date of mailing of the Proxy Statement/Prospectus (including setting an appropriate record date for the Company Stockholder Meeting). Unless and until an Adverse Recommendation Change has occurred in accordance with Section 6.03, the Company shall, through the Company Board of Directors, make the Company Board Recommendation, include such Company Board Recommendation in the Proxy Statement/Prospectus and solicit and use its reasonable best efforts to obtain the Company Stockholder Approval, and shall not submit any other proposal to such holders in connection with the Company Stockholder Meeting without the prior written consent of Parent.
- Section 8.03. *Public Announcements.* Subject to Section 6.03, and unless and until an Adverse Recommendation Change has occurred, Parent and the Company shall consult with each other before issuing any press release, having any communication with the press (whether or not for attribution), making any other public statement or scheduling any press conference or conference call with investors or analysts with respect to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby and, except in respect of any such press release, communication, other public statement, press conference or conference call as may be required by Applicable Law or any listing agreement with or rule of any national securities exchange or association, shall not issue any such press release, have any such communication, make any such other public statement or schedule any such press conference or conference call prior to such consultation.
- Section 8.04. *Further Assurances*. At and after the Effective Time, the officers and directors of the Surviving Corporation shall be authorized to execute and deliver, in the name and on behalf of the Company or Merger Subsidiary, any deeds, bills of sale, assignments or assurances and to take and do, in the name and on behalf of the Company or Merger Subsidiary, any other actions and things to vest, perfect or confirm of record or otherwise in the Surviving Corporation any and all right, title and interest in, to and under any of the rights, properties or assets of the Company acquired or to be acquired by the Surviving Corporation as a result of, or in connection with, the Merger.
  - Section 8.05. Notices of Certain Events. Each of the Company and Parent shall promptly notify the other of:
- (a) any notice or other communication from any Person alleging that the consent of such Person is or may be required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

- (b) any notice or other communication from any Governmental Authority in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and
- (c) any actions, suits, claims, investigations or proceedings commenced or, to its knowledge, threatened against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Parent and any of its Subsidiaries, as the case may be, that relate to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 8.06. Section 16 Matters. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall take all reasonable steps intended to cause any dispositions of Company Stock (including derivative securities with respect to Company Stock) resulting from the transactions contemplated by Article 2 of this Agreement by each individual who is subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the 1934 Act with respect to the Company to be exempt under Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the 1934 Act. Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall take all reasonable steps intended to cause any acquisitions of Parent Common Stock (including derivative securities with respect to Parent Common Stock) resulting from the transactions contemplated by Article 2 of this Agreement by each individual that, at or following the Closing, may become subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the 1934 Act with respect to Parent in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby to be exempt under Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the 1934 Act. Prior to the Effective Time, the Parent shall take all reasonable steps intended to cause the acquisition of Parent Common Stock and Converted RSUs resulting from the transactions contemplated by Article 2 of this Agreement by each individual who is an officer or director of the Company who may become a covered person for purposes of Section 16 of the 1934 Act with respect to Parent to be exempt under Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the 1934 Act.

Section 8.07. Stock Exchange Listing and De-listing; 1934 Act Deregistration. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall cooperate with Parent and use its reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and do or cause to be done all things, reasonably necessary on its part under Applicable Laws and rules and policies of Nasdaq to enable the de-listing by the Surviving Corporation of the Company Stock from Nasdaq and the termination of the registration of the Company Stock under the 1934 Act as promptly as practicable after the Effective Time. Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall file a notification of listing of additional shares (or such other form as may be required) with Nasdaq with respect to the shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued in the Merger, and shall cause the shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued in the Merger to be reserved for issuance in connection with the Merger to be approved for listing on the Nasdaq, subject to official notice of issuance.

Section 8.08. *Transaction Litigation*. Prior to the earlier of the Effective Time or the termination of this Agreement, the Company shall control the defense of any litigation brought by stockholders of the Company against the Company and/or its directors and/or officers (and not against Parent and/or its directors and/or officers), relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger; provided, however, that the Company (i) shall promptly provide Parent with copies of all proceedings and correspondence relating to such litigation, (ii) shall give Parent the opportunity to participate with the Company regarding the defense or settlement of any such litigation and (iii) unless otherwise permitted by Section 6.01(1), shall not settle any such litigation against the Company and/or its directors relating to the

transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, without Parent's prior written consent (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

Section 8.09. *No Control of Other Party's Business*. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall give Parent or Merger Subsidiary, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct the Company's or its Subsidiaries' operations prior to the Effective Time. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall exercise, consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, complete control and supervision over its and its Subsidiaries' operations.

## ARTICLE 9 CONDITIONS TO THE MERGER

- Section 9.01. *Conditions to the Obligations of Each Party.* The respective obligations of Parent, Merger Subsidiary and the Company to consummate the Merger are subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by Applicable Law) waiver by the Company or Parent at or prior to the Effective Time of the following conditions:
  - (a) the Company Stockholder Approval shall have been obtained in accordance with Delaware Law;
- (b) no temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction or other judgment issued by any court of competent jurisdiction (collectively, "Restraints") shall be pending or in effect enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the consummation of the Merger;
- (c) all approvals and the expirations or terminations of any applicable waiting period (or extensions thereof) necessary under the HSR Act shall have been obtained or shall have expired or been terminated, as applicable;
- (d) the Form S-4 shall have been declared effective by the SEC under the 1933 Act, no stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Form S-4 shall have been issued by the SEC, and no proceedings for that purpose shall have been initiated by the SEC; and
- (e) the shares of Parent Common Stock issuable in connection with the Merger shall have been authorized for listing on Nasdaq, subject to official notice of issuance.
- Section 9.02. *Conditions to the Obligations of Parent and Merger Subsidiary.* The respective obligations of Parent and Merger Subsidiary to consummate the Merger are subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by Applicable Law) waiver at or prior to the Effective Time of the following further conditions:
- (a) the Company shall have performed in all material respects all of its obligations hereunder required to be performed by it at or prior to the Effective Time;
- (b) (i) the representations and warranties of the Company (other than the representations set forth in Section 4.01, Section 4.02, Section 4.05(a), Section 4.05(b), Section 4.24, Section 4.26 and Section 4.27) set forth herein shall be true and correct in all respects (without giving effect to any limitation indicated by the words or phrases "Company Material Adverse Effect," "in all material respects," "material," or "materially" in such representations or

warranties) as of the date of this Agreement and at and as of the Closing Date as if made at and as of such time (except those representations and warranties that expressly address matters only as of a particular earlier date, in which case as of that date), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be so true and correct would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect, (ii) the representations and warranties of the Company contained in Section 4.05(a) and Section 4.05(b) shall be true and correct (other than *de minimis* inaccuracies) as of the date of this Agreement and at and as of the Closing Date as if made at and as of such time (except those representations and warranties that expressly address matters only as of a particular earlier date, in which case as of that date), (iii) the representations and warranties contained in Section 4.01, Section 4.02, Section 4.24 and Section 4.27 shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the date of this Agreement and at and as of the Closing Date as if made at and as of such time (except those representations and warranties that expressly address matters only as of a particular earlier date, in which case as of that date) and (iv) the representations and warranties contained in Section 4.26 shall be true and correct in all respects as of the date of this Agreement and at and as of the Closing Date as if made at and as of such time;

- (c) since the date of this Agreement there shall not have occurred a Company Material Adverse Effect; and
- (d) the Company shall have delivered to Parent a certificate, dated the Closing Date, and signed by the chief executive officer or other senior officer of the Company, certifying to the effect that the conditions set forth in Sections 9.02(a), 9.02(b) and 9.02(c) have been satisfied.
- Section 9.03. *Conditions to the Obligations of the Company.* The obligation of the Company to consummate the Merger is subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by Applicable Law) waiver at or prior to the Effective Time of the following further conditions:
- (a) each of Parent and Merger Subsidiary shall have performed in all material respects all of its obligations hereunder required to be performed by it at or prior to the Effective Time;
- (b) (i) the representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Subsidiary (other than the representations set forth in Section 5.01, Section 5.02, Section 5.05(a), Section 5.17, Section 5.18 and Section 5.20) set forth herein shall be true and correct in all respects (without giving effect to any limitation indicated by the words or phrases "Parent Material Adverse Effect," "in all material respects," "material," or "materially" in such representations or warranties) as of the date of this Agreement and at and as of the Closing Date as if made at and as of such time (except those representations and warranties that expressly address matters only as of a particular earlier date, in which case as of that date), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be so true and correct would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect, (ii) the representations and warranties of the Company contained in Section 5.05(a) shall be true and correct (other than de minimis inaccuracies) as of the date of this Agreement and at and as of the Closing Date as if made at and as of such time (except those representations and warranties that expressly address matters only as of a particular earlier date, in which case as of that date) and (iii) the representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Subsidiary set forth in Section 5.01, Section 5.02, Section 5.17,

Section 5.18 and Section 5.20 shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the date of this Agreement and at and as of the Closing Date as if made at and as of such time (except those representations and warranties that expressly address matters only as of a particular earlier date, in which case as of that date);

- (c) since the date of this Agreement there shall not have occurred a Parent Material Adverse Effect; and
- (d) Parent shall have delivered to the Company a certificate, dated the Closing Date, and signed by the chief executive officer or other senior officer of Parent, certifying to the effect that the conditions set forth in Sections 9.03(a), 9.03(b) and 9.03(c) have been satisfied.
- Section 9.04. *Frustration of Closing Conditions*. None of Parent or Merger Subsidiary, on the one hand, nor the Company, on the other hand, may rely on the failure of any condition set forth in this Article 9 to be satisfied if such failure was caused by the failure of Parent or Merger Subsidiary, on the one hand, or the Company, on the other hand, to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement, to act in good faith or to use its best efforts to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, as required by and subject to Section 8.01.

#### ARTICLE 10 TERMINATION

Section 10.01. *Termination.* This Agreement may be terminated and the Merger may be abandoned at any time prior to the Effective Time (notwithstanding any approval of this Agreement by the stockholders of the Company):

- (a) by mutual written agreement of the Company and Parent; or
- (b) by either the Company or Parent, upon written notice to the other party, if:
- (i) the Merger has not been consummated on or before the date that is 270 days after the date hereof (as such date may be extended pursuant Section 11.13, the "End Date"); provided, however, that if the date on which the End Date, as it may be extended, would occur is not a Business Day, then the End Date shall be further extended to be the next following Business Day; provided, further, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 10.01(b)(i) shall not be available to any party whose breach of any provision of this Agreement has been the primary cause of, or primarily resulted in, the failure of the Merger to be consummated by the End Date (it being understood that Parent and Merger Subsidiary shall be deemed a single party for purposes of the foregoing proviso); or
- (ii) if any Restraint shall be in effect permanently enjoining or otherwise permanently prohibiting the consummation of the Merger, and such Restraint shall have become final and nonappealable; provided that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 10.01(b)(ii) shall not be available to any party unless such party is in material compliance with its obligations under Section 8.01 of this Agreement (it

being understood that Parent and Merger Subsidiary shall be deemed a single party for purposes of the foregoing proviso); or

- (iii) if the Company Stockholder Meeting (including any adjournment or postponement thereof) shall have concluded, and the Company Stockholder Approval shall not have been obtained; provided, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 10.01(b)(iii) shall not be available to the Company if the failure to obtain the Company Stockholder Approval was due to the Company's failure to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement or a breach of the Support Agreement by any party thereto other than Parent; or
- (c) by Parent, upon written notice to the Company, if:
- (i) prior to obtaining the Company Stockholder Approval, the Board of Directors of the Company has (A) failed (1) to make the Company Board Recommendation in the preliminary Proxy Statement, (2) at all times (after the filing of the preliminary Proxy Statement) to include the Company Board Recommendation in the Proxy Statement or (3) to publicly reaffirm the Company Board Recommendation in accordance with Section 6.03(g) or (B) effected an Adverse Recommendation Change, whether or not permitted by the terms of this Agreement; or
- (ii) the Company shall have breached or failed to perform any of its representations, warranties, covenants or other agreements contained in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (A) would result in the failure of a condition set forth in Section 9.01 or 9.02, and (B) cannot be cured, or if capable of cure, has not been cured by the date that is two (2) Business Days prior to the End Date; provided that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 10.01(c)(ii) shall not be available to Parent if Parent's breach of any provision of this Agreement would cause the conditions set forth in Sections 9.01 or 9.03 not to be satisfied; or
- (d) by the Company, upon written notice to Parent, if:
- (i) prior to receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval and concurrently with such termination, the Company enters into a Company Acquisition Agreement pursuant to and in accordance with Section 6.03(f); provided that the Company pays the Termination Fee payable pursuant to Section 11.04(b)(ii); or
- (ii) Parent shall have breached or failed to perform any of its representations, warranties, covenants or other agreements contained in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (A) would result in the failure of a condition set forth in Section 9.01 or 9.03, and (B) cannot be cured, or if capable of cure, has not been cured by the date that is two (2) Business Days prior to the End Date; provided that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 10.01(d)(ii) shall not be available to the Company if the Company's breach of any provision of this Agreement would cause the conditions set forth in Sections 9.01 or 9.02 not to be satisfied.

Section 10.02. *Effect of Termination*. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 10.01, this Agreement shall become void and of no effect without liability of any party

(or any stockholder, director, officer, employee, agent, consultant or Representative of such party) to the other party hereto; provided that (a) the provisions of this Section 10.02 and Sections 11.01, 11.04, 11.07, 11.08, 11.09 and 11.13 and the Confidentiality Agreement shall survive any termination hereof pursuant to Section 10.01 and (b) neither the Company nor Parent shall be relieved or released from any liabilities or damages arising out of its fraud or willful breach of any provision of this Agreement.

# ARTICLE 11 MISCELLANEOUS

Section 11.01. *Notices*. All notices, requests and other communications to any party hereunder shall be in writing (including facsimile transmission or email (provided, that such email states that it is a notice delivered pursuant to this Section 11.01)) and shall be given,

if to Parent or Merger Subsidiary, to:

Veeco Instruments Inc. 1 Terminal Drive Plainview, New York 11803 Attention: General Counsel Facsimile No.: Email:

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Morrison & Foerster LLP 1650 Tysons Boulevard, Suite 400 McLean, Virginia 22102 Attention: Thomas J. Knox, Esq. Facsimile No.: (703) 760-7777 Email: tknox@mofo.com

if to the Company, to:

Ultratech, Inc.
3050 Zanker Road
San Jose, California 95134
Attention: Bruce Wright, Chief Financial Officer
Facsimile No.:
Email:

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

O'Melveny & Myers LLP 2765 Sand Hill Road Menlo Park, California 94025 Attention: Warren T. Lazarow, Esq. and David Makarechian, Esq. Facsimile No.: (650) 473-2061; (650) 473-2061

Email: wlazarow@omm.com; dmakarechian@omm.com

or to such other address or facsimile number or email address as such party may hereafter specify for the purpose by notice to the other parties hereto. All such notices, requests and other communications shall be deemed received on the date of receipt by the recipient.

Section 11.02. *Non-Survival of Representations and Warranties*. The representations, warranties, covenants and agreements contained herein and in any certificate or other writing delivered pursuant hereto shall not survive the Effective Time; provided that this Section 11.02 shall not limit any covenant or agreement by the parties that by its terms contemplates performance after the Effective Time.

#### Section 11.03. Amendments and Waivers.

- (a) Any provision of this Agreement may be amended or waived prior to the Effective Time if, but only if, such amendment or waiver is in writing and is signed, in the case of an amendment, by each party to this Agreement or, in the case of a waiver, by each party against whom the waiver is to be effective; provided, however, that after the Company Stockholder Approval has been obtained, there shall be no amendment or waiver that by Applicable Law requires further approval by the stockholders of the Company without such approval having been obtained.
- (b) No failure or delay by any party in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. The rights and remedies herein provided shall be cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by Applicable Law.

## Section 11.04. Expenses.

(a) <u>General</u>. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 11.04, all costs and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby shall be paid by the party incurring such cost or expense.

### (b) <u>Company Termination Fee</u>.

- (i) If this Agreement is terminated by Parent pursuant to Section 10.01(c)(i), then the Company shall pay an amount equal to \$26,500,000 (the "Company Termination Fee") to Parent in immediately available funds within two (2) Business Days after such termination.
- (ii) If this Agreement is terminated by the Company pursuant to Section 10.01(d)(i), then the Company shall pay the Company Termination Fee to Parent in immediately available funds substantially concurrently with such termination.
- (iii) If (A) after the date of this Agreement, an Acquisition Proposal shall have been publicly made or announced (and such Acquisition Proposal is not withdrawn on or

prior to the date that is 5 Business Days prior to the date of the Company Stockholder Meeting), (B) thereafter, this Agreement is terminated by Parent or the Company pursuant to Section 10.01(b)(iii) or by Parent pursuant to Section 10.01(b)(i) or 10.01(c)(ii), and (C) within twelve months after such termination, the Company consummates a transaction regarding, or executes a definitive agreement with respect to, an Acquisition Proposal (whether or not the same Acquisition Proposal as that referred to in clause (A)), then the Company shall pay to Parent the Company Termination Fee by wire transfer of same-day funds on the date of execution of such definitive agreement. For purposes of Section 11.04(b), all references to "20%" in the definition of "Acquisition Proposal" shall be deemed to be references to "50%".

(c) Each of the Company, Parent and Merger Subsidiary agree that, upon any termination of this Agreement under circumstances where the Company Termination Fee is payable by the Company pursuant to this Section 11.04 and such Company Termination Fee is paid in full, Parent and Merger Subsidiary shall be precluded from any other remedy against the Company at law or in equity or otherwise, and none of Parent or Merger Subsidiary shall seek to obtain any recovery, judgment, or damages of any kind, including consequential, indirect, or punitive damages, against the Company or any of the Company's Subsidiaries or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, partners, managers, members, stockholders or Affiliates or their respective Representatives in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby. In no event shall the Company be required to pay the Company Termination Fee on more than one occasion.

Section 11.05. *Disclosure Letter References*. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the parties hereto agree that any reference in a particular Section of the Company Disclosure Letter or the Parent Disclosure Letter shall be deemed to be an exception to (or, as applicable, a disclosure for purposes of) the representations, warranties, covenants, agreements or other provisions hereof of the relevant party that are contained in the corresponding Section of this Agreement, and any other representations, warranties, covenants, agreements or other provisions hereof of such party that is contained in this Agreement, but only if the relevance of that reference as an exception to (or a disclosure for purposes of) such representations, warranties, covenants, agreements and other provisions hereof, is reasonably apparent. The Company Disclosure Letter and the Parent Disclosure Letter are incorporated by reference into and made a part of this Agreement. The mere inclusion of an item in the Company Disclosure Letter or the Parent Disclosure Letter as an exception to a representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or other provision hereof shall not be deemed an admission that such item represents a material exception or material fact, event or circumstance or that such item has had or would reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect or Parent Material Adverse Effect, as applicable.

Section 11.06. Binding Effect; Benefit; Assignment.

(a) The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon, shall inure to the benefit of and shall be enforceable by the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Except as provided in Section 7.04 and except for Sections 2.02, 2.03 and 2.05 (which shall be enforceable, after the Closing, by holders of Company Stock, Company Stock Options and Company RSUs), no provision of this Agreement is intended to confer any rights, benefits,

remedies, obligations or liabilities hereunder upon any Person other than the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

(b) No party may assign, delegate or otherwise transfer, by operation of law or otherwise, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the consent of each other party hereto, except that (i) Parent or Merger Subsidiary may transfer or assign all (but not less than all) of its rights and obligations under this Agreement to one of its wholly owned Subsidiaries at any time and (ii) Parent may transfer shares of capital stock of Merger Subsidiary to a direct or indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Parent; provided that such transfer or assignment shall not relieve Parent or Merger Subsidiary of its obligations hereunder or enlarge, alter or change any obligation of any other party hereto or due to Parent or Merger Subsidiary. Any purported assignment not permitted under this Section 11.06(b) shall be null and void.

Section 11.07. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to the conflicts of law rules of such State.

Section 11.08. Consent to Jurisdiction. Each of Parent, Merger Subsidiary and the Company irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of (a) the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, New Castle County, and (b) the United States District Court in Wilmington, Delaware, for the purposes of any suit, action or other proceeding arising out of this Agreement, the other agreements contemplated hereby or any transaction contemplated hereby. Each of Parent, Merger Subsidiary and the Company agrees to commence any action, suit or proceeding relating hereto either in the United States District Court in Wilmington, Delaware or if such suit, action or other proceeding may not be brought in such court for jurisdictional reasons, in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware. New Castle County. Each of Parent, Merger Subsidiary and the Company further agrees that service of any process, summons, notice or document by U.S. registered mail to such party's respective address set forth above shall be effective service of process for any action, suit or proceeding in Delaware with respect to any matters to which it has submitted to jurisdiction in this Section 11.08. Each of Parent, Merger Subsidiary and the Company irrevocably and unconditionally waives any objection to the laying of venue of any action, suit or proceeding arising out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby in (i) the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, New Castle County, or (ii) the United States District Court in Wilmington, Delaware, and hereby further irrevocably and unconditionally waives and agrees not to plead or claim in any such court that any such action, suit or proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. Each of Parent, Merger Subsidiary and the Company irrevocably waives any objections or immunities to jurisdiction to which it may otherwise be entitled or become entitled (including sovereign immunity, immunity to pre-judgment attachment, post-judgment attachment and execution) in any legal suit, action or proceeding against it arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby which is instituted in any such court. The parties agree that a final trial court judgment in any such suit, action or other proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by Applicable Law; provided, however, that nothing in the foregoing shall restrict any party's rights to seek any post-judgment relief regarding, or any appeal from, such final trial court judgment. Each of the parties hereto agrees that service of process, summons, notice or document by registered mail addressed to it at the addresses set forth in Section 11.01

shall be effective service of process for any suit, action or proceeding brought in any such court. The parties agree that service of process may also be effected by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, or by reputable overnight courier service, directed to the other party at the addresses set forth herein in Section 11.01, and service so made shall be completed when received.

Section 11.09. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

Section 11.10. *Counterparts; Effectiveness.* This Agreement may be signed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, with the same effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument. This Agreement shall become effective when each party hereto shall have received a counterpart hereof signed by all of the other parties hereto. Until and unless each party has received a counterpart hereof signed by the other party hereto, this Agreement shall have no effect and no party shall have any right or obligation hereunder (whether by virtue of any other oral or written agreement or other communication). Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Agreement by facsimile, ".pdf" format or scanned pages shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart to this Agreement.

#### Section 11.11. Entire Agreement; No Other Representations and Warranties.

- (a) This Agreement, including the Company Disclosure Letter, together with the Confidentiality Agreement, constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, both oral and written, between the parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement.
- (b) Except for the representations and warranties contained in Article 4, each of Parent and Merger Subsidiary acknowledges that neither the Company nor any Person on behalf of the Company makes any other express or implied representation or warranty with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or with respect to any other information made available to Parent or Merger Subsidiary in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Neither the Company nor any other Person will have or be subject to any liability or indemnification obligation to Parent, Merger Subsidiary or any other Person resulting from the distribution to Parent or Merger Subsidiary, or Parent's or Merger Subsidiary's use of, any such information, including any information, documents, projections, forecasts or other material made available to Parent or Merger Subsidiary in certain "data rooms" or management presentations in expectation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, unless, and then only to the extent that, any such information is expressly included in a representation or warranty contained in Article 4.
- (c) Except for the representations and warranties contained in Article 5, the Company acknowledges that neither Parent nor Merger Subsidiary or any other Person on behalf of Parent or Merger Subsidiary makes any other express or implied representation or warranty with respect to Parent or Merger Subsidiary or with respect

to any other information made available to the Company in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 11.12. Severability. If any term, provision, covenant or restriction of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction or other Governmental Authority to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of the terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any party. Upon such a determination, the parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner in order that the transactions contemplated hereby be consummated as originally contemplated to the fullest extent possible.

Section 11.13. Specific Performance. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage for which monetary damages, even if available, would not be an adequate remedy would occur in the event that the parties hereto do not perform their obligations under the provisions of this Agreement (including failing to take such actions as are required of them hereunder to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement) in accordance with its specified terms or otherwise breach such provisions. The parties acknowledge and agree that the parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions, specific performance or other equitable relief to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof in the courts described in Section 11.08 without proof of damages or otherwise, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled under this Agreement at law or in equity, and the right of specific enforcement is an integral part of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and without that right, neither the Company nor Parent would have entered into this Agreement. Each of the parties hereto agrees that it will not oppose the granting of an injunction, specific performance and other equitable relief on the basis that the other parties hereto have an adequate remedy at law or an award of specific performance is not an appropriate remedy for any reason at law or in equity. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that any party seeking an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement in accordance with this Section 11.13 shall not be required to provide any bond or other security in connection with any such order or injunction. If, prior to the End Date, any party brings any suit, action or proceeding, in each case in accordance with Section 11.08, to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof, the End Date shall automatically be extended by (A) the amount of time during which such suit, action or proceeding is pending, plus twenty (20) Business Days or (B) such other time period established by the court presiding over such suit, action or proceeding, as the case may be.

[The remainder of this page has been intentionally left blank; the next page is the signature page.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of the date set forth on the cover page of this Agreement.

# ULTRATECH, INC.

By: /s/ Arthur W. Zafiropoulo

Name: Arthur W. Zafiropoulo Title: Chief Executive Officer

# VEECO INSTRUMENTS INC.

By: /s/ John R. Peeler

Name: John R. Peeler

Title: Chief Executive Officer

# ULYSSES ACQUISITION SUBSIDIARY CORP.

By: /s/ John R. Peeler

Name: John R. Peeler Title: President

[ Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger ]

#### SUPPORT AGREEMENT

SUPPORT AGREEMENT, dated as of February 2, 2017 (this "<u>Support Agreement</u>"), among VEECO INSTRUMENTS INC., a Delaware corporation ("<u>Parent</u>"), and the undersigned stockholders of ULTRATECH, INC., a Delaware corporation (the "<u>Company</u>"), listed on the signature pages hereto (each, a "<u>Stockholder</u>" and, collectively, the "<u>Stockholders</u>").

#### WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Parent, Ulysses Acquisition Subsidiary Corp., a Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent ("Merger Subsidiary"), and the Company propose to enter into an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of the date hereof (as the same may be amended or supplemented, the "Merger Agreement"; capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Merger Agreement) providing for the merger of Merger Subsidiary with and into the Company, with the Company surviving the Merger and becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent;

WHEREAS, the Stockholders own the number of shares of Company Stock set forth on Schedule A hereto (collectively, the "Subject Shares");

WHEREAS, Parent has requested that the Stockholders enter into this Support Agreement in connection with the Merger Agreement; and

WHEREAS, in consideration of the execution of the Merger Agreement by Parent, each Stockholder is hereby agreeing to enter into this Support Agreement and to vote the Subject Shares in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows:

Section 1. Representations and Warranties of the Stockholders. Each Stockholder hereby represents and warrants as to only itself, himself or herself (severally and not jointly) to Parent as follows:

(a) <u>Authority</u>. The Stockholder has all requisite power and authority to execute and deliver this Support Agreement, to perform the Stockholder's obligations hereunder (including, without limitation, Section 3(c)) and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. The execution, delivery and performance by the Stockholder of this Support Agreement, the performance by the Stockholder's obligations hereunder (including, without limitation, Section 3(c)) and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary action on the part of such Stockholder, and no other actions or proceedings on the part of the Stockholder are necessary to authorize the execution and delivery by the Stockholder of this Support Agreement, the performance by the Stockholder of such Stockholder's obligations hereunder (including, without limitation, Section 3(c)) and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

- (b) Execution; Delivery; Enforceability. The Stockholder has duly executed and delivered this Support Agreement, and this Support Agreement constitutes the valid and binding obligation of such Stockholder, enforceable against such Stockholder in accordance with its terms, except that such enforceability (i) may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or other similar laws affecting or relating to the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and (ii) is subject to general principles of equity. No consent of, or registration or filing with, any Governmental Authority is required to be obtained or made by or with respect to such Stockholder in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Support Agreement, the performance by the Stockholder of such Stockholder's obligations herender (including, without limitation, Section 3(c)) or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, other than such reports, schedules or statements under Sections 13(d) and 16 of the 1934 Act as may be required in connection with this Support Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby.
- (c) No Conflict. The execution and delivery of this Support Agreement do not, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and compliance with the provisions hereof will not, conflict with, result in a breach or violation of or default (with or without notice or lapse of time or both) under, or require notice to or the consent of any person under, any agreement, law, rule, regulation, judgment, order or decree by which the Stockholder is bound, except for such conflicts, breaches, violations or defaults that would not, individually or in the aggregate, prevent or materially delay the Stockholder from performing his, her or its obligations under this Support Agreement.
- (d) The Subject Shares. The Stockholder is the beneficial owner of the Subject Shares listed on Schedule A across from his, her or its name, free and clear of any Lien (other than any restrictions or rights created by this Support Agreement, under applicable federal or state securities laws or pursuant to any written policies of the Company with respect to the trading of securities in connection with insider trading restrictions, applicable securities laws and similar consideration). The Subject Shares constitute the Stockholder's entire interest in the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company. The Stockholder has or will have sole voting power, sole power of disposition, sole power to issue instructions with respect to the matters set forth herein, and sole power to agree to all of the matters set forth in this Support Agreement, in each case with respect to all of the Subject Shares, with no limitations, qualifications or restrictions on such rights (other than any restrictions or rights created by this Support Agreement). None of the Subject Shares owned by such Stockholder are subject to any voting trust or other voting agreement with respect to the Subject Shares, except as contemplated by this Support Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, any shares of capital stock or other securities of the Company that the Stockholder purchases or otherwise acquires beneficial ownership after the date of this Support Agreement and during the Support Period shall be deemed Subject Shares and subject to the terms and conditions of this Support Agreement.

Section 2. Representations and Warranties of Parent . Parent hereby represents and warrants to each Stockholder as follows:

- (a) <u>Authority; Enforceability</u>. Parent has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Support Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. The execution, delivery and performance by Parent of this Support Agreement, the performance by Parent of its obligations hereunder and consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary action on the part of Parent, and no other actions or proceedings on the part of Parent are necessary to authorize the execution and delivery by Parent of this Support Agreement, the performance by Parent of Parent's obligations hereunder and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.
- (b) Execution; Delivery. Parent has duly executed and delivered this Support Agreement, and this Support Agreement constitutes the valid and binding obligation of Parent, enforceable against Parent in accordance with its terms, except that such enforceability (i) may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or other similar laws affecting or relating to the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and (ii) is subject to general principles of equity. No consent of, or registration or filing with, any Governmental Authority is required to be obtained or made by or with respect to Parent in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Support Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, other than (i) reports, schedules or statements by Parent under Sections 13(d) and 16 of the 1934 Act as may be required in connection with this Support Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby and (ii) such consents, registrations or filings the failure of which to be obtained or made would not have a material adverse effect on Parent's ability to perform its obligations hereunder.
- (c) No Conflict. The execution and delivery of this Support Agreement do not, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and compliance with the provisions hereof will not, conflict with, result in a breach or violation of or default (with or without notice or lapse of time or both) under, or require notice to or the consent of any person under, any agreement, law, rule, regulation, judgment, order or decree by which Parent is bound, except for such conflicts, breaches, violations or defaults that would not, individually or in the aggregate, materially prevent or delay consummation of the Merger and the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement and this Support Agreement or otherwise prevent or materially delay Parent from performing its obligations under this Support Agreement.

#### Section 3. Covenants of the Stockholders.

- (a) Support. At all times during the Support Period (as defined below), each Stockholder covenants and agrees as follows:
- (i) Agreement to Vote. At every meeting of the stockholders of the Company (and at every adjournment or postponement thereof) called to seek, and in every other circumstance in which a vote, action, written consent, resolution or other approval of the stockholders of the Company is proposed seeking, the Company Stockholder Approval, approval of the Merger, adoption of the Merger Agreement, or

approval of any other Transaction Document, any other transaction pursuant to or contemplated by the Merger Agreement or any other Transaction Document, and any matter that would reasonably be expected to facilitate the consummation of the Merger (including, without limitation, any adjournment of any meeting of the stockholders in order to solicit additional proxies in favor of approval of the Merger and adoption of the Merger Agreement if there are not sufficient votes to obtain the Company Stockholder Approval), the Stockholder (A) shall, if a meeting is held, appear at such meeting or otherwise cause the Subject Shares to be counted as present at such meeting for purposes of establishing a quorum and (B) shall vote (or cause to be voted) the Subject Shares:

- (1) in favor of (w) granting the Company Stockholder Approval, (x) approving the Merger, (y) adopting the Merger Agreement, and (z) approving any other Transaction Document, any other transaction pursuant to or contemplated by the Merger Agreement or any other Transaction Document, and any other matter that could reasonably be expected to facilitate the consummation of the Merger; and
- (2) against (x) any Acquisition Proposal (other than the Merger Agreement and the Merger) and (y) any other matter that would reasonably be expected to impede, interfere with, delay, postpone or adversely affect the consummation of the Merger or any of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement.
- (ii) <u>Consents and Waivers</u>. Each Stockholder hereby gives any consents or waivers that are reasonably required for the consummation of the Merger under the terms of any Contracts to which such Stockholder is a party or pursuant to any rights such Stockholder may have.
- (b) No Transfer. From the date hereof until the earlier of the expiration of the Support Period and obtaining the Company Stockholder Approval, other than pursuant to this Support Agreement, each Stockholder shall not (A) sell, transfer, exchange, pledge or otherwise dispose of (collectively, "Transfer") any Subject Shares to any person other than pursuant to the Merger, provided that the Stockholder shall be permitted to distribute all or any portion of the Subject Shares pursuant to (w) bona fide gifts to any member of the Stockholder's immediate family or otherwise for estate planning purposes, (x) any Transfer occurring by will, testamentary document or intestate succession upon the death of a Stockholder who is an individual, or (y) community property laws or divorce decree; provided, further, that any such Transfer shall be permitted only if, as a precondition to such Transfer, the transferee agrees in writing to be bound by all the terms of this Support Agreement, (B) enter into any voting arrangement, whether by proxy, power of attorney, voting agreement, voting trust or otherwise, with respect to any Subject Shares, (C) enter into any swap or similar arrangement that transfers the economic consequences of ownership of the Subject Shares or (D) make any offer or enter into any agreement providing for any of the foregoing; and
- (c) <u>IRREVOCABLE PROXY</u>. At all times during the Support Period, (i) each such Stockholder hereby grants to Parent (and any designee of Parent) a proxy (and appoints Parent or any such designee of Parent as its attorney-in-fact) to vote, and to

exercise all voting and consent rights of such Stockholder with respect to, the Subject Shares owned beneficially or of record by such Stockholder (including, without limitation, the power to execute and deliver written consents) in accordance with Section 3(a)(i) at any annual, special, adjourned or postponed meeting of stockholders of the Company at which any of the transactions, actions or proposals contemplated by Section 3(a)(i) are or will be considered and in every written consent in lieu of such meeting and (ii) such proxy and appointment shall (A) be irrevocable in accordance with the provisions of Section 212(e) of Delaware Law, (B) be coupled with an interest, and (C) survive the dissolution, bankruptcy or other incapacity of such Stockholder; provided, that each Stockholder's grant of the proxy contemplated by this Section 3(c) shall be effective if, and only if, such Stockholder has not delivered to the Company at least one (1) Business Day prior to the meeting at which any of the matters described in Section 3(a) are to be considered, a duly executed proxy card directing that the Subject Shares of such Stockholder be voted in accordance with Section 3(a); provided, further, that any grant of such proxy shall only entitle Parent or its designee to vote on the matters specified by Section 3(a)(i), and each Stockholder shall retain the authority to vote on all other matters. Each Stockholder hereby represents that any proxies heretofore given in respect of such Stockholder's Subject Shares, if any, are revocable, and hereby revokes all such proxies, and that such Stockholder agrees not to grant any subsequent proxies with respect to such Subject Shares at any time during the Support Period, except to comply with its, his or her obligations under Section 3(a). Each Stockholder hereby affirms that the irrevocable proxy set forth in this Section 3(c), if it becomes effective, is given in connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement, and that such irrevocable proxy is given to secure the perform

The "Support Period" shall commence on the date hereof and continue until the first to occur of (1) the Effective Time, (2) the date and time of the termination of the Merger Agreement in accordance with its terms and (3) the date and time (if any) at which the Board of Directors of the Company shall have made an Adverse Recommendation Change in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Merger Agreement.

- (d) <u>Capacity</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Support Agreement, (i) each Stockholder is entering into this Support Agreement, and agreeing to become bound hereby, solely in its capacity as a stockholder of the Company and not in any other capacity (including without limitation any capacity as a director of the Company) and (ii) nothing in this Support Agreement shall obligate such Stockholder to take, or forbear from taking, any action as a director (including without limitation through the individuals that it has elected to the Board of Directors of the Company) or any other action, other than in the capacity as a Stockholder of the Company with respect to the voting of the Subject Shares as specified in Section 3(a).
- (e) Appraisal Rights. Each Stockholder hereby waives, and agrees not to exercise or assert, if applicable, any appraisal rights (including, without limitation, under Section 262 of Delaware Law) in connection with the Merger.

- (f) No Solicitation. Each Stockholder agrees that it will not, directly or indirectly, take any action that the Company is prohibited from taking pursuant to Section 6.03 of the Merger Agreement.
- Section 4. <u>Termination</u>. This Support Agreement shall terminate upon the earliest to occur of (a) the Effective Time and (b) the termination of the Merger Agreement.
- Section 5. <u>Further Assurances</u>. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each Stockholder shall use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary to fulfill such Stockholder's obligations under this Support Agreement.

#### Section 6. General Provisions.

- (a) Amendments. This Support Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed by each of the parties hereto.
- (b) Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given if delivered personally or sent by overnight courier (providing proof of delivery), faxed (with confirmation), or sent by email (provided, that such email states that it is a notice defined pursuant to this Section 6(b)) to the Company and Parent in accordance with Section 11.01 of the Merger Agreement and to a Stockholder at its address set forth on Schedule A hereto (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified by like notice).
- (c) <u>Interpretation</u>. The Section headings herein are for convenience of reference only, do not constitute part of this Support Agreement and shall not be deemed to limit or otherwise affect any of the provisions hereof. Where a reference in this Support Agreement is made to a Section, such reference shall be to a Section of this Support Agreement unless otherwise indicated. Unless otherwise indicated, whenever the words "include," "includes" or "including" are used in this Support Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation."
- (d) <u>Severability</u>. The provisions of this Support Agreement shall be deemed severable and the invalidity or unenforceability of any provision shall not affect the validity or enforceability or the other provisions hereof. If any provision of this Support Agreement, or the application thereof to any Person or any circumstance, is invalid or unenforceable, (i) a suitable and equitable provision shall be substituted therefor in order to carry out, so far as may be valid and enforceable, the intent and purpose of such invalid or unenforceable provision and (ii) the remainder of this Support Agreement and the application of such provision to other Persons or circumstances shall not be affected by such invalidity or unenforceability, nor shall such invalidity or unenforceability affect the validity or enforceability of such provision, or the application thereof, in any other jurisdiction.
- (e) Specific Performance. The parties hereto acknowledge that Parent may be irreparably harmed and that there may be no adequate remedy at law for a

violation of any of the covenants or agreements of any party hereto set forth herein. Therefore, it is agreed that, in addition to any other remedies that may be available to Parent upon any such violation, Parent shall have the right to seek to enforce such covenants and agreements by specific performance, injunctive relief or by any other means available to Parent at law or in equity.

- (f) Other Remedies. Except as otherwise provided herein, any and all remedies herein expressly conferred upon a party will be deemed cumulative with and not exclusive of any other remedy conferred hereby, or by law or equity upon such party, and the exercise by a party of any one remedy will not preclude the exercise of any other remedy.
- (g) <u>Counterparts</u>. This Support Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each such counterpart being deemed to be an original instrument, and all such counterparts shall together constitute the same agreement.
- (h) Entire Agreement; No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Support Agreement constitutes the entire agreement, and supersedes all other prior agreements, understandings, representations and warranties both written and oral, among the parties, with respect to the subject matter hereof. This Support Agreement is not intended to confer upon any Person other than the parties hereto any rights or remedies hereunder.
- (i) <u>Governing Law</u>. This Support Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to the conflicts of law rules of such State.
- (j) Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS SUPPORT AGREEMENT IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND THEREFORE EACH SUCH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT SUCH PARTY MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS SUPPORT AGREEMENT, OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS SUPPORT AGREEMENT. EACH PARTY CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (i) NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER, (ii) EACH PARTY UNDERSTANDS AND HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF THIS WAIVER, (iii) EACH PARTY MAKES THIS WAIVER VOLUNTARILY, AND (iv) EACH PARTY HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS SUPPORT AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 5(i).

- (k) <u>Merger Agreement</u>. Parent acknowledges that the Stockholders have been induced to enter into this Support Agreement based on the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement.
- (1) <u>Assignment</u>. No rights or obligations under this Support Agreement may be assigned or delegated by operation of Applicable Law or otherwise. Any purported assignment or delegation in violation of this Support Agreement is void.
- (m) Consent to Jurisdiction. The parties hereto agree that any suit, action or proceeding seeking to enforce any provision of, or based on any matter arising out of or in connection with, this Support Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby (whether brought by any party or any of its Affiliates or against any party or any of its Affiliates) shall be brought in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, New Castle County or, if such court shall not have jurisdiction, any federal court located in the State of Delaware sitting in the county of Wilmington in the state of Delaware, and each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably consents to the jurisdiction of such courts (and of the appropriate appellate courts therefrom) in any such suit, action or proceeding and irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any objection that it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such suit, action or proceeding in any such court or that any such suit, action or proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. Process in any such suit, action or proceeding may be served on any party anywhere in the world, whether within or without the jurisdiction of any such court. Without limiting the foregoing, each party agrees that service of process on such party as provided in Section 6(b) shall be deemed effective service of process on such party. The parties hereto agree that a final trial court judgment in any such suit, action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law; provided, however, that nothing in the foregoing shall restrict any party's rights to seek any post-judgment relief regarding, or any appeal from, such final trial court judgment.

[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party has duly executed this Support Agreement, all as of the date first written above.

VEECO INSTRUMENTS, INC.

Name:
Name.
Title:

IN WI	IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each party has duly executed this Support Agreement, all as of the date first written above.				
		STOCKHOLDE	ER:		
		If an entity:			
		Name:			
		By:			
		Name: Title:			
		<u>If an individual</u>	:		
		Name:			

# SCHEDULE A

Stockholder	Subject Shares		
[Stockholder]	[ ]		
<u>Notice</u>			
[Stockholder]			
c/o [ ] [Address] [Address] [Address] Attention: [ ] Fax: [ ] Email: [ ]  with a copy (which shall not constitute notice to the Stockholders) to:			
O'Melveny & Myers LLP			
2765 Sand Hill Road			
Menlo Park, California 94025			
Attention: Warren Lazarow, Esq.			
David Makarechian, Esq.			
Fax: (650) 473-2601			
Email: wlazarow@omm.com; dmakarechian@omm.com			

# corrected transcript

# FACTSET: callstreet

Event Type A

Veeco Instruments, Inc.

Acquisition of Ultratech, Inc. by Veeco Instruments Inc Call

Feb. 2, 2017 Date A

Company 🛦

VECO Ticker ▲

#### • PARTICIPANTS

#### **Corporate Participants**

Shanye Hudson – Vice President-Investor Relations, Veeco Instruments, Inc.

John R. Peeler – Chairman & Chief Executive Officer, Veeco Instruments, Inc.

Arthur W. Zafiropoulo – Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer, Ultratech, Inc.

Shubham Maheshwari – Chief Financial Officer & Executive VP-Finance, Veeco Instruments, Inc.

#### **Other Participants**

Stephen Chin - Analyst, UBS Securities LLC

Vishal Shah – Analyst, Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc.

Brian Lee – Analyst, Goldman Sachs & Co.

Colin Rusch - Analyst, Oppenheimer & Co., Inc. (Broker)

Patrick Ho - Analyst, Stifel, Nicolaus & Co., Inc.

Edwin Mok – Analyst, Needham & Co. LLC

Mark Miller - Analyst, The Benchmark Co. LLC

#### • MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION SECTION

Operator: Good day, and welcome to the Veeco Instruments Announcement Conference Call. Today's conference is being recorded.

At this time, I would like to turn the conference over to Ms. Shanye Hudson. Please go ahead, ma'am.

#### Shanye Hudson, Vice President-Investor Relations

Thank you, Lyn. Good afternoon, everyone. Joining me on the call to discuss Veeco's planned acquisition of Ultratech are John Peeler, Veeco's Chairman and CEO; Art Zafiropoulo, Ultratech's Chairman and CEO; and Sam Maheshwari, Veeco's CFO. Today's call contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties concerning Veeco's proposed acquisition of Ultratech, Ultratech's and Veeco's expected financial performance, as well as both parties' strategic and operational plans.

Actual events or results may differ materially from those being described today due to a number of risks and uncertainties. The potential risks and uncertainties include, among others, the possibility that Ultratech may be unable to obtain required stockholder approval or that other conditions to closing the transaction may not be satisfied, such that the transaction will not close or that the closing may be delayed; the reaction of customers to the transaction; general economic conditions; the transaction may involve unexpected costs, liabilities or delays; risks that the transaction disrupts current plans and operations of the parties to the transaction; the ability to recognize the benefits of the transaction; the amount of the costs, fees, expenses and charges related to the transaction and actual terms of any financings that will be obtained for the transaction; the outcome of any legal proceedings related to the transaction; the occurrence of any event, change or other circumstances that could give to the termination of the transaction agreement.

In addition, please refer to the documents that Veeco and Ultratech filed with the SEC on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K. The filings by Veeco and Ultratech identify and address other important factors

www.CallStreet.com • 1-877-FACTSET • Copyright © 2001-2017 CallStreet

that could cause Veeco's and Ultratech's financial and operational results to differ materially from those contained in the forward-looking statements discussed today. Neither Veeco nor Ultratech undertakes any obligation to update any forward-looking statements including those made on this call to reflect future events or circumstances after the date of such statements.

With that, John, I'll turn the call over to you.

#### John R. Peeler, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Thanks, Shanye, and thanks to everyone for joining us on the call this afternoon. We're very excited to announce the definitive agreement to acquire Ultratech. This transaction brings together two longstanding technology leaders in advanced materials processing, and it fits ideally with Vecco's strategy to increase scale and diversify revenue. The combination of Ultratech's lithography products and Vecco's PSP solutions establish Vecco as an industry leader in the Advanced Packaging space. We've been successful in penetrating the growing Advanced Packaging industry with our PSP products and believe Ultratech's deep customer relationships can help to accelerate our growth.

The transaction also provides us with a foothold into the frontend semi industry. Ultratech's been supporting leading semiconductor device manufacturers for more than three decades. They're a recognized leader in laser spike annealing or LSA with over 85 systems shipped to logic and foundry customers worldwide. Both companies have utilized their technology expertise to identify opportunities to address critical semi problems. And combined, we have the scale and product portfolio to better compete in this space.

This transaction makes a lot of sense strategically and financially. We expect the deal to be immediately accretive to non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA and EPS. Overall, we're really excited by the growth opportunities and believe this transaction is the right platform to enhance long-term shareholder value.

Before sharing further details, let me invite Ultratech's Chairman and CEO, Art Zafiropoulo, to say a few words. Art?

#### Arthur W. Zafiropoulo, Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer, Ultratech, Inc.

Well, thank you, John, and good day to all of you on the call. I couldn't be happier for Ultratech to join forces with Veeco. Like Ultratech, Veeco has a deep-rooted history of innovation and a track record of technology leadership. Our like cultures and laser focus on our customers make this an ideal combination.

Following the closure of the transaction, I plan to step down from the CEO position. However, under the capable leadership of John and Sam and their track record for execution, I believe our customers, our employees, and our shareholders will benefit from the combination. I would like to recognize the Ultratech employees for their dedication and tireless efforts through the years, and I look forward to the combined company's ongoing success.

Now, I'll turn the call over to Sam.

#### Shubham Maheshwari, Chief Financial Officer & Executive VP-Finance

Thank you, Art, and let me add my thanks to everyone on the call. I'll briefly touch upon the mechanics of the transaction prior to handing the call back to John for further remarks.

Under the terms of the agreement, Ultratech shareholders will receive \$21.75 in cash and 0.2675 shares of Vecco stock per share of Ultratech. Based on the Vecco closing share price on February 1, 2017, this translates into a price of \$28.64 per share and values the transaction at approximately \$815 million.

We plan to use a combination of cash and stock to finance the transaction, including approximately \$200 million in Veeco common stock and the balance in cash on hand. Both the boards have unanimously approved the transaction, which we expect to close in the second quarter, pending customary regulatory and shareholder approvals. John?

#### John R. Peeler, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Thanks, Sam. As Art mentioned earlier, both of our organizations have deep-rooted cultures of innovation and in-depth industry experience. On slide 6, you can see that Ultratech boasts a patent portfolio greater than a thousand. And this speaks to their technology focus and pool of engineering talent. Our two companies are alike in that regard, each considered technology leaders in our respective areas of expertise: Veeco for thin film etch and deposition and Ultratech for lithography and laser annealing. These technologies are highly complementary in that they address the same industries, including lighting and display, advanced packaging and frontend semi. We believe Veeco's leadership in MOCVD and strong positions in the lighting and display industry can bolster Ultratech's exposure to the space.

Advanced packaging is an area where we have been gaining momentum over the last couple of years. And we believe Ultratech's strong exposure to these industries can accelerate our growth. Growth in advanced packaging is primarily being driven by mobile devices and the drive for smaller form factors, thinner package profiles, and improved electrical performance.

Turning to slide 7. As an example, when the first iPhone was introduced in 2007, it contained only two wafer-level packaging devices. Today's iPhone 7 contains 44, and that number is expected to continue growing. OSATs and semi device manufacturers are investing in technology capabilities to address this growing demand.

Looking at slide 8, in 2016, Ultratech had record sales in advanced packaging for their industry-leading lithography tools. Their products address customers' stringent technology requirements at a reasonable cost. Optics are a critical component in the lithography tool, and Ultratech designs and manufactures their optics in-house. This provides both a technology and cost advantage over the competition.

The same can be said of our PSP family of single wafer wet processing tools. Our proprietary ImmJET technology offers improved performance at lower cost of ownership than conventional wet-bench-only or spray-only approaches.

Combined, we offer a comprehensive product portfolio addressing critical Advanced Packaging process steps. Combined, we create a leading equipment supplier with the industry knowledge and scale that we believe will allow us to capitalize on that growth potential. We see similar opportunities to unlock our combined growth potential in the semiconductor industry.

On slide 9, Ultratech has been a key supplier to the semiconductor industry for over three decades, and their presence gives us an immediate footprint in this space. Ultratech pioneered laser thermal processing and have maintained a leadership position with their laser spike anneal or LSA product. They've utilized their expertise in lithography and optics to develop 3D inspection technology to control process-induced topography stress on the wafer. This challenge is becoming increasingly complex with the adoption of 3D structures such as FinFETs and 3D NAND. They are working with leading logic and memory manufacturers and see tremendous growth potential for this capability.

Similarly, Veeco has utilized our own expertise in magnetic materials processing to address new challenges in the semi space. Our Ion Beam Deposition equipment is enabling the EUV road map by creating defect-free mass blanks. Our Ion Beam Etch equipment is supporting the development of our next-generation MRAM devices. Ultratech's deep industry knowledge and our combined scale better position us to capture these emerging opportunities.

Turning to slide 10, both companies have cutting-edge technologies with leadership positions across complementary industries. Veeco, in the lighting and display industry; and Ultratech having strong exposure to the Advanced Packaging and semi industries. This is really a winning combination creating an ideal platform to expand our respective technologies, increase our scale and diversify our revenue.

Let me turn the call over to Sam to discuss some of the financial details of the transaction.

#### Shubham Maheshwari, Chief Financial Officer & Executive VP-Finance

As shown on slide 11, our combined revenue for 2016 would be approximately \$526 million with sales nicely distributed across four industry segments. Advanced Packaging, MEMS and RF becomes our largest market and represents about 35% of sales, followed by lightning, display & power electronics, which totals approximately 26%.

On slide 12, from a cost perspective, we see opportunities to utilize a common supply chain and streamline certain sales and field office locations. These savings, along with duplicative public company costs, are expected to result in approximately \$10 million in realizable cost synergies divided roughly 50/50 into cost of goods sold and OpEx areas. We expect to achieve an additional \$5 million in operating income through additional revenue synergies. We expect to achieve these synergies within 24 months of closing.

We expect the transaction will be immediately accretive to adjusted EBITDA and non-GAAP EPS. And with the benefit of the aforementioned cost savings and revenue synergies, we see opportunities to further accelerate EPS growth.

From a balance sheet perspective, we expect the pro forma company to have a cash balance of approximately \$300 million at closing. This is ample liquidity to fund the needs of the business going forward. Finally, we calculate a net leverage ratio of 1 for the combined company based on the combined company's net debt as a factor of 2016 adjusted EBITDA estimates for the combined company.

Let me now turn the call back to John for a few closing comments.

# John R. Peeler, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Thanks, Sam. From both a strategic and financial perspective, we believe this is a compelling combination for all of our stakeholders. For our shareholders, we see accelerated growth and significant opportunities to enhance earnings. For customers, our increased scale, global infrastructure, and complementary skills make us better position to address technical challenges and support production needs. Finally, for our employees, this combination provides greater opportunities for innovation and professional growth.

And with that, we'll open the call up for questions.

#### • QUESTION AND ANSWER SECTION

Operator: [Operator Instructions] And we'll go ahead and take our first question from Stephen Chin with UBS. Please go ahead. Your line is open.

- < Stephen Chin UBS Securities LLC>: Okay. Hi, John. Hi, Art. Congrats on the deal.
- <A John Peeler Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: Hi, Stephen.
- <Q Stephen Chin UBS Securities LLC>: Hi. So I just wanted to try to get more comfortable on the split of these two companies, John. So maybe you could help us on semi cap sales of the two companies. What percentage of wafer fab equipment do you estimate each company addresses on your own? And then what do you think the wafer fab equipment addressable market is of the new combined company? Thanks.
- < A John Peeler Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: Well, Stephen, maybe on the Veeco side I can give you a couple of points. So for the frontend semi market, Veeco sales are relatively small. Clearly, we have the product for EUV mass blanks, and I think that will bring us some sales there. And we have a new tool for building magnetic memory. It's early in the stage for that. But we think it has a lot of potential over time.

On the Ultratech side, we have the laser thermal processing, which is a much bigger product line, and I think their presence and experience in the space will help us get some more sales out of our frontend products. So it's not a huge part on the frontend semi, but I think it's going to help Vecco get some more growth.

- < Q Stephen Chin UBS Securities LLC>: Okay. Thanks, John. And maybe a question on how to think about modeling, the EPS accretion. So Ultratech has a higher operating margin than Veeco. So is there a long-term operating margin that we can think of of this combined company? Thanks.
- <a href="A"><A Sam Maheshwari Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: Yeah. This is Sam, Stephen. Yes, Ultratech acquisition would definitely be accretive on the margin front, and with the addition of synergies, it should help us further. Between Veeco and Ultratech, you could think about us going to mid-40%s in terms of overall combined company's gross margin, so to say. And from an EPS perspective, I think you just need to model it through, looking at the Ultratech and Veeco's P&Ls and baking in the synergies that we've already highlighted to you.
- < A Sam Maheshwari Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: Okay.
- < A John Peeler Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: Thanks, Stephen.

Operator: Thank you. And we'll take our next question from Vishal Shah with Deutsche Bank. Please go ahead. Your line is open.

< Wishal Shah — Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc.>: Hi. Thanks for taking my question. I just had a question on the cycle for both on the frontend as well as on the wafer level packaging side. Can you maybe talk about what you're hearing from customers right now? And if there's any major customer exposure that we should be aware of.

- < A John Peeler Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: Well, I think we've seen good growth in the Advanced Packaging market last year. And Art, maybe you want to comment on your growth. It's been a good year.
- <A Art Zafiropoulo Ultratech, Inc.>: It's been a terrific year. And I see the packaging market continuing to increase. If we look at the overall packaging, still a major portion in the 80% range is wire bonded, and only about 18% to 20% is bumping technology. And we expect this to grow over the years in the future and it wouldn't surprise me as I've said over the past several years that this potential could go to 60% in packaging through bumps over the next several years. And so the growth potential is very large, and we see it growing as we speak now. So, again, this is a long-term strategy and one that has terrific legs, and we expect it to continue for quite some time.
- < Wishal Shah Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc.>: Okay. And what kind of market share would you have in the packaging space as a combined company now?
- < A John Peeler Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: I don't think we have that figure, but we know that Ultratech has over \$100 million in Advanced Packaging last year.
- < A Art Zafiropoulo Ultratech, Inc.>: Yes. And our best estimate right now is we gained market share in 2016 over 2015, and our best estimates right now is our market share is approximately 85% in lithography products.
- < A John Peeler Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: And in the wet processing, our PSP business, we've been growing the Advanced Packaging portion of that quite well for the last few years, and our RF, MEMS, and Advanced Packaging group of markets makes up the bulk of that business. So, these two businesses have some real substance when you put them together.
- <Q Vishal Shah Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc.>: Great. Thank you.
- < A John Peeler Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: Thanks, Vishal.

Operator: Thank you. And we'll take our next question from Brian Lee with Goldman Sachs. Please go ahead. Your line is open.

- <Q Brian Lee Goldman Sachs & Co.>: Hey, guys. Thanks for taking the questions. Just a couple. First one is more of a clarification. Sam, on the \$15 million in annualized synergies, I appreciate you breaking that out. The \$10 million in cost, I guess, fair to assume it flows straight to EBIT. But then the \$5 million in revenue synergies over the 24-month period, how would you assume that flows to EBIT? Should we just assume that kind of mid-40% gross margin and some operating leverage, or is there some more guidance you can provide there?
- <a Sam Maheshwari Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: Sure. So thanks, Brian. So \$15 million is synergy on the operating income side. The \$10 million is on the cost in OpEx. So we have think about it as \$15 million in operating income, it is \$5 million, \$5 million, \$5 million. \$5 million comes from cost of sale improvement, \$5 million comes from OpEx, and \$5 million comes from operating income through additional revenue.

So revenue, if you use a 50% gross margin handle, that would mean there is about \$10 million of additional revenues, which would flow \$5 million in additional operating income. So that's \$5 million and then \$5 million in additional cost of sale improvements through better supply chain, volume discounts, improved manufacturing, and all of that stuff. And then, in the operating expenses side, it's largely field infrastructure and public company costs.

Does that make it clear for you, Brian?

- <Q Brian Lee Goldman Sachs & Co.>: That's super helpful. Thank you for the additional color there. Second question, and I'll pass it on. I'm less familiar with the Ultratech business, so would appreciate a little bit more color here. It grew fairly sharply last year. So wondering if you can kind of fare it out. You mentioned share gains were part of that. How much of it is coming off of maybe cyclically trough conditions, the way that some of Veeco's businesses have seen over the past few quarters? And then just trying to get a sense, you alluded to it a little bit, but any quantification you can provide around what you think normalized growth might be for that business going forward if we take more, let's say, mid-cycle?
- <A Art Zafiropoulo Ultratech, Inc.>: Yeah. I think first though, I can just touch base on the laser technology product area, that was a major growth factor last year, and it wasn't drawn for a couple of years. And we see the recovery well under way, and we're expecting this to continue for several quarters to come, so that the growth will continue there.

And the growth will certainly continue in Advanced Packaging, but not of same percentage as the laser. And right now, the 3D inspection technology is still in its infancy. And if we look at the 2D inspection technology, that market is in the \$400 million to \$500 million range. So it wouldn't surprise me in the future that the 3D inspection technology would equal to 2D technology.

So, in the future, it wouldn't surprise me, and I think we'll get more than our fair share of that market as it continues to grow in both, as John said, the NAND flash area and selective logic applications. So, we are looking for considerable growth with the Veeco combination much faster than we would have done on our own. So, this strategic combination of company is going to benefit the shareholders right across the board, and we're really looking forward to making more money for the shareholders.

- <Q Brian Lee Goldman Sachs & Co.>: All right. Thanks, guys.
- < A Sam Maheshwari Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: Thank you, Brian.

Operator: Thank you. And we'll take our next question from Colin Rusch with Oppenheimer. Please go ahead. Your line is open.

- **Q** Colin Rusch Oppenheimer & Co., Inc. (Broker)>: Thanks so much. Can't we just keep going down the road with these revenue synergies? It seems like it's actually not a great really a significant amount of revenue synergy, considering what the potential cost selling is. So, can you talk to us a little bit about if there's some potential upside to that number for you guys, or why there isn't more, if you're considering this such a good combination?
- < A John Peeler Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: Sure. I think there is upside. Obviously, we tend to kind of have a personality of projecting a low and beating that number. So there's quite a bit of upside. It'll take time to tell what that is, but I think we think there will be good revenue synergies.
- < A Sam Maheshwari Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: I think, Colin, I'll add just one more comment that both the companies are in the Advanced Packaging area. So if you look at our PSP business and if you look at Ultratech's Advanced Packaging and litho business, the market shares are pretty high for both of them.
- <Q Colin Rusch Oppenheimer & Co., Inc. (Broker)>: Okay.
- < A Sam Maheshwari Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: And so that is one factor that does go into the picture when it comes to the synergy estimates.

- < Colin Rusch Oppenheimer & Co., Inc. (Broker)>: Great. And then just a follow-up question just around advanced materials and potential additional IP that's available for carbon nanotubes or graphene, are you picking up any bits and pieces there that'll help facilitate that business?
- < A John Peeler Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: Do you Art, that's...
- <A Art Zafiropoulo Ultratech, Inc.>: No. I think that yeah, as we move down to smaller feature sizes, and we go from 5 to 3 nanometer structures, there certainly will be considerations of changing materials. And so that's still early in the design phase and the experimental phase. So, it's kind of early. And usually these things like graphene, they have a token value. It's periodic.

And so, at this stage, it's not clear to me. What is clear to me is that you'll see a lot more work in germanium, silicon and the doping concentrations with epi film. So that's going to take us down to 5. And the 3-nanometer structures and wires, if we will, are still — and I believe there'll be vertical wires. That will continue, but it's kind of early to make those projections.

And I think we stay close to the universities and research institutes like Imec for their guidance as to what's going to happen. And companies like Intel and TSMC and Samsung and GLOBALFOUNDRIES, those companies will lead the way and we're certainly very close to them, and so we'll take advantage. As they make breakthroughs, we'll be there as a company, a total company to take advantage of these breakthroughs with our products.

- < Co., Inc. (Broker)>: Great. Thanks a lot, guys.
- < A John Peeler Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: Thanks, Colin.

Operator: Thank you. And we'll take our next question from Patrick Ho with Stifel. Please go ahead. Your line is open.

- < Q Patrick Ho Stifel, Nicolaus & Co., Inc.>: Thank you and congratulations to both. And on a personal basis, Art, best wishes for you going forward. In terms of some of the leverage and revenue synergies you talked about, is one of the ways we can look at this deal also is your leadership on the MOCVD side of things helping the LED litho business that Ultratech has had? Is that one of the areas also of potential revenue synergies?
- < A John Peeler Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: Yeah. Absolutely. Veeco sells to virtually every LED manufacturer in the world. There might be one we don't sell to. And so we have a very strong installed base there. And Ultratech has done well in that market, but maybe we can find some new opportunities there.
- <a Art Zafiropoulo Ultratech, Inc.>: Well, John, I just learned matter of fact, just to stop the presses, guys, I just learned that one major company in the world has just indicated that and I believe they haven't said this, but I believe it was part of the cause that they're looking at several more lithography tools from our company for LED applications. And I think I haven't been told this, but I think it's a direct relationship to announcing this deal.
- <Q Patrick Ho Stifel, Nicolaus & Co., Inc.>: All right.
- < A John Peeler Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: That's probably not in our numbers then.
- < Q Patrick Ho Stifel, Nicolaus & Co., Inc.>: Maybe as a follow-up question. Given some of the improving size that maybe specifically for you John. With some of the improving size that we're starting to see in the LED industry as a whole and in particularly on the MOCVD side of

things, a deal of this nature is a sizable undertaking. What are you doing to make sure that this deal is successful, as well as potentially getting the company ready for a potentially meaningful ramp on your core LED business?

<a href=""><A — John Peeler — Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: Well, first of all, we're always ready for a meaningful ramp on the LED business. So, we have a manufacturing structure and manufacturing partners that we've shown in the past can enable us to ramp quickly and really meet the demand. So, we are ready for that. We did recently put out a preview of our results which included a very good bookings quarter. And of course, we had a good bookings quarter in Q3 also. So that's — we've been ready for that.

I think on the other side, Art and I are planning to work closely together to figure out how to bring these companies together in a positive way that leverages the strengths of each and makes them both do better. So, clearly, we have work to do over the coming months, but I think we can do that. There's a lot in common between the cultures. There's a lot in common between the facts that each of our businesses is a leader in the key segments that it focuses on. So, I think we're ready to make that happen.

<Q — Patrick Ho — Stifel, Nicolaus & Co., Inc.>: Great. Thank you.

Operator: Thank you. [Operator Instructions] We'll take our next question from Edwin Mok with Needham. Please go ahead. Your line is open.

- < C Edwin Mok Needham & Co. LLC>: Great. Thanks for taking my question. Congrats for the deal, and good luck to you, Art. Quickly, first, I guess to you, Art, I saw you guys print your result. Just any color you can provide us on the fourth quarter? It seems like you saw some growth. Just curious what's driving your growth in the fourth quarter, and how do you see business trending?
- < A Art Zafiropoulo Ultratech, Inc.>: For the fourth quarter, we continued to have strong momentum in the Advanced Packaging lithography space. We certainly picked up additional orders in the laser technology, and I might add that we actually received two orders for our melt technology, and they will be delivered in the first half of this year. And that's the first phase moving into expanding the role of SLA to the melt technology.

We believe we have the premier solution, and recent papers by GLOBALFOUNDRIES and IBM have indicated that we set world records with the technology that we're bringing forward for the 5 nanometer and advanced technology node. So we're very comfortable with that, and we're making real progress in the Superfast. So in terms of the revenue and the bookings, strong — very strong in Advanced Packaging and strong recovery in laser anneal and the melt technology moving forward.

- **Q** Edwin Mok Needham & Co. LLC>: Great. That's great color. Thank you. And then, Sam, I guess I have a question for you on the cost synergy. If I did the math right, the combined OpEx of the companies is about \$200 million [indiscernible] (31:00) you only expect \$5 million of OpEx saving, seems pretty conservative. Can you tell us, what does that encompass? Is it just public company savings or any kind of areas that you guys are looking at potentially more cost saving?
- <a --- Sam Maheshwari Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: Yeah. So, on the OpEx side, as you can imagine, there really is no synergy on the R&D side. The products are very different. There is no overlap on the products. The only synergy on OpEx is really on the public company side and field sales and field infrastructure. So the synergies on the cost side are limited we looked at it quite a bit.

I think your numbers that you just told in terms of OpEx for the combined companies is a little bit high. But the real reason for not having significant synergies here is that really this is a application

or market-driven situation where — Advanced Packaging, et cetera, areas where we have an overlap in terms of the market but not really the products.

- < C Edwin Mok Needham & Co. LLC>: Okay. Great. Thanks for the color there. Lastly, I guess just on the transaction itself. Just curious any kind of I know you guys eventually are going to file [ph] the final warning (32:24) but any kind of information you can provide in terms of how the discussion come together? Is it has it been a long discussion or did it happen quickly? Just, any color you can provide?
- <a href="#"><A Sam Maheshwari Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: So, we are not really able to comment on the discussion and how it progressed at this time, I think those type of details would be provided in the appropriate regulatory filings as we go forward from here in the next month or so. So, Edwin, I understand your question, but wait for the S4 and other documents that get filed, say, four to six weeks from now. We're going to work together as both companies to file the various required documents soon as practical and soon as possible, but you would see some of that in there.
- < Co. Edwin Mok Needham & Co. LLC>: Okay. Great. Actually, if I might I just want to squeeze one in. On the Advanced Packaging side of the business. Can you try and help us think about the PSP product and Ultratech's litho product? My understanding of the PSP product is mostly the wet process, and typically that doesn't come before or after the litho process. Am I correct on that, or is there some kind of continuous process flow that you guys are now offering [indiscernible] (33:41) and therefore, you can potentially do new, more synergistic product development that you might not have done before?
- < A John Peeler Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: It comes after, but it's not necessarily an adjacent step, one step away. I think the synergy is really coverage of the market, coverage of the customers, coverage of having more relationships on the Ultratech side. And both of us are stronger in certain regions than the other. So, I think we'll get some benefits there.
- <Q Edwin Mok Needham & Co. LLC>: Okay. Great. That's all I have. Thank you. Appreciate it.
- < A John Peeler Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: Thanks.

Operator: Thank you. And we'll take our next question from Mark Miller with The Benchmark. Please go ahead. Your line is open.

- < Q Mark Miller The Benchmark Co. LLC>: Congratulations and good luck to you, Art. I know what you'll be doing. You'll be out driving, enjoying the Northern California roadways. Just wanted to go back to the point about the OpEx, the \$200 million was too high. When you made that statement, are you considering in that the potential synergistic savings, or is that in addition will that be an addition?
- < A Sam Maheshwari Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: Including the synergies, yes.
- < Mark Miller The Benchmark Co. LLC>: Okay. So, it would include the synergies; \$200 million would be too high. Also, I think you said that the bookings had we were expecting a significant pickup in the bookings, especially AP bookings. You said you got some laser bookings, and that did occur in the fourth quarter. There was a significant uptick in the bookings. Is that correct, Art?
- <A Art Zafiropoulo Ultratech, Inc.>: Yes, that is correct.

< Q — Mark Miller — The Benchmark Co. LLC>: Okay. And then finally, if, Art, you can just tell us where you're at in terms of some of the penetration — two items, in terms of the more mature technologies for laser anneal and in terms of plainer, maybe also some of the expansions with 200-millimeter fabs and discuss also where you're at in terms of the cutting-edge in terms of the adoption of laser anneal.

<A — Art Zafiropoulo — Ultratech, Inc.>: Yeah. I think that as we look at China being extremely important area going forward and we see four new fabs being built in China, and so they'll start getting facilitated probably sometime next year. And we estimate on each of these fabs when they're fully running at full capacity, they'll each need between 6 and 8 LSA systems. And so, we see that continuing on for some time, and then certainly the other companies that buy our tools will require additional capacity for the 3D FinFET devices.

When we move into the melt technology, that's for the generation beyond that, and that's going to be, we think, a market that's a very good size also adding to the sub-melt. The sub-melt certainly will (36:26) not go away. This would just be an incremental add on top of the sub-melt technology. So we are looking forward now, and everything we can see indicates a strong growth in LSA, both in sub-melt and increasing momentum for the melt.

Regarding 8-inch, we don't see much use on the 8-inch where it's really older technology, greater than 65 nanometers, and typically the laser melt and the laser technology is for 12-inch wafers, and it is sub 40-nanometer technology that's requiring those tools.

< — Mark Miller — The Benchmark Co. LLC>: Thank you.

< A — John Peeler — Veeco Instruments, Inc.>: All right. We'll take one more question. No?

Operator: There are no further questions at this time, sir.

#### John R. Peeler, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Okay. All right. Well, we want to thank you for joining us, and we will be reporting our results in the coming weeks. Thank you.

# Shubham Maheshwari, Chief Financial Officer & Executive VP-Finance

Thank you.

#### John R. Peeler, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Thank you.

Operator: Thank you. This does conclude today's conference. Thank you for your participation. You may disconnect your line at any time and have a wonderful day.

#### Additional Information and Where to Find It

In connection with the proposed acquisition of Ultratech ("Ultratech") by Veeco ("Veeco") pursuant to the terms of an Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Ultratech, Veeco and Merger Sub, Veeco will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") a Registration Statement on Form S-4 (the "Form S-4") that will contain a proxy statement of Ultratech and a prospectus of Veeco, which proxy statement/prospectus will be mailed or otherwise disseminated to Ultratech's stockholders when it becomes available. Investors are urged to read the proxy statement/prospectus (including all amendments and supplements) because they will contain important information. Investors may obtain free copies of the proxy statement/prospectus when it becomes available, as well as other filings containing information about Veeco and Ultratech, without charge, at the SEC's Internet site (http://www.sec.gov). Copies of these documents may also be obtained for free from the companies' web sites at www.Veeco.com or www.Ultratech.com.

#### **Participants in Solicitation**

Veeco, Ultratech and their respective officers and directors may be deemed to be participants in the solicitation of proxies from the stockholders of Ultratech in connection with the proposed transaction. Information about Veeco's executive officers and directors is set forth in its Annual Report on Form 10-K, which was filed with the SEC on February 25, 2016 and its proxy statement for its 2016 annual meeting of stockholders, which was filed with the SEC on March 22, 2016. Information about Ultratech's executive officers and directors is set forth in its Annual Report on Form 10-K, which was filed with the SEC on February 26, 2016, Amendment No. 1 to its Annual Report on Form 10-K, which was filed with the SEC on April 22, 2016, and the proxy statements for its 2016 annual meeting of stockholders, which were filed with the SEC on June 10, 2016 and June 13, 2016. Investors may obtain more detailed information regarding the direct and indirect interests of the Veeco, Ultratech and their respective executive officers and directors in the acquisition by reading the preliminary and definitive proxy statement/prospectus regarding the transaction, which will be filed with the SEC.

#### **Forward-Looking Statements**

This written communication contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties concerning Veeco's proposed acquisition of Ultratech, Ultratech's and Veeco's expected financial performance, as well as Ultratech's and Veeco's strategic and operational plans. Actual events or results may differ materially from those described in this written communication due to a number of risks and uncertainties. The potential risks and uncertainties include, among others, the possibility that Ultratech may be unable to obtain required stockholder approval or that other conditions to closing the transaction may not be satisfied, such that the transaction will not close or that the closing may be delayed; the reaction of customers to the transaction; general economic conditions; the transaction may involve unexpected costs, liabilities or delays; risks that the transaction disrupts current plans and operations of the parties to the transaction; the ability to recognize the benefits of the transaction; the amount of the costs, fees, expenses and charges related to the transaction and the actual terms of any financings that will be obtained for the transaction; the outcome of any legal proceedings related to the transaction; the occurrence of any event, change or other circumstances that could give rise to the termination of the transaction agreement. In addition, please refer to the documents that Veeco and Ultratech file with the SEC on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K. The filings by Veeco and Ultratech identify and address other important factors that could cause its financial and operational results to differ materially from those contained in the forward-looking statements set forth in this written communication. All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this written communication nor, in the case of any document incorporated by reference, the date of that document. Neither Veeco nor Ultratech is under any duty to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this written commun

#### Disclaimer

The information herein is based on sources we believe to be reliable but is not guaranteed by us and does not purport to be a complete or error-free statement or summary of the available data. As such, we do not warrant, endorse or guarantee the completeness, accuracy, integrity, or timeliness of the information. You must evaluate, and bear all risks associated with, the use of any information provided hereunder, including any reliance on the accuracy, completeness, safety or usefulness of such information. This information is not intended to be used as the primary basis of investment decisions. It should not be construed as advice designed to meet the particular investment needs of any investor. This report is published solely for information purposes, and is not to be construed as financial or other advice or as an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any security in any state where such an offer or solicitation would be illegal. Any information expressed herein on this date is subject to change without notice. Any opinions or assertions contained in this information do not represent the opinions or beliefs of FactSet CallStreet, LLC. FactSet CallStreet, LLC, or one or more of its employees, including the writer of this report, may have a position in any of the securities discussed herein.

THE INFORMATION PROVIDED TO YOU HEREUNDER IS PROVIDED "AS IS," AND TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, FactSet CallStreet, LLC AND ITS LICENSORS, BUSINESS ASSOCIATES AND SUPPLIERS DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE SAME, EXPRESS, IMPLIED AND STATUTORY, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, ACCURACY, COMPLETENESS, AND NON-INFRINGEMENT. TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, NEITHER FACTSET CALLSTREET, LLC NOR ITS OFFICERS, MEMBERS, DIRECTORS, PARTNERS, AFFILIATES, BUSINESS ASSOCIATES, LICENSORS OR SUPPLIERS WILL BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION DAMAGES FOR LOST PROFITS OR REVENUES, GOODWILL, WORK STOPPAGE, SECURITY BREACHES, VIRUSES, COMPUTER FAILURE OR MALFUNCTION, USE, DATA OR OTHER INTANGIBLE LOSSES OR COMMERCIAL DAMAGES, EVEN IF ANY OF SUCH PARTIES IS ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH LOSSES, ARISING UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE INFORMATION PROVIDED HEREIN OR ANY OTHER SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF.

The contents and appearance of this report are Copyrighted FactSet CallStreet, LLC 2017. CallStreet and FactSet CallStreet, LLC are trademarks and service marks of FactSet CallStreet, LLC. All other trademarks mentioned are trademarks of their respective companies. All rights reserved.